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To our Stockholders

In our first full year as public company we achieved significant accomplishments towards our

transformation from development stage company into commercial enterprise Our continued progress with

regulatory and pre-commercial activities for our lead product candidate QutenzaTM formerly NGX-4010 has

placed NeurogesX in position to pursue approval in the United States US and European Union EU in 2009

We completed financing in early 2008 which ensured that we had the resources necessary to continue on this

path Given the deteriorating global economy and equity capital markets we refocused our financial plan to

allocate resources primarily to those initiatives that could lead to approval and commercialization in the US and

EU As result we leave 2008 with cash balance that we believe will take us through 2009 year in which we

anticipate that we will set ourselves apart as we achieve significant milestones Before discuss what 2009 may

bring let me briefly review 2008

2008 in Review

NeurogesX entered 2008 with number of significant milestones to be achieved We were in the

process of responding to questions from the European Medicines Agency EMEA regarding our marketing

authorization application MAA while at the same time we were preparing new drug application NDA and

an investigational new drug application IND With two positive Phase clinical trials for Qutenza in

postherpetic neuralgia PHN completed we filed an NDA for PHN in September and the U.S Food and Drug

Administration FDA accepted the filing in December This resulted in Prescription Drug User Fee Act

PDUFA date of August 16 2009 Having closed private placement of our common stock early in the year we

knew that working towards regulatory approvals in the EU and US would be our top priority and thus we

refocused our resources towards those goals At the same time we also wanted to further develop our second-

generation product NGX-1998 liquid formulation utilizing the same active ingredient as Qutenza We

accomplished this milestone by filing our IND and completing preliminary Phase work so that with additional

financing we may be able to enter NGX-1998 into Phase development

Also you may recall we unblinded second Phase clinical trial of Qutenza in patients with

HIV-distal
sensory polyneuropathy in early 2008 which did not meet its primary endpoint as result of very

robust control group response We are evaluating how to proceed to add this important unmet medical need to

our label if possible pending the FDAs review of our application for PHN

As we move toward the potential commercialization of Qutenza in both the EU and US we have been

actively publishing our clinical data through number of scientific manuscripts posters and presentations These

ongoing efforts supported our goal to continue to raise awareness of neurôpathic pain conditions in the scientific

and health care communities We believe Qutenza if approved by the FDA may be an important new option for

patients with PHN

Outlook for 2009

We have already made significant progress during the first few months of 2009 As write this letter

we have within the past few weeks received positive recommendation from the European regulatory authorities

supporting approval of Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults for use

either alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain We are currently awaiting the European

Commissions decision on this recommendation which should occur before the end of the first half of 2009

With this recommendation our efforts are very focused on choosing commercial partner in Europe We are

currently evaluating those opportunities and are hopeful to complete this process in mid 2009 As you might

expect the economics of potential EU partnership could improve our cash position in addition to helping to

validate Qutenza commercial potential



On the US regulatory front the FDA has given us PDUFA date of August 16 2009 for our NDA at

which time we anticipate receiving an approval or complete response letter from the FDA contingent upon the

regulatory agencys ability to meet its PDUFA goal As we have outlined many times in the past it is our

intention to establish US commercial presence focused on highly concentrated group of pain specialists that

treat refractory and difficult to treat neuropathic paiii Concurrently we are exploring number of different

alternatives for establishing co-marketing arrangement in the U.S to maximize the launch of Qutenza among
broader physician group treating patients with PHN We think this broader outreach may enhance Qutenza

market introduction if it receives FDA approval

In 2009 NeurogesX has the potential to complete the transformation that have been talking with you

about since our becoming public company We believe that we are positioned to transform from development

stage company focused on conducting clinical trials to commercial enterprise with potential multi-national

product approvals in the US and the EU

would be remiss to close this letter without acknowledging the contributions of those work with

everyday must express
how monumental task it is for any company let alone company of less than 50

people to accomplish the numerous milestones that allowed us to get where we are today The effort required to

enable us to receive positive recommendation from the EMEA is significant in and of itself but also to

complete an NDA submission which was accepted and filed by the FDA is in my opinion extraordinary My

deepest appreciation and admiration
goes to the entire NeurogesX team that has made this reality

And to you our Stockholders look forward to continuing to achieve the milestones that we have

outlined in this truly transformative period of our existence

Anthony DiTonno

President and CEO

NeurogesX Inc

April 2009



NEUROGESX
NeurogesX Inc

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
May 28 2009

To the Stockholders

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of NeurogesX Inc the

Company Delaware corporation will be held on Thursday May 28 2009 at 200 p.m local time at

2207 Bridgepointe Parkway Suite 150 San Mateo California 94404 for the following purposes

To elect Jean-Jacques Bienaime and Robert Nelsen as Class II directors to serve for three-year

term and until their successors are duly elected and qualified Proposal One

To ratify the selection of Ernst Young LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm

for the Company for the fiscal year ending December 31 2009 Proposal Two and

To transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting and any

adjournments thereof

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on April 2009 are entitled to notice of and to vote at

the meeting

Sincerely

Is STEPHEN GHIGLIERI

Stephen Ghiglieri

Secretary

San Mateo California

April 13 2009

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

THIS PROXY STATEMENT IS FURNISHED IN CONNECTION WITH THE SOLICITATION

OF PROXIES BY THE COMPANY ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
2009 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS THE PROXY STATEMENT AND THE
RELATED PROXY FORM ARE BEING DISTRIBUTED ON OR ABOUT APRIL 28 2009 YOU CAN
VOTE YOUR SHARES USING ONE OF THE FOLLOWING METHODS

COMPLETE AND RETURN WRITTEN PROXY CARD

ATTEND THE COMPANYS 2009 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS AND VOTE

ALL STOCKHOLDERS ARE CORDIALLY INVITED TO ATTEND THE MEETING HOWEVER
TO ENSURE YOUR REPRESENTATION AT THE MEETING YOU ARE URGED TO MARK
SIGN DATE AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE IN

THE POSTAGE-PREPAID ENVELOPE ENCLOSED FOR THAT PURPOSE ANY STOCKHOLDER
ATTENDING THE MEETING MAY VOTE IN PERSON EVEN IF HE OR SHE HAS RETURNED
PROXY CARD

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE
STOCKHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD MAY 29 2009

The Companys Proxy Statement form of proxy card Annual Report and Annual Report on Form 10-K

are available at www.neurogesx.com under the heading Investor Relations and the subheading

Annual Report and Proxy Materials



NEUROGESX INC
2215 Bridgepointe Parkway Suite 200

San Mateo California 94404

PROXY STATEMENT

INFORMATION CONCERNING SOLICITATION AND VOTING

General

The enclosed Proxy is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors the Board of Directors of

NeurogesX Inc the Company for use at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders the Annual Meeting to be

held at 2207 Bridgepointe Parkway Suite 150 San Mateo California 94404 on Thursday May 28 2009 at

200 p.m local time and at any adjournments thereof for the purposes set forth herein and in the

accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders The Companys principal executive offices are

located at the address listed at the top of the page and the telephone number is 650 358-3300

The Companys Annual Report and Annual Report on Form 10-K containing financial statements for the

fiscal year
ended December 31 2008 are being mailed together with these proxy solicitation materials to all

stockholders entitled to vote This Proxy Statement the accompanying Proxy the Companys Annual Report and

Annual Report on Form 10-K will first be mailed on or about April 28 2009 to all stockholders entitled to vote at

the meeting

THE COMPANY SHALL PROVIDE WITHOUT CHARGE TO ANY STOCKHOLDER SOLICITED BY
THESE PROXY SOLICITATION MATERIALS COPY OF THE COMPANYS ANNUAL REPORT ON
FORM 10-K TOGETHER WITH THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REQUIRED TO BE FILED WITH THE

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K UPON REQUEST OF STOCKHOLDER MADE IN WRITING TO

NEUROGESX INC 2215 BRIDGEPOINTE PARKWAY SUITE 200 SAN MATEO CALIFORNIA 94404

ATTN INVESTOR RELATIONS

Record Date and Share Ownership

Stockholders of record at the close of business on April 2009 the Record Date are entitled to notice of

and to vote at the meeting and at any adjournments thereof The Company has one series of common shares

issued and outstanding designated as Common Stock $0.001 par value per share the Common Stock and one

series of undesignated Preferred Stock $0.001 par value per share the Preferred Stock As of the Record

Date 100000000 shares of Common Stock were authorized and 17569291 shares were issued and outstanding

As of the Record Date 10000000 shares of Preferred Stock were authorized and none were issued or

outstanding

Revocability of Proxies

Any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation may be revoked by the person giving it at any time before its

use by

delivering to the Company at its principal offices Attention Investor Relations written notice of

revocation or duly executed proxy bearing later date or

attending the meeting and voting in person



Solicitation of Proxies

The Company is making this solicitation and will bear the entire cost of solicitation of proxies including

preparation assembly printing and mailing of this proxy statement the proxy and any additional information

furnished to stockholders Copies of solicitation materials will be furnished to banks brokerage houses

fiduciaries and custodians holding in their names shares of the Companys Common Stock beneficially owned by

others to forward to such beneficial owners The Company may reimburse persons representing beneficial

owners of Common Stock for their costs of forwarding solicitation materials to such beneficial owners Proxies

may also be solicited by certain of the Companys directors officers and regular employees without additional

compensation personally or by telephone or facsimile

Voting

On all matters each share has one vote See Vote Required under Proposal OneElection of Two

Class II Directors

Quorum Abstentions Broker Non-Votes

Votes cast by proxy or in person at the Annual Meeting Votes Cast will be tabulated by the Inspector of

Elections the Inspector who will be representative from Wells Fargo Shareowner Services the Companys
Transfer Agent and Registrar The Inspector will also determine whether or not quorum is present Except in

certain specific circumstances the affirmative vote of majority of shares present in person or represented by

proxy at duly held meeting at which quorum is present is required under Delaware law for approval of

proposals presented to stockholders In general Delaware law provides that quorum consists of majority of

shares entitled to vote and present or represented by proxy at the meeting

The Inspector will treat shares that are voted WITHHELD or ABSTAIN as being present and entitled to

vote for purposes of determining the presence of quorum but will not be treated as votes in favor of approving

any matter submitted to the stockholders for vote When proxies are properly dated executed and returned the

shares represented by such proxies will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions of the

stockholder If no specific instructions are given the shares will be voted

for the election of the nominees for director set forth herein

for the ratification of the selection of Ernst Young LLP as the independent registered public accounting

firm to the Company and

upon such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof

but will not be voted other than as provided for the matters set forth above

If broker indicates on the enclosed proxy or its substitute that such broker does not have discretionary authority

as to certain shares to vote on particular matter broker non-votes those shares will be considered as present with

respect to establishing quorum for the transaction of business The Company believes that the tabulation procedures

to be followed by the Inspector are consistent with the general statutory requirements in Delaware concerning voting of

shares and determination of quorum Broker non-votes with respect to proposals set forth in this Proxy Statement will

not be considered Votes Cast and accordingly will not affect the determination as to whether the requisite majority

of Votes Cast has been obtained with respect to particular matter

Deadline for Receipt of Stockholder Proposals

Stockholders are entitled to present proposals for action at forthcoming meeting if they comply with the

requirements of the Companys bylaws and the rules established by the Securities and Exchange Commission

the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act Under these

requirements proposals of stockholders of the Company that are intended to be presented by such stockholders at



the Companys 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be received by the Company no later than

December 29 2009

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

This Proxy Statement the form of proxy card the Annual Report and the Annual Report on Form 10-K are

available on our website at www.neurogesx.com under the heading Investor Relations and the subheading

Annual Report and Proxy Materials



PROPOSAL ONE

ELECTION OF TWO CLASS II DIRECTORS

Nominees

The Companys Board of Directors currently has five authorized directors and currently consists of five

members The Company has classified Board of Directors which is divided into three classes of directors

whose terms expire at different times The three classes are currently comprised of the following directors

Class consists of Bruce Peacock who will serve until the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Class 11 consists of Robert Nelsen and Jean-Jacques BienaimØ who are to serve until the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders If elected as Class II directors Jean-Jacques BienaimØ and Robert Nelsen are

to serve until the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and

Class lB consists of Neil Kurtz M.D and Anthony DiTonno who are to serve until the 2010

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

At each annual meeting of stockholders the successors to directors whose terms will then expire will be

elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting following election and

until their successors have been duly elected and qualified

Unless otherwise instructed the
proxy

holders will vote the proxies received by them for the Companys
nominees named below who are currently directors of the Company The nominees have consented to be named

as nominees in the proxy statement and to continue to serve as directors if elected If the nominees become

unable or decline to serve as directors or if additional persons are nominated at the meeting the proxy holders

intend to vote all proxies received by them in such manner as will assure the election of the nominees listed

below if possible or if new nominees have been designated by the Board of Directors in such manner as to

elect such nominees and the specific nominees to be voted for will be determined by the proxy holders

The nominees for Class II director and their biographical information are as follows

Robert Nelsen

Jean-Jacques Bienaime

Biographical information for Messrs Nelsen and Bienaime can be found below in the Directors and

Executive Officers section

The Company is not aware of any reason that the nominees will be unable or will decline to serve as

directors If elected Mr Nelsens and Mr Bienaime terms of office are to continue until the Companys
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in 2012 or until successors have been elected and qualified There are no

arrangements or understandings between any director or executive officer and any other person pursuant to which

he is or was to be selected as director or officer of the Company

Vote Required

The directors will be elected by plurality vote of the shares of the Companys Common Stock present or

represented and entitled to vote on this matter at the meeting Accordingly the candidates receiving the highest

number of affirmative votes of shares represented and voting on this proposal at the meeting will be elected as

directors of the Company Votes withheld from nominees and broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of

determining the presence or absence of quorum but because directors are elected by plurality vote will have

no impact once quorum is present See Quorum Abstentions Broker Non-Votes

THE CLASS AND III DIRECTORS RECOMMEND THAT
STOCKHOLDERS VOTE FOR THE CLASS II NOMINEES LISTED ABOVE



PROPOSAL TWO

RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF ERNST YOUNG LLP AS

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM TO THE COMPANY FOR THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31 2009

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee have selected Ernst Young LLP independent registered

public accounting firm to audit the financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year ending December 31

2009 and recommend that the stockholders vote for ratification of such selection Although action by

stockholders is not required by law the Board of Directors has determined that it is desirable to request approval

of this selection by the stockholders Notwithstanding the selection or ratification the Board of Directors and the

Audit Committee in their discretion may direct the selection of new independent registered public accounting

firm at any time during the year if the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee determine that such change

would be in the best interest of the Company

representative of Ernst Young LLP is expected to be present at the meeting and will be afforded the

opportunity to make statement if he or she desires to do so and is also expected to be available to respond to

appropriate questions

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE
FOR RATIFICATION OF THE SELECTION OF ERNST YOUNG LLP AS THE

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM TO THE COMPANY FOR THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31 2009

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Fees for professional services provided by the Companys independent registered public accounting firm in

each of the last two fiscal years in each of the following categories are

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007

Audit Fees $416968 $1511518

Audit-Related Fees 13500 94751

Tax Fees 20943

Other Fees

Total $430468 $1627212

Ernst Young LLP served as the Companys independent registered public accounting firm for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Audit fees include fees associated with the annual audit an initial public offering of Common Stock

completed in May 2007 which totaled $1130000 reviews of our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q issuance of

consents relating to registration statement filings with the SEC and all services that are normally provided by the

accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements Audit-related fees include fees

associated with accounting consultations Tax fees include tax compliance services

All auditing services and non-audit services provided to the Company by our independent registered public

accounting firm are required to be pre-approved by the Audit Committee The pre-approval of non-audit services

to be provided by Ernst Young LLP includes making determination that the provision of the services is

compatible with maintaining the independence of Ernst Young LLP as independent registered public

accounting firm All non-audit services provided by Ernst Young LLP since the Company became an issuer

within the meaning of Section 1OAf of the Exchange Act have been pre-approved in accordance with the SEC

rules for maintaining auditor independence



DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth for the Class Director each Class II Director each Class III Director and the

executive officers of the Company their ages and present positions with the Company as of the Record Date

Name Age Position

Anthony DiTonno 60 President Chief Executive Officer Class III Director

Stephen Ghiglieri 47 Chief Financial Officer

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 54 Chief Medical Officer

Michael Markels 43 Vice President Commercial Operations and Business

Development

Susan Rinne 57 Vice President Regulatory Affairs

Jean-Jacques BienaimØ l2 55 Class II Director

Neil Kurtz M.D 123 58 Class III Director

Robert Nelsen 23 45 Class II Director

Bruce Peacock 57 Class Director

Member of Audit Committee

Member of Compensation Committee

Member of Nominating and Governance Committee

There is no family relationship between any director or executive officer of the Company

Anthony DiTonno has served as the Companys Chief Executive Officer and President since August 2003

prior to which he served as the Companys Chief Operating Officer beginning in April 2003 From October 2000

to November 2002 Mr DiTonno served as Executive Vice President of Sales and Marketing for Enteric Medical

Technologies Inc medical device company From 1997 to 2000 Mr DiTonno served as Chief Executive

Officer of LifeSleep Systems Inc medical device company From 1989 to 1997 Mr DiTonno held various

positions at Oclassen Pharmaceuticals Inc pharmaceutical company most recently as its Vice President and

General Manager Mr DiTonno received B.S in business administration from St Josephs University and an

M.B.A from Drexel University

Stephen Ghiglieri has served as the Companys Chief Financial Officer since October 2003 From

December 2002 to October 2003 Mr Ghiglieri served as Chief Financial Officer of Hansen Medical Inc

medical device company From March 2000 to April 2002 Mr Ghiglieri served as Executive Vice President

Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of Avolent Inc software company From July 1999 to 2000

Mr Ghiglieri served as Vice President Finance Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of Andromedia

Inc software company From 1994 to 1999 Mr Ghiglieri served as Vice President Finance and

Administration Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of Oacis Healthcare Systems Inc healthcare

technology company From 1992 to 1994 Mr Ghiglieri served as Controller of Oclassen Pharmaceuticals Inc

pharmaceutical company From 1984 to 1992 Mr Ghiglieri served as an audit manager of

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Mr Ghiglieri received B.A in business administration from California State

University Hayward Mr Ghiglieri is also Certified Public Accountant

Jeffrey Tobias M.D has served as the Companys Chief Medical Officer since November 2005 From

September 1996 to November 2005 Dr Tobias served as principal of the Aquila Consulting Group

professional consulting firm From June 1995 to September 1996 Dr Tobias served as Director New Product

Discovery of Alza Corporation drug delivery solutions company Dr Tobias received .S in biology and an

M.D from the University of Illinois

Michael Markels has served as the Companys Vice President Commercial Operations and Business

Development since May 2006 and prior to that served as the Companys Senior Director Marketing and Sales



from September 2003 to November 2004 From May 2005 to May 2006 Mr Markels served as Senior Director

of Marketing of Biogen Idec biotechnology company From February 2001 to October 2002 Mr Markels

served as Senior Director Infectious Disease/Oncology Business Unit Head of InterMune biopharmaceutical

company From September 1990 to February 2001 Mr Markels held variety of positions most recently as

Director Global Commercial Strategy of Glaxo Wellcome now GlaxoSmithKline pharmaceutical company

Mr Markels received B.S in biological sciences from Colorado State University and an M.B.A from the

Fuqua School of Business at Duke University

Susan Rinne has served as Vice President of Regulatory Affairs since October 2007 Prior to joining

NeurogesX Ms Rinne served as Vice President Regulatory Affairs at ALZA Corporation from 1998 to 2006

From 1995 to 1998 Ms Rinne served as Senior Director Regulatory Affairs at ALZA Corporation Ms Rinne

held positions of increasing responsibility in regulatory affairs at Syntex Corporation from 1983 to 1995

Ms Rinne received an M.S in Pharmacology and Toxicology and B.S in Biological Sciences from the

University of California Davis

Jean-Jacques BienaimØ has served as director of the Company since February 2004 Since May 2005

Mr BienaimØ has served as Chief Executive Officer and director of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc publicly-

held biopharmaceutical company From November 2002 to April 2005 Mr BienaimØ served as the Chairman

Chief Executive Officer and President of Genencor International biotechnology company acquired by Danisco

A/S From June 1998 to October 2002 Mr BienaimØ was Chief Executive Officer and President of SangStat

Medical biotechnology company From October 1992 to May 1998 Mr BienaimØ held various management

positions most recently as Senior Vice President of Corporate Marketing and Business Development and Vice

President and General Manager of the advanced therapeutic and oncology division of Rhône-Poulenc Rorer

Pharmaceuticals now The Sanofi-Aventis Group pharmaceutical company Mr BienaimØ received B.S in

economics from the Ecole SupØrieure de Commerce de Paris and an M.B.A from the Wharton School at the

University of Pennsylvania

Neil Kurtz M.D has served as director of the Company since January 2006 Since August 2008

Dr Kurtz has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Golden Living healthcare services company
From April 2002 to August 2008 Dr Kurtz served as President and Chief Executive Officer and director of

TorreyPines Therapeutics Inc biopharmaceutical company From September 1999 to April 2002 Dr Kurtz

was President of Worldwide Clinical Trials healthcare solutions company Dr Kurtz received B.A in

psychology from New York University and an M.D from the Medical College of Wisconsin

Robert Nelsen has served as director of the Company since July 2000 Since July 1994 Mr Nelsen has

served as managing director of venture capital funds associated with ARCH Venture Partners venture capital

firm From April 1987 to July 1994 Mr Nelsen served as senior manager of ARCH Development Corporation

technology transfer company associated with the University of Chicago Mr Nelsen is also director of Adolor

Corporation publicly-held pharmaceutical company Mr Nelsen received B.S in biology and economics

from the University of Puget Sound and an M.B.A from the University of Chicago

Bruce Peacock has served as director of the Company since August 2007 Since April 2008

Mr Peacock has served as President and Chief Executive Officer and as director of Alba Therapeutics

Corporation and since May 2006 Mr Peacock has been venture partner with SV Life Sciences Advisers LLC
From August 2005 to May 2006 Mr Peacock served as Chief Executive Officer of The Little Clinic start-up

medical care services company From April 2002 to August 2005 Mr Peacock served as President Chief

Executive Officer and director of Adolor Corporation publicly-held biopharmaceutical company From June

2000 to April 2002 Mr Peacock served as President Chief Executive Officer and director of Orthovita Inc

publicly-held biomaterials company and also served from June 1999 to June 2000 as Chief Operating Officer of

Orthovita Inc From 1992 to 2000 Mr Peacock held various positions most recently as Executive Vice

President Chief Operating Officer and director of Cephalon Inc From 1982 to 1992 Mr Peacock held various

positions most recently as Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Centocor Inc



Mr Peacock is also director of Ligand Pharmaceuticals publicly-held biotechnology company Mr Peacock

received B.A from Villanova University Mr Peacock is also Certified Public Accountant

Board Meetings and Committees

The Board of Directors of the Company held total of ten meetings during the fiscal year 2008 No director

serving throughout fiscal year 2008 attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate of all meetings of the Board of

Directors and the committees of the Board upon which such director served The Board of Directors has

standing Audit Committee that oversees the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Company and

audits of the financial statements of the Company standing Compensation Committee and standing

Nominating and Governance Committee

The Audit Committee consists of directors Mr Peacock who serves as the chairman of the Audit

Committee Mr BienaimØ and Dr Kurtz The Board of Directors has determined that Mr Peacock is an audit

committee financial expert as defined in the SEC rules The Audit Committee operates under written charter

adopted by the Board of Directors The Company maintains copy of the Audit Committee charter on its

website www.neurogesx.com The Audit Committee reviews the Companys internal accounting procedures

consults and reviews the services provided by the Companys independent registered public accounting firm and

makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the selection of the independent registered public

accounting firm The Audit Committee held eight meetings during fiscal 2008

The Compensation Committee consists of directors Mr Nelsen who serves as the chairman of the

Compensation Committee Mr BienaimØ and Dr Kurtz The Compensation Committee reviews and recommends

to the Board of Directors the salaries incentive compensation and benefits of the Companys officers and

administers the Companys stock plans and employee benefit plans Refer to the Compensation Discussion and

Analysis for more information about the Companys Compensation Committee and its processes and procedures

The Compensation Committee operates under written charter adopted by the Board of Directors The Company
maintains copy of the Compensation Committee charter on its website www.neurogesx.com The

Compensation Committee held three meetings during fiscal 2008

The Nominating and Governance Committee consists of directors Mr Nelsen who serves as the chairman

of the Nominating and Governance Committee and Dr Kurtz The Board of Directors has adopted written

charter for the Nominating and Governance Committee The Company maintains copy of the Nominating and

Governance Committee charter on its website www.neurogesx.com The Nominating and Governance

Committee is responsible for developing Board of Directors capable of advising the Companys management in

fields related to current or future business directions of the Company and regularly reviews issues and

developments relating to corporate governance and formulates and recommends corporate governance standards

to the Board of Directors The Nominating and Governance Committee did not hold meeting during the fiscal

year 2008

The Nominating and Governance Committee approves all nominees for membership on the Board of

Directors including the slate of Director nominees to be proposed by the Board of Directors to our stockholders

for election or any Director nominees to be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors to fill interim Director

vacancies on the Board of Directors

The Nominating and Governance Committee assists the Board of Directors in identifying qualified persons

to serve as directors of the Company The Nominating and Governance Committee evaluates all proposed

director nominees evaluates incumbent directors before recommending re-nomination and recommends all

approved candidates to the Board of Directors for appointment or nomination to Company stockholders The

Nominating and Governance Committee selects as candidates to the Board of Directors for appointment or

nomination individuals of high personal and professional integrity and ability who can contribute to the Board of

Directors effectiveness in serving the interests of the Companys stockholders Director nominees are expected



to have considerable management experience that would be relevant to our current and expected future business

directions track record of accomplishment and commitment to ethical business practices

In addition the Nominating and Governance Committee appoints directors to committees of the Board of

Directors and suggests rotation for Chairpersons of committees of the Board of Directors as it deems desirable

from time to time and evaluates and recommends to the Board of Directors the termination of membership of

individual directors in accordance with the Board of Directors corporate governance principles for cause or

other appropriate reasons including without limitation as result of changes in directors employment or

consulting status

The Company does not have formal policies regarding attendance by members of the Board of Directors at

our annual meetings of stockholders but directors are encouraged to attend annual meetings of the Companys

stockholders Four directors attended the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders In addition the Company does

not have formal policy regarding stockholder communication with the Board of Directors However

stockholders may communicate with the Board of Directors by sending an e-mail to the Companys Investor

Relations at IR@neurogesx.com or by writing to the Company at NeurogesX Inc Attention Investor Relations

2215 Bridgepointe Parkway Suite 200 San Mateo CA 94404 Stockholders who would like their submissions

directed to an individual member of the Board of Directors may so specify and the communication will be

forwarded as appropriate



SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of the Companys
Common Stock as of February 28 2009 for

each person known by the Company to beneficially own more than 5% of our outstanding shares of

Common Stock

each director and each nominee for director of the Company

each of the Companys named executive officers and

all such directors nominees for director and executive officers of the Company as group

The percentage of ownership is based on 17569187 shares of Common Stock outstanding on February 28

2009 adjusted as required by the rules promulgated by the SEC The Company does not know of any

arrangements including any pledge by any person of securities of the Company the operation of which may at

subsequent date result in change of control of the Company

Beneficial Ownership

Percent of Common
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Number of Shares Stock Outstanding

5% Stockholders

Entities affiliated with SV Life Sciences Fund 3136315 17.1%

60 State Street Suite 3650

Boston MA 02109

Entities affiliated with ARCH Venture Partners 3028149 17.1%

8725 West Higgins Road Suite 290

Chicago IL 60631

Entities affiliated with Deerfield Capital 2453774 13.8%

780 Third Avenue

37th Floor

New York NY 10017

Entities affiliated with Alta Partners 1735673 9.9%

One Embarcadero Center 3700

San Francisco CA 94111

Entities affiliated with Walden International 1267771 7.2%

750 Battery Street 7th Floor

San Francisco CA 94111

Entities affiliated with Montreux Equity Partners 1021199 5.8%

2500 Sand Hill Road 215

Menlo Park CA 94025

Executive Officers and Directors

Anthony DiTonno 362208 2.0%

Jean-Jacques BienaimØ 49355

Stephen Ghiglieri 10 152559

Neil Kurtz 11 15666

Michael Markels 12 108967

Robert Nelsen 3033149 17.2%

Bruce Peacock 3139649 17.2%

Susan Rinne 13 43395

Jeffrey Tobias 14 165074

All directors and executive officers as group 11 persons 15 7238263 37.7%

Beneficial ownership representing less than 1%
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This table is based upon information supplied by officers and directors and upon information gathered by

NeurogesX about principal stockholders known to the company based on Schedules 13D 13G and Forms

and filed with the SEC

Represents 2345947 shares of Common Stock held by SV Life Science Fund IV L.P and the right to

acquire 703784 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of warrants exercisable within 60 days

of February 28 2009 and 66603 shares of Common Stock held by SV Life Science Fund IV Strategic

Partners L.P and the right to acquire 19981 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of warrants

exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009 SV Life Sciences Fund IV GP L.P is general partner

of SV Life Science Fund IV L.P and SV Life Science Fund IV Strategic Partners L.P and has sole

dispositive and voting power over the shares owned by of SV Life Science Fund IV L.P and SV Life

Science Fund IV Strategic Partners L.P SVLSF IV LLC is general partner of SV Life Sciences Fund IV

GP L.P and has sole dispositive and voting power over the shares owned by of SV Life Science Fund

IV L.P and SV Life Science Fund IV Strategic Partners L.P The people at SVLSF IV LLC who have

investment control of the SV Life Science Fund IV L.P and SV Life Science Fund IV Strategic Partners

L.P shares are Kate Bingham James Garvey Lutz Giebel Eugene Hill David Milne Michael Ross and

Henry Simon each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership except to the extent of their pecuniary interest

therein Bruce Peacock is venture partner of SV Life Sciences Fund and disclaims beneficial ownership

of the shares held by SV Life Science Fund IV L.P and SV Life Science Fund IV Strategic Partners L.P

except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein

Represents 2443591 shares of Common Stock held by ARCH Venture Fund L.P and the right to

acquire 114651 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of warrants exercisable within 60 days

of February 28 2009 458903 shares of Common Stock held by Healthcare Focus Fund L.P and

11004 shares of Common Stock held by ARCH Entrepreneurs Fund L.P The people who have

investment control of the ARCH Venture Fund L.P ARCH Entrepreneurs Fund L.P and the

Healthcare Focus Fund L.P shares are Robert Nelsen Steven Lazarus Clinton Bybee and Keith

Crandell each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership except to the extent of their pecuniary interest

therein

Represents 778806 shares of Common Stock held by Deerfield Special Situations Fund LP and the

right to acquire 85887 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of warrants exercisable within 60

days of February 28 2009 and 1433711 shares of Common Stock held by Deerfield Special Situations

Fund International LTD and the right to acquire 155370 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise

of warrants exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009 James Flynn Deerfield Capital L.P and

Deerfield Management Company L.P may be deemed to share dispositive and voting power over the

shares held by Deerfield Special Situations Fund LP and Deerfield Special Situations Fund International

LTD

Represents 13792 shares of Common Stock held by Alta Embarcadero BioPharma Partners III LLC
37587 shares of Common Stock held by Alta BioPharma Partners III GmbH Co Beteiligungs KG
559687 shares of Common Stock held by Alta BioPharma Partners III L.P 872641 shares of

Common Stock held by Alta California Partners II L.P 240942 shares of Common Stock held by Alta

California Partners II L.P.New Pool and 11024 shares of Common Stock held by Alta Embarcadero

Partners II LLC Alta Partners III Inc provides investment advisory services to Alta BioPharma Partners

III Gmbh Co Beteiligungs KG Alta BioPharma Partners III L.P and Alta Embarcadero BioPharma

Partners III LLC which is referred to collectively as the Alta BioPharma Funds The directors of Alta

BioPharma Management III LLC which is the general partner of Alta BioPharma Partners III L.P and

the managing limited partner of Alta BioPharma Partners III GmbH Co Beteiligungs KG and the

managers of Alta Embarcadero BioPharma Partners III LLC exercise sole dispositive and voting power

over the shares owned by the Alta Funds Certain principals of Alta Partners III Inc Jean Deleage Alix

Marduel Farah Campisi Edward Penhoet and Ed Hurwitz are directors of Alta BioPharma Management

III LLC and managers of Alta Embarcadero BioPharma Partners III LLC These individuals may be

deemed to share dispositive and voting power over the shares held by the Alta BioPharma Funds Alta

Partners Management Corp provides investment advisory services to Alta California Partners II L.P Alta

California Partners II L.P.New Pool and Alta Embarcadero Partners II LLC which is referred to
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collectively as the Alta California Funds The managing directors of Alta California Management II LLC

which is the general partner of Alta California Partners II L.P and Alta California Management II

LLCNew Pool which is the general partner of Alta California Partners II L.P New Pool exercise

sole dispositive and voting power over the Alta California Funds Jean Deleage Garrett Fruener Guy
Nohra Daniel Janney and Alix Marduel are managing directors of Alta California Management II LLC
and Alta California Management II LLCNew Pool and share voting and investment control with regard

to shares held by Alta California Partners II L.P and Alta California Partners II L.P.New Pool Jean

Deleage Garrett Gruener Guy Nohra and Alix Marduel are members of Alta Embarcadero Partners II

LLC and share voting and investment control with regard to shares held by Alta Embarcadero Partners II

LLC Each of the above listed individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the

1111111k
extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein

Represents 24465 shares of Common Stock held by Asian Venture Capital Investment Corporation

32622 shares of Common Stock held by International Venture Capital Investment III Corporation

24465 shares of Common Stock held by International Venture Capital Investment Corporation

25119 shares of Common Stock held by Pacven Walden Ventures Parallel V-B C.V 2283 shares

of Common Stock held by Pacven Walden Ventures Associates Fund L.P 1073271 shares of

Common Stock held by Pacven Walden Ventures L.P 25119 shares of Common Stock held by

Pacven Walden Ventures Parallel V-A C.V 15983 shares of Common Stock held by Pacven Walden

Ventures V-QP Associates Fund L.P and 44444 shares of Common Stock held by Seed Ventures III

Pte Ltd The people who have investment control of Asian Venture Capital Investment Corporation

International Venture Capital Investment III Corporation International Venture Capital Investment

Corporation Pacven Walden Ventures Parallel V-A C.V Pacven Walden Ventures Parallel V-B C.V
Pacven Walden Ventures Associates Fund L.P Pacven Walden Ventures L.P Pacven Walden

Ventures V-QP Associates Fund L.P and Seed Ventures III Pte Ltd are Lip-Bu Tan and Andrew Kau
each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein

Represents 465099 shares of Common Stock held by Montreux Equity Partners II SBIC L.P and

556100 shares of Common Stock held by Montreux Equity Partners III SBIC L.P The people who

have investment control of Montreux Equity Partners II SBIC L.P and Montreux Equity Partners III

SBIC L.P are Daniel Turner III Howard Palefsky each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership

except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein

Represents 108999 shares of Common Stock held by Mr DiTonno and the right to acquire

253209 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009

Represents 33022 shares of Common Stock held by Mr BienaimØ of which 625 shares are subject to

the Companys right of repurchase upon termination of Mr BienaimØ as service provider and the

right to acquire 16333 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009

10 Represents 38419 shares of Common Stock held by Mr Ghiglieri and the right to acquire 114140

shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009

11 Represents the right to acquire 15666 shares of Common Stock by Mr Kurtz exercisable within 60 days

of February 28 2009

12 Represents 15645 shares of Common Stock held by Mr Markels and the right to acquire 93322
shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009

13 Represents 2666 shares of Common Stock held by Ms Rinne and the right to acquire 40729
shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009

14 Represents 3999 shares of Common Stock held by Dr Tobias and the right to acquire 161075

shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of February 28 2009

15 See notes and notes through 14
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND OTHER MATTERS

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors referred to as the Committee throughout this

Compensation Discussion and Analysis is responsible for establishing implementing and monitoring adherence

to the Companys compensation philosophy The Committee ensures that the total compensation paid to the

Companys executive officers is fair reasonable and competitive The compensation programs for named

executive officers are similar to those provided to other executive officers of the Company

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

The Committee believes that the most effective executive compensation program is one that is designed to

reward achievement and that aligns its executives compensation with the interests of the Companys

stockholders by rewarding achievement of goals and objectives that the Committee believes are important to the

long term creation of value in the Company The Companys executive compensation program is designed to

recruit and retain individuals with the skills necessary
for the Company to achieve its business objectives and to

motivate and reward those individuals fairly over time with compensation programs that promote achievement

of and contribution to those objectives To that end executive officer compensation has three main components

base compensation or salary annual bonus awards which are based upon specific goals and objectives to be

established and approved by the Board of Directors and stock option awards which may contain vesting

acceleration features upon attainment of specific operational goals which are predetermined by the Committee In

addition the Company provides its executive officers variety of benefits that are generally available to all

salaried employees The Committee has not adopted any
formal or informal policies or guidelines for allocating

compensation between long term and currently paid out compensation between cash and non-cash compensation

or among different forms of non-cash compensation However the Committees philosophy is to have

significant portion of an employees compensation be performance-based while keeping base salary

compensation at competitive level

Each element of compensation and the practices used to evaluate them are discussed in more detail below

Benchmarking of Elements of Compensation

The Committee believes it is important when making compensation-related decisions to be informed as to

current practices of comparable companies in the life science industry The Committee determines the

appropriate level for each compensation component based in part but not exclusively on competitive

benchmarking consistent with recruiting and retention goals the Committees view of internal equity and

consistency the Companys overall performance and other considerations the Committee deems relevant To this

end the Committee engaged the services of Setren Smallberg Associates Inc firm that provides executive

compensation consulting services to the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries to perform an analysis of

the executive compensation practices of representative number of publicly-held companies in the life science

industry the Peer Companies The Peer Companies are

Adolor Corporation

Alexza Pharmaceuticals Inc

Anesiva Inc

Avigen Inc

Barrier Therapeutics Inc
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Biodel Inc

Combinatorx Incorporated

Entremed Inc

Genitope Corporation

La Jolla Pharmaceutical Company

Memory Pharmaceuticals Corp

Pain Therapeutics Inc

Replidyne Inc

Somaxon Pharmaceuticals Inc and

Trubion Pharmaceuticals Inc

These companies were selected as Peer Companies based on their similarity to the Company in number of

different factors including stage of development business model employee headcount and market capitalization

In addition to reviewing the compensation practices of the Peer Companies the Company purchases or

otherwise acquires and reviews executive compensation surveys of companies in the life science and high

technology industries in the San Francisco Bay Area including the Radford Survey as another of source of

benchmarking data in determining appropriate compensation levels for the Companys executive officers The

base compensation bonus and equity compensation components from the benchmarking analysis as well as the

experience and knowledge of the members of the Committee and Board of Directors is then used to inform

decisions regarding the compensation package of the executive officers based on their contribution current

compensation package overall company performance and competitive factors including retention considerations

and market trends Since benchmarking may not always be appropriate as sole determinate of compensation

levels the Committee explicitly reserves the authority to establish compensation levels that may be at variance to

the benchmarking analysis However the Committee generally believes that benchmarking analysis is an

important aspect of ensuring that the Companys compensation levels are appropriate and competitive in the life

science industry The Committee intends to continue the Companys practice of engaging executive

compensation consultants from time to time to aid in compensation related evaluations

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions

The Chief Executive Officer aids the Committee by providing recommendations regarding the

compensation of all executive officers other than himself The Committee uses analyses of cash and equity

compensation prepared by the Chief Executive Officer to establish general budgetary guidelines for aggregate

annual employee cash compensation These analyses typically include evaluation of external benchmarks and

surveys from such sources as Radford and also include input from the Peer group analysis referred to above For

2008 the Chief Executive Officer then allocated in his discretion among individual executives and employees on

case by case basis The Committees 2009 compensation decisions were made in similar fashion except that

the benchmarking analysis of Peer Companies discussed above was added as key component in the

determination of executive officer compensation including for the Chief Executive Officer and the Committee

formally approved salary and stock option grants for the executive officers including the Chief Executive Officer

In addition for compensation of executive officers and employees other than the Chief Executive Officer annual

performance review of such officers or employees manager was conducted to provide input about such

individuals contributions to the Companys goals and objectives for the period being assessed For the Chief

Executive Officer such review was conducted by the Committee For compensation decisions regarding grants

of equity compensation including vesting schedules and in some cases milestones providing for accelerated

vesting if such milestones are achieved relating to employees other than to our Chief Executive Officer the

Committee typically considers recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer and other members of
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management To date Committee meetings typically have included for all or portion of each meeting not only

the committee members but also the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Compensation Components

Base Compensation

Generally the Committee believes that base salaries should be market driven competitive to the San

Francisco Bay Area marketplace and appropriately benchmarked as described above based on each executives

experience level and scope of responsibilities Given that the Company is in the development stage the

Committee targets base compensation near the 50th percentile of the data derived from analysis of benchmarks

with specific emphasis on companies headquartered in the San Francisco Bay Area The Committee sets this

level to ensure that the Company is competitive in its immediate job market which the Committee believes helps

to minimize potential competitive disadvantage and supports overall goals of recruitment and retention Base

salaries are generally reviewed annually and the Committee seeks to set Company wide salary adjustment

target percentage in line with general increases in the market which the Committee believes has recently been in

the 4% to 5%
per year range This target amount is also used to determine an overall salary increase budget for

employees across the Company The final determination of the actual salary increase for each individual is based

upon for the Chief Executive Officer the Companys performance and in addition for other employees the

results of performance reviews responsibility and experience and potential alignment of each individuals salary

in light of market data for similarly situated positions in similarcompanies

Salary increases awarded to named executive officers effective January 2008 were based upon

performance of each of the named executive officers in 2007 and on competitive data from third party sources

The base salaries effective January 2008 after the increases were as follows

Anthony DiTonno President and Chief Executive Officer $317750

Stephen Ghiglieri Chief Financial Officer $295200

Jeffrey Tobias M.D Chief Medical Officer $316250

Michael Markels Vice President Commercial Operations and Business Development $250000

Susan Rinne Vice President Regulatory Affairs $250000

Salary increases effective January 2009 were also determined as described above based on the 2008

performance of each named executive officer review of each officers respective performance and contribution

in achieving corporate objectives the competitive data resulting from the benchmarking analysis discussed

above and consideration of the role each executive is expected to play in 2009 The increases as percentage of

2008 base salary were as follows

Anthony DiTonno 5.0%

Stephen Ghiglieri 5.0%

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 5.0%

Michael Markels 4.0% and

Susan Rinne 5.0%

The Committee targeted an approximate overall 5% salary increase for 2009 base salaries for all employees

which it believes based upon review of the benchmarking data was representative of overall increases in the

Companys local market
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Bonus Compensation

The Company also rewards individual as well as corporate performance through the implementation of

performance bonus plan Bonuses are paid to employees based on attainment of specific corporate goals which

are established in consultation with the Committee such as achievement of regulatory milestones and adherence

to operating budgets as well as individual goals agreed to in advance with the employees manager Personal

goals are designed to support the attainment of the specified corporate goals

In conjunction with the benchmarking analysis and the recommendation of the third party executive

compensation consultant that was engaged to assist the Committee in analyzing the Companys compensation

programs the Committee determined that an annual bonus program is key feature of the overall compensation

programs for public biotechnology companies and in particular all of the Peer Companies In addition to

desire to have compensation programs that are competitive in the market the Committee believes that the

Companys compensation programs should provide performance incentive that aligns executives and other

employees interests with those of stockholders As result the Committee has undertaken efforts to create an

annual bonus program In these efforts to date the Committee has determined the target bonuses for the

executives as percentages of base salary These percentages are as follows

Anthony DiTonno 32.5%

Stephen Ghiglieri 25%

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 25%

Michael Markels 20% and

Susan Rinne 20%

In January 2009 the Committee evaluated the Companys progress against key 2008 corporate objectives

and recommended to the Board of Directors the establishment of bonus pool Based upon the committees

evaluation of the attainment of corporate objectives and of the Chief Executive Officer and each of the executive

officers individual performance and contribution to the attainment of those objectives but with an overall bias

towards overall corporate objectives the Committee recommended to the Board of Directors the amount of

bonus to paid to the Chief Executive Officer and each of the other executive officers In addition in an effort to

conserve the Companys cash resources the committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the bonus

for the Chief Executive Officer and the other executive officers be paid 50% in cash and the remainder in stock

options The Committee recommended that the Chief Executive Officer be given the discretion to allocate the

remainder of the bonus pool based on the individual performance of each employee and such employees role in

furthering corporate goals The Board of Directors then approved the bonus pool and the bonus amounts for the

Chief Executive Officer and each of the other executive officers as well as the form of payment of bonuses to the

Chief Executive Officer and the other executive officers With regard to the stock options granted for the noncash

component of the 2008 bonus the number of shares underlying these stock options was determined by dividing

the remaining unpaid cash bonus by the Companys closing stock price on January 15 2009 multiplied by

factor of The Companys closing stock price on January 15 2009 which was also the exercise price of these

stock options was $1.25 Cash bonuses and the number of shares underlying the stock options paid to executive

officers in February 2009 and granted to executive officers on January 15 2009 respectively for 2008

performance were

Anthony DiTonno $50000 cash payment and 80000 shares

Stephen Ghiglieri $18450 cash payment and 29520 shares

Jeffrey Tobias M.D $37500 cash payment and 60000 shares

Michael Markels $12500 cash payment and 20000 shares and

Susan Rinne $12500 cash payment and 20000 shares
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These option grants were 100% vested on the date of grant January 15 2009

The Committee also recommended to the Board of Directors certain corporate objectives as basis for

establishment of the 2009 Bonus Plan These corporate objectives relate primarily to achievement of regulatory

goals in both the European Union and the United States attainment of commercial partnership to facilitate

commercialization in the European Union and certain objectives related to financial management ensuring the

corporation is funded adequately to launch Qutenza the Compal1ys lead product candidate in the United States

if it is approved by the FDA

Equity Awards

The Committee believes that the Companys compensation programs should provide the opportunity for

wealth creation for the Companys executives and all employees in manner that aligns their interests with those

of stockholders in the creation of long term value through the Companys success The Company utilizes stock

options to provide incentives to its executive officers to help achieve this goal Because executive officers are

awarded stock options with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Companys Common Stock on

the date of grant these options will be valuable to these executive officers only if the market price of the

Companys Common Stock increases after the date of grant The Committees equity award determinations are

based upon benchmarking data which includes the Peer Companies and other market data such as Radford

Surveys the experience of members of the Committee and the Board of Directors and the recommendations of

the Chief Executive Officer

All new employees including the Companys executive officers receive stock option grants when they are

hired The number of shares underlying stock option grants for new hires is intended to be competitive in the

Companys industry and its local market and is used as recruiting tool as the Committee believes that equity

compensation is significant consideration for employees decisions to accept employment offers with the

Company particularly for executive officers Typically stock option grants to new employees vest at the rate of

25% after the first year of service with the remainder vesting ratably over the subsequent 36 months although

some executive new hires in recent years have also contained vesting acceleration provisions related to

attainment of key corporate objectives such as clinical development and regulatory objectives for our product

candidates and other operational and business goals In addition the Committee generally reviews the

Companys equity compensation programs annually with view to ensuring that the Companys executive

officers and employees continue to have meaningful stake in the Companys long term success To that end

annual stock option grants to executive officers have in recent years contained two components time based

vesting component usually monthly vesting over 48 months and component that vests on the six year

anniversary of the grant subject to acceleration of vesting based upon attainment of key corporate objectives

determined as described above After assessment by the Committee all option grants are recommended to the

Board of Directors for ultimate approval

Since becoming public company in May 2007 all stock options granted to executive officers have an

exercise price per
share equal to the closing price of the Companys Common Stock on the date of grant Prior to

becoming public company the Board of Directors determined the value of the Companys Common Stock

based upon the consideration of several factors impacting the Companys valuation including when available

independently developed contemporaneous valuations of the Company

In January 2008 the Committee recommended and the Board of Directors approved stock option grants to

the following executive officers as result of their performance in helping to attain certain corporate objectives

in 2007 These option grants vest ratably over 48 months

Stephen Ghiglieri 25000 shares and

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 25000 shares
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In January 2009 the Committee recommended and the Board of Directors approved stock option grants to

our executive officers as follows

Anthony DiTonno 50000 shares

Stephen Ghiglieri 30000 shares

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 30000 shares

Michael Markels 25000 shares and

Susan Rinne 30000 shares

These option grants were determined based upon the Committees review of the Companys performance in

2008 Of these option grants 50% of the options vest evenly over 48 months and the remaining 50% vest over

six years subject to acceleration for attainment of certain regulatory and commercialization objectives for our

product candidates and other operational and business goals

Se3erance and Change of Control Payments

All of the Companys executive officers are entitled to severance payments equal to from to 12 months of

base salary target bonus and full acceleration of stock option and restricted stock vesting if the executive

officers employment is terminated without cause by an acquiring company or for certain reasons by the

executive officer within 18 months following change of control of the Company In addition and upon

change of control certain of the Companys executive officers are entitled to receive bonus determined under

the 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December 2008 The Committee believes that these severance

and change of control arrangements mitigate some of the risk that exists for executives working in smaller

company These arrangements are intended to attract and retain qualified executives that could have other job

alternatives that may appear to them to be less risky absent these arrangements Because of the significant

acquisition activity in the life science industry there is possibility that the Company could be acquired in the

future Accordingly the Committee believes that the larger severance packages resulting from terminations

related to change of control transactions and bonus and vesting packages relating to the change of control itself

will provide an incentive for these executives to continue to help successfully execute such transaction from its

early stages until closing These arrangements were amended in 2008 to comply with U.S tax laws including

regulations promulgated under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended by updating

certain terms and conditions related to the timing of severance or other payments For description and

quantification of these severance and change of control benefits please see the section entitled Potential

Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

Other Benefits

Executive officers are eligible to participate in all of the Companys employee benefit plans such as

medical dental vision group life disability and accidental death and dismemberment insurance employee

stock purchase and 401k plans in each case on the same basis as other employees subject to applicable law

The Company also provides vacation and other paid holidays to all employees including its executive officers at

levels that the Committee believes are consistent with the practices of companies in the Companys industry and

local market It is generally the Companys policy not to extend significant perquisites to its executive officers

that are not available to its employees
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Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion

and Analysis required by Item 402b of Regulation S-K with management and based on such review and

discussions the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation

Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement

Respectfully Submitted By
MEMBERS OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Neil Kurtz M.D Compensation Committee Chair

Jean-Jacques BienaimØ

Robert Nelsen

Dated April 13 2009

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of the Compensation Committee or executive officer of the Company has served as member

of the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving

as member of the Companys Board of Directors or Compensation Committee Since the formation of the

Compensation Committee none of its members have been an officer or employee of the Company while

member of the Compensation Committee
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Executive Compensation

The following table provides information regarding the compensation of the Companys principal executive

officer principal financial officer and each of the next three most highly compensated executive officers of the

Company during the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 The Company refers to these executive officers as the

named executive officers

Summary Compensation Table

Non-Equity

Option Incentive Plan All Other
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Grants Compensation Compensation Total

Anthony DiTonno 2008 $317750 $185574 $50000 7273 $560597

President Chief Executive Officer 2007 $300000 $48750 $158978 $135519 $643247

and Director 2006 $300000 $20000 43894 7500 180 $371574

Stephen Ghiglieri 2008 $295200 83928 $18450 5183 $402761

Chief Financial Officer 2007 $277200 $34650 68221 21511 $401582

2006 $252000 5000 16158 6300 180 $279638

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 2008 $316250 $133686 $37500 7055 $494491

Chief Medical Officer 2007 $299250 $37406 $168047 5963 $510666

2006 $285000 $20000 74209 4763 180 $384152

Michael Markeis 2008 $250000 $156417 $12500 25039 $443956

Vice President Commercial 2007 $234000 $23400 $201009 41718 $500127

Operations and Business 2006 $132115 $11923 77648 23467 $245153

Development

Susan Rinne 2008 $250000 71511 $12500 5552 $339563

Vice President 2007 67307 6250 18665 50902 $143124

Regulatory Affairs

The amounts in this column include payments in respect of accrued vacation holidays and sick days

The amounts in this column represent the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes

with respect to the fiscal year computed in accordance with SFAS No 123R

The amounts in this column represent payments pursuant to the Companys incentive bonus plan based upon the

Board of Directors determination of milestone attainment in 2006 and 2008 The amount reported for 2008

reflects the cash portion of the bonus payout for services performed in 2008 In addition to this cash portion of the

2008 bonus payment certain stock options were granted in lieu of the remaining cash portion See Compensation

Discussion and AnalysisCompensation ComponentsBonus Compensation in this proxy for the terms and

number of shares underlying these stock options

The amounts in this column include amounts for forgiveness of notes receivable housing allowance discount

purchase of securities through the Companys 2007 Stock Purchase Plan moving expense reimbursement term

insurance premiums and sign-on bonus

Ms Rinne joined the Company as Vice President Regulatory Affairs in September 2007 Accordingly the salary

amount with respect to fiscal year ended December 31 2007 reflects the amount she was paid during that year
for

services she performed as Vice President Regulatory Affairs
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table provides information regarding grants of plan-based awards to each of the named

executive officers during the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 All options were granted at the fair market

value of the Companys Common Stock as determined by the Companys Board of Directors on the date of grant

and were granted under the Companys 2007 Stock Plan

Estimated Possible Payouts

Under Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Awards

All Other Option Grants Exercise Price or Base

__________________________ Number of Securities Price of

Name Grant Date Target Underlying Options Option Awards

Anthony DiTonno $103269

Stephen Ghiglieri 73800

1/10/20082 25000 $5.43

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 79062

1/10/20082 25000 $5.43

Michael Markels 50000

Susan Rinne 50000

The amounts in this column represent the target amounts of bonuses payable under the Companys incentive

bonus plan The target amount represents the total amount that was potentially payable in cash The actual

amounts paid which were comprised of 50% payout in cash and stock options in lieu of the remaining

cash portion are set forth in Compensation Discussion and AnalysisCompensation ComponentsBonus

Compensation in this proxy

Vests as to 1/48 of the underlying shares monthly commencing one month after date of grant Option

expires 10 years from the date of grant

Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into executive employment agreements with each of its executive officers

including its named executive officers Anthony DiTonno Stephen Ghiglieri Jeffrey Tobias Michael Markels

and Susan Rinne

The agreements provide for these officers to remain the Companys at-will employees and to receive salary

bonus and benefits as determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors The Companys agreements with

these officers provide that in the event of change of control certain limited acceleration of vesting periods for

unvested stock options occurs In addition these agreements provide additional benefits if within the eighteen

month period following change of control of the company they resign for good reason or are terminated by the

Company or its successor other than for cause These agreements were amended and restated in 2008 to comply

with U.S tax laws including regulations promulgated under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986

as amended by updating certain terms and conditions related to the timing of severance payments

Upon qualifying resignation or termination Mr DiTonno will become entitled to receive continuing

severance payments at rate equal to his base salary for period of twelve months lump sum payment equal to

his full target annual bonus acceleration in full of vesting of options for Common Stock held by him the lapse in

full of the Companys right of repurchase with respect to restricted shares of Common Stock held by him and

continued employee benefits until the earlier of twelve months following the date of termination or resignation or

the date he obtains employment with generally similaremployee benefits

Upon qualifying resignation or termination Messrs Ghiglieri and Markels and Dr Tobias will become

entitled to receive continuing severance payments at rate equal to their base salaries for period of nine

months lump sum payments equal to their full target annual bonuses acceleration in full of vesting of options

for Common Stock held by them the lapse in full of the Companys right of repurchase with respect to restricted
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shares of Common Stock held by them and continued employee benefits until the earlier of nine months

following the date of termination or resignation or the date they obtain employment with generally similar

employee benefits

Upon qualifying resignation or termination Ms Rinne will become entitled to receive continuing

severance payments at rate equal to her base salary for period of six months lump sum payments equal to

50% of her target annual bonus acceleration of vesting of 50% of options for Common Stock held by her and

continued employee benefits until the earlier of nine months following the date of termination or resignation or

the date that she obtains employment with generally similaremployee benefits

For complete description and quantification of benefits payable to the Companys named officers on and

following termination of employment under plans and programs currently in effect see Potential Payments

Upon Termination Or Change In Control

Outstanding Equity Awards

The following table presents certain information concerning the outstanding option awards held as of

December 31 2008 by each named executive officer

Number of Securities Underlying

Unexercised Options Hfl
ion

Exercise Expiration

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date

Anthony DiTonno 43333 16661 2.70 4/28/20 14

25556 17042 1.95 3/15/2015

20445 68151 1.95 3/15/2015

2194115 3.75 3/15/2016

lO000i5 11.25 1/5/2017

8001 239991 8.63 10/2/2017

15000 330002 8.63 10/2/2017

Stephen Ghiglieri 18266 2.70 4/28/2014

13700 45661 2.70 4/28/2014

9500 6342 1.95 3/15/2015

7601 25331 1.95 3/15/2015

816615 3.75 3/15/2016

500015 11.25 1/5/2017

2500 75001 8.63 10/2/2017

4687 103132 8.63 10/2/2017

5728 192722 5.43 1/10/2018

Jeffrey Tobias M.D 35972 106943 3.75 1/27/2016

40000 3.75 1/27/2016

500015 11.25 1/5/2017

2500 75001 8.63 10/2/2017

4687 103132 8.63 10/2/2017

5728 192722 5.43 1/10/2018

Michael Markels 866645 3.75 6/2/20 16

2733335 3.75 6/2/2016

3066615 4.20 9/21/2016

2500i5 1.25 1/5/2017

1000 30001 8.63 10/2/2017

1875 41252 8.63 10/2/2017

Susan Rinne 15624 343763 8.63 10/2/2017

Vests in full on the sixth anniversary of the grant date The vesting will accelerate upon the attainment by

the Company of certain milestones
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Vests as to 1/48 of the shares underlying the option monthly following the grant date

Vests as to 1/4 of the shares underlying the option on the first anniversary of the grant date and as to 1/48 of

the underlying shares monthly thereafter

Vests as to 20.85% of the shares underlying the option immediately and as to 1/36 of the underlying shares

monthly thereafter

Options allow for early exercise

Options Exercised and Stock Vested

The following table presents certain information concerning the exercise of options and vesting of stock

awards by each of the named executive officers during the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 including the

value of gains on exercise and the value of the stock awards

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of

Shares

Acquired on
Name Exercise

Anthony DiTonno 21667

Stephen Ghiglieri 12000

Jeffrey Tobias M.D

Michael Markels

SusanP.Rinne

Value realized is based on the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the date of exercise or

the actual sales price if the shares were sold by the optionee simultaneously with the exercise minus the

exercise price without taking into account any taxes that may be payable in connection with the transaction

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the vesting of stock award represents the aggregate market

price of the shares of the Common Stock underlying the stock award on the vesting date multiplied by the

shares vested on the vesting date

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

The following summaries set forth potential payments payable to the Companys named executive officers

upon termination of employment or change in control of the Company under their current executive

employment agreements and the Companys other compensation programs These agreements were amended and

restated in 2008 to comply with U.S tax laws including regulations promulgated under Section 409A of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended by updating certain terms and conditions related to the timing of

severance payments

For the purpose of the executive employment agreements cause means an officer

fails to perform his or her duties other than due to his or her incapacity as result of physical or mental

illness for period not to exceed 90 days

engages in conduct which is materially injurious to the Company its business or reputation or which

constitutes gross misconduct

materially breaches the terms of any agreement between him or her and the Company

materially breaches or takes any action in material contravention of the Companys policies adopted by

the Board of Directors or any committee thereof

Value Realized

on Exercise

$20584

15600

Number of

Shares

Acquired on

Vesting

278

Value Realized

on Vesting

$57299

16209
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is convicted of or admits or pleads no contest with respect to felony or commits an act of fraud against

the Company or

misappropriates material property belonging to the Company or an act of violence against an officer

director employee or consultant of the Company

For the
purpose of the executive employment agreements good reason means

material reduction in his or her salary or benefits other than as result of reduction in compensation

affecting the Companys or its successor entitys employees generally

material diminution of his or her duties or responsibilities relative to his or her duties and

responsibilities in effect immediately prior to change in control

relocation of his or her place of employment to location more than 35 miles from the Companys office

location at the time of change in control or

failure of successor entity in any change in control to assume and perform under his or her executive

employment agreement

For the purpose of the executive employment agreements disability means an officers inability to

perform his or her duties as the result of his or her incapacity due to physical or mental illness and such inability

at least 26 weeks after its commencement is determined to be total and permanent by physician selected by the

Company or its insurers and reasonably acceptable to the officer or the officers legal representative

2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December 2008

Each of Messrs DiTonno Ghiglieri and Markels Dr Tobias and Ms Rinne is eligible to receive cash

amount in connection with change in control of the Company pursuant to the Companys 2006 Acquisition

Bonus Plan as amended in December 2008 Such bonus is determined by taking one percent of the net proceeds

of the change of control and multiplying such amount by set percentage for each such named executive officer

In addition the plan provides for potential payment if there is difference between cash available to common
stockholders and preferred stockholders This plan was amended in 2008 to comply with U.S tax laws including

regulations promulgated under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended by updating

certain terms and conditions related to the timing of severance payments

AnthonyA DiTonno

Mr DiTonno employment is at-will Either the Company or Mr DiTonno may terminate the executive

employment agreement at any time Upon change in control of the Company Mr DiTonno will receive

acceleration of vesting of each of Mr DiTonno restricted stock grants and outstanding options to purchase

Common Stock by number of months equal to the number of months of vesting remaining for such option as of

the change in control minus 18 months provided that if such stock options or restricted stock grants have fewer

than 18 months of vesting remaining then such options or restricted stock grants will not be accelerated upon

change in control Mr DiTonno may be eligible to receive certain severance payments and additional

acceleration of vesting of stock options and restricted stock grants held by Mr DiTonno if Mr DiTonno

terminates his eniployment for good reason or the Company terminates Mr DiTonno without cause within the

18-month period following change in control

Termination by the Company or termination by Mr DiTonno prior to change in control If Mr DiTonno is

terminated for
any reason or if Mr DiTonno terminates his employment for any reason in each case prior to

change in control of the Company Mr DiTonno will not receive
any severance

Termination by the Company other than for cause or termination by Mr DiTonno for good reason

following change in control If Mr DiTonno is terminated for any reason other than for cause or if
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Mr DiTonno terminates his employment for good reason in each case within the 18-month period following

change in control of the Company Mr DiTonno will be entitled to receive 12 months of severance pay less

applicable withholding taxes payable over 12 months at rate equal to his base salary and lump-sum payment

equal to 100% of Mr DiTonnos target
annual bonus as of the date of such termination In addition all

restrictions limitations and conditions applicable to outstanding stock options and restricted stock grants will

lapse performance goals will be deemed to be fully achieved and the awards will become fully vested and in the

case of options exercisable upon termination of Mr DiTonno employment by the Company without cause or

by Mr DiTonno for good reason during the 18-month period following the change in control Following such

terminations Mr DiTonno will also receive coverage
under the Companys benefit plans for period equal to

the shorter of 12 months or such time as Mr DiTonno secures employment with benefits generally similar to

those provided in the Companys benefit plans

Termination by the Company for cause or by Mr DiTonno other than for good reason following change in

control Upon termination for any other reason Mr DiTonno is not entitled to any payment or benefit other than

severance and any
other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit

plans

Termination for death or disability If the Company terminates Mr DiTonno employment as result of

Mr DiTonno disability or if Mr DiTonno employment terminates upon Mr DiTonno death Mr DiTonno

is not entitled to any payment or benefit other than severance amounts paid prior to the date of such termination

and severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and

benefit plans

Assuming Mr DiTonno employment was terminated under each of these circumstances on December 31

2008 such payments and benefits have an estimated value of

Value of

Accelerated

Cash Equity

Severance Bonus Awards

Prior to change in control

Upon change in control $650000l 68549

Without cause or for good reason following change in control $333600 $108420 $116952

Death

Disability

Other

Represents payments to be received pursuant to the 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December

2008 in connection with change of control that would have resulted in net proceeds to the Companys

stockholders of at least $250.0 million

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the acceleration of vesting of an equity award represents the

aggregate market price of the shares of Common Stock underlying the equity award on the acceleration date

assumed to be the closing price on December 31 2008 multiplied by the shares vesting on the acceleration

date

Stephen Ghiglieri

Mr Ghiglieris employment is at-will Either the Company or Mr Ghiglieri may terminate the executive

employment agreement at any
time Upon change in control of the Company Mr Ghiglieri will receive

acceleration of vesting of each of Mr Ghiglieri restricted stock grants and outstanding options to purchase the

Companys Common Stock by number of months equal to the number of months of vesting remaining for such

option as of the change in control minus 18 months provided that if such stock options or restricted stock grants

have fewer than 18 months of vesting remaining then such options or restricted stock grants will not be
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accelerated upon change in control Mr Ghiglieri may be eligible to receive certain severance payments and

additional acceleration of vesting of stock options and restricted stock grants held by Mr Ghiglieri if

Mr Ghiglieri terminates his employment for good reason or the Company terminates Mr Ghiglieri without cause

within the 18-month period following change in control

Termination by the Company or termination by Mr Ghiglieri prior to change in control If Mr Ghiglieri
is terminated for any reason or if Mr Ghiglieri terminates his employment for

any reason in each case prior to

change in control of the Company Mr Ghiglieri will not receive any severance

Termination by the Company other than for cause or termination by Mr Ghiglieri for good reason

following change in control If Mr Ghiglieri is terminated for any reason other than cause or if Mr Ghiglieri
terminates his employment for good reason in each case within the 18-month period following change in

control of the Company Mr Ghiglieri will be entitled to receive nine months of severance pay less applicable

withholding taxes payable over nine months at rate equal to his base salary and lump-sum payment equal to

100% of Mr Ghiglieris target annual bonus as of the date of such termination In addition all restrictions

limitations and conditions applicable to outstanding stock options and restricted stock grants will lapse

performance goals will be deemed to be fully achieved and the awards will become fully vested and in the caseJj of options exercisable upon termination of Mr Ghiglieris employment by the Company without cause or by
Mr Ghiglieri for good reason during the 18-month period following the change in control Following such

terminations Mr Ghiglieri will also receive coverage under the Companys benefit plans for period equal to

the shorter of 12 months or such time as Mr Ghiglieri secures employment with benefits generally similar to

those provided in the Companys benefit plans

Termination by the Company fr cause or by Mr Ghigiieri other than for good reason following change
in control Upon termination for

any other reason Mr Ghiglieri is not entitled to any payment or benefit other

than severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and

benefit plans

Termination for death or disability if the Company terminates Mr Ghiglieris employment as result of

Mr Ghiglieris disability or if Mr Ghiglieris employment terminates upon Mr Ghiglieris death Mr Ghiglieri

is not entitled to any payment or benefit other than severance amounts paid prior to the date of such termination

and severance and
any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and

benefit plans

Assuming Mr Ohiglieris employment was terminated under each of these circumstances on December 31
2008 such payments and benefits have an estimated value of

Value of

Accelerated

Cash Equity

Severance Bonus Awards

Prior to change in control

Upon change in control $6000001 $34962
Without cause or for good reason following change in control $232500 77500 $58598
Death

Disability

Other

Represents payments to be received pursuant to the 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December
2008 in connection with change of control that would have resulted in net proceeds to the Companys
stockholders of at least $250.0 million

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the acceleration of vesting of an equity award represents the aggregate

market price of the shares of Common Stock underlying the equity award on the acceleration date assumed to be

the closing price on December 31 2008 multiplied by the shares vesting on the acceleration date
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Jeffrey Tobias M.D

Dr Tobias employment is at-will Either the Company or Dr Tobias may terminate the executive

employment agreement at any time Upon change in control of the Company Dr Tobias will receive

acceleration of vesting of each of Dr Tobias restricted stock grants and outstanding options to purchase

Common Stock by number of months equal to the number of months of vesting remaining for such option as of

the change in control minus 18 months provided that if such stock options or restricted stock grants have fewer

than 18 months of vesting remaining then such options or restricted stock grants will not be accelerated upon

change in control Dr Tobias may be eligible to receive certain severance payments and additional acceleration

of vesting of stock options and restricted stock grants held by Dr Tobias if Dr Tobias terminates his

employment for good reason or the Company terminates Dr Tobias without cause within the 18-month period

following change in control

Termination by the Company or termination by Dr Tobias prior to change in control If Dr Tobias is

terminated for any reason or if Dr Tobias terminates his employment for any reason in each case prior to

change in control of the Company Dr Tobias will receive no severance

Termination by the Company other than for cause or termination by Dr Tobias for good reason following

change in control If Dr Tobias is terminated for any reason other than cause or if Dr Tobias terminates his

employment for good reason in each case within the 18-month period following change in control of the

Company Dr Tobias will be entitled to receive nine months of severance pay less applicable withholding taxes

payable over nine months at rate equal to his base salary and lump-sum payment equal to 100% of

Dr Tobias target annual bonus as of the date of such termination In addition all restrictions limitations and

conditions applicable to outstanding stock options and restricted stock grants will lapse performance goals will

be deemed to be fully achieved and the awards will become fully vested and in the case of options exercisable

upon termination of Dr Tobias employment by the Company without cause or by Dr Tobias for good reason

during the 18-month period following the change in control Following such terminations Dr Tobias will also

receive
coverage

under the Companys benefit plans for period equal to the shorter of 12 months or such time

as Dr Tobias secures employment with benefits generally similar to those provided in the Companys benefit

plans

Termination by the Company for cause or by Dr Tobias other than for good reason following change in

control Upon termination for any other reason Dr Tobias is not entitled to any payment or benefit other than

severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit

plans

Termination for death or disability If the Company terminates Dr Tobias employment as result of

Dr Tobias disability or if Dr Tobias employment terminates upon Dr Tobias death Dr Tobias is not entitled

to any payment or benefit other than severance amounts paid prior to the date of such termination and severance

and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit plans
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Assuming Dr Tobias employment was terminated under each of these circumstances on December 31

2008 such payments and benefits have an estimated value of

Value of

Accelerated

Cash Equity

Severance Bonus Awards

Prior to change in control

Upon change in control $5000001 $28178

Without cause or for good reason following change in control $249075 83025 $58241

Death

Disability

Other

Represents payments to be received pursuant to the 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December

2008 in connection with change of control that would have resulted in net proceeds to the Companys

stockholders of at least $250.0 million

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the acceleration of vesting of an equity award represents the

aggregate market price of the shares of Common Stock underlying the equity award on the acceleration date

assumed to be the closing price on December 31 2008 multiplied by the shares vesting on the acceleration

date

Michael Markels

Mr Markels employment is at-will Either the Company or Mr Markels may terminate the executive

employment agreement at any time Upon change in control of the Company Mr Markels will receive

acceleration of vesting of each of Mr Markels restricted stock grants and outstanding options to purchase

Common Stock by number of months equal to the number of months of vesting remaining for such option as of

the change in control minus 18 months provided that if such stock options or restricted stock grants have fewer

than 18 months of vesting remaining then such options or restricted stock grants will not be accelerated upon

change in control Mr Markels may be eligible to receive certain severance payments and additional acceleration

of vesting of stock options and restricted stock grants held by Mr Markels if Mr Markels terminates his

employment for good reason or the Company terminates Mr Markels without cause within the 18-month period

following change in control

Termination by the Company or termination by Mr Markels prior to change in control If Mr Markels is

terminated for any reason or if Mr Markels terminates his employment for any reason in each case prior to

change in control of the Company Mr Markels will receive no severance

Termination by the Company other than for cause or termination by Mr Markeis for good reason

following change in control If Mr Markels is terminated for any reason other than cause or if Mr Markels

terminates his employment for good reason in each case within the 18-month period following change in

control of the Company Mr Markels will be entitled to receive nine months of severance pay less applicable

withholding taxes payable over nine months at rate equal to his base salary and lump-sum payment equal to

100% of Mr Markels target annual bonus as of the date of such termination In addition all restrictions

limitations and conditions applicable to outstanding stock options and restricted stock grants will lapse

performance goals will be deemed to be fully achieved and the awards will become fully vested and in the case

of options exercisable upon termination of Mr Markels employment by the Company without cause or by

Mr Markels for good reason during the 18-month period following the change in control Following such

terminations Mr Markeis will also receive coverage under the Companys benefit plans for period equal to the

shorter of 12 months or such time as Mr Markels secures employment with benefits generally similar to those
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Termination by the Company for cause or by Mr Markels other than for good reason following change in

control Upon termination for any other reason Mr Markels is not entitled to any payment or benefit other than

severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit

plans

Termination for death or disability If the Company terminates Mr Markels employment as result of

Mr Markels disability or if Mr Markels employment terminates upon Mr Markels death Mr Markels is not

entitled to any payment or benefit other than severance amounts paid prior to the date of such termination and

severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit

plans

Assuming Mr Markels employment was terminated under each of these circumstances on December 31

2008 such payments and benefits have an estimated value of

Value of

Accelerated

Cash Equity

Severance Bonus Awards

Prior to change in control

Upon change in control 1250001 $24812

Without cause or for good reason following change in control $195000 52000 $39886

Death

Disability

Other

Represents payments to be received pursuant to the 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December

2008 in connection with change of control that would have resulted in net proceeds to the Companys

stockholders of at least $250.0 million

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the acceleration of vesting of an equity award represents the

aggregate market price of the shares of Common Stock underlying the equity award on the acceleration date

assumed to be the closing price on December 31 2007 multiplied by the shares vesting on the acceleration

date

Susan Rinne

Ms Rinne employment is at-will Either the Company or Ms Rinne may terminate the executive

employment agreement at any time Ms Rinne may be eligible to receive certain severance payments and

acceleration of vesting of stock options and restricted stock grants held by Ms Rinne if Ms Rinne terminates her

employment for good reason or the Company terminates Ms Rinne without cause within the 18-month period

following change in control

Termination by the Company or termination by Ms Rinne prior to change in control If Ms Rinne is

terminated for any reason or if Ms Rinne terminates her employment for any reason in each case prior to

change in control of the Company Ms Rinne will receive no severance

Termination by the Company other than for cause or termination by Ms Rinne for good reason following

change in control If Ms Rinne is terminated for any reason other than cause or if Ms Rinne terminates her

employment for good reason in each case within the 18-month period following change in control of the

Company Ms Rinne will be entitled to receive six months of severance pay less applicable withholding taxes

payable over six months at rate equal to her base salary and lump-sum payment equal to 50% of Ms Rinnes

target annual bonus as of the date of such termination In addition 50% of Ms Rinne then outstanding options

to purchase shares of the Companys Common Stock shall immediately vest and become exercisable and all of

the shares of the Companys Common Stock then held by Ms Rinne subject to Company right of repurchase
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shall immediately vest and such right of repurchase shall lapse upon termination of Ms Rinne employment by
the Company without cause or by Ms Rinne for good reason during the 18-month period following the change in

control Following such terminations Ms Rinne will also receive coverage under the Companys benefit plans

for period equal to the shorter of months or such time as Ms Rinne secures employment with benefits

generally similar to those provided in the Companys benefit plans

Termination by the Company for cause or by Ms Rinne other than for good reason following change in

control Upon termination for any other reason Ms Rinne is not entitled to any payment or benefit other than

severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit

plans

Termination for death or disability If the Company terminates Ms Rinne employment as result of

Ms Rinnes disability or if Ms Rinnes employment terminates upon Ms Rinnes death Ms Rinne is not

entitled to any payment or benefit other than severance amounts paid prior to the date of such termination and

severance and any other benefits only as are then established under the Companys written severance and benefit

plans

Assuming Ms Rinnes employment was terminated under each of these circumstances on December 31
2008 such payments and benefits have an estimated value of

Value of

Accelerated

Cash Equity

Severance Bonus Awards

Prior to change in control

Upon change in control $125000l
Without cause or for good reason following change in control $131250 26250 $20110
Death

Disability

Other

Represents payments to be received pursuant to the 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December

2008 in connection with change of control that would have resulted in net proceeds to the Companys
stockholders of at least $250.0 million

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon the acceleration of vesting of an equity award represents the

aggregate market price of the shares of Common Stock underlying the equity award on the acceleration date

assumed to be the closing price on December 31 2008 multiplied by the shares vesting on the acceleration

date

Director Compensation

The following table sets forth summary of all non-employee director compensation for the year ended

December 31 2008

Fees Earned Option
or Paid in Cash Awards Total

________________

Jean Jacques BienaimØ 73000 59011 132011

Neil Kurtz 49453 40516 89969

Robert Nelsen 43060 17433 60493
Bruce Peacock 55000 25245 80245

The amounts in this column represent the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting

purposes with respect to the fiscal year computed in accordance with SFAS No 123R
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The Company reimburses its non-employee directors for their expenses incurred in connection with

attending Board of Directors and committee meetings Non-employee directors receive quarterly retainer of

$6250 and the Chairman of the Board of Directors receives quarterly retainer of $12500 The Chairman of the

Audit Committee receives an additional cash retainer of $2500 quarterly The Chairman of the Compensation

Committee receives an additional cash retainer of $1250 quarterly Non-employee directors also receive cash

fees of $2000 for each Board of Directors meeting and $1000 for each Audit and Compensation Committee

meeting attended in person and $1000 for each Board of Directors meeting and $500 for each Audit and

Compensation Committee meeting attended by telephone

The Companys 2007 Stock Plan provides for the automatic grant of non-statutory options to non-employee

directors Each newly appointed non-employee director except for those directors who become non-employee

directors by ceasing to be employee directors receives an initial option to purchase 13333 shares upon such

appointment This option vests ratably each year so that the option is fully vested and exercisable on the fourth

anniversary of its grant date subject to the directors continued service on each relevant vesting date In addition

on an annual basis at each Annual Meeting of Stockholders non-employee directors who have been directors for

at least 12 months as of the date of such annual meeting of stockholders will receive an option to purchase 5000

shares immediately following such annual meeting This option will vest in full on the first anniversary of its

grant date subject to the director continued service on such date All options granted under the automatic grant

provisions have term of ten years and an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value on the date of

grant

In addition pursuant to the Companys 2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan as amended in December 2008 as

more fully discussed under Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control2006 Acquisition

Bonus Plan as amended in December 2008 directors Jean-Jacques BienaimØ and Neil Kurtz will receive

$50000 and $25000 respectively upon change of control of the Company in connection with their service as

members of the Companys board of directors

Employee directors who meet the eligibility requirements may participate in the Companys 2007 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan

The Company maintains directors and officers indemnification insurance coverage This insurance covers

directors and officers individually These policies currently run from May 2008 through May 2009 at total

annual cost of approximately $447000 The primary carrier is National Union Fire Insurance Company of

Pittsburgh PA

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Exchange Act requires the Companys officers and directors and persons who own more

than ten percent of registered class of the Companys equity securities to file reports
of ownership and changes in

ownership with the SEC Such officers directors and ten-percent stockholders are also required by SEC rules to

furnish the Company with copies of all forms that they file pursuant to Section 16a Based solely on the

Companys review of the copies of such forms received by it or written representations from certain reporting

persons the Company believes that during fiscal 2008 the Companys executive officers directors and ten-percent

stockholders complied with all applicable filing requirements
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Audit Committee operates under written charter adopted by the Board of Directors The charter was

amended and approved on May 29 2008 The purpose of the Audit Committee includes the following

Oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Company and audits of the financial

statements of the Company

Assist the Board of Directors of the Company in oversight and monitoring of the integrity of the

Companys financial statements ii the Companys compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

under applicable securities law iii the independent registered public accounting firms qualifications

independence and performance and iv the Companys systems of internal accounting and financial controls

Prepare report in the Companys annual proxy statement in accordance with the rules of the SEC

Provide the Board of Directors with the results of its monitoring and recommendations derived therefrom

and

Provide to the Board of Directors such additional information and materials as it may deem necessary to

make the Board aware of significant financial matters that come to its attention and that require the

attention of the Board of Directors

Management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process including

the system of internal controls

In fulfilling its responsibilities the Audit Committee has

Reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements including balance sheets related statements of

operations stockholders equity and cash flows with management

Discussed with Ernst Young LLP matters required to be discussed under the Statement on Auditing

Standards No 61 as amended as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in

Rule 3200T

Received from the independent accountant Ernst Young LLP the written disclosures and the letter

required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the

independent accountants communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and

Discussed with the independent accountant Ernst Young LLP the independent accountants

independence

The Audit Committee discusses with the Companys independent registered public accounting firm the

overall scope and plans for their audits The Committee meets with the independent registered public accounting

firm with and without management present to discuss the results of their examinations their evaluations of the

Companys internal controls and the overall quality of the Companys financial reporting

Based on the foregoing the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited

financial statements be included in the Companys annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31
2008 for filing with the SEC The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors have also recommended subject

to stockholder approval the selection of the Companys independent registered public accounting firm

Respectfully Submitted by
MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Bruce Peacock Audit Committee Chair

Jean-Jacques BienaimØ

Neil Kurtz M.D

Dated April 13 2009
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CERTAIN BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Independence of Directors

The Board of Directors has determined that directors Mr BienaimØ Dr Kurtz Mr Peacock and Mr Nelsen

are each independent as defined under the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC listing standards The Board of

Directors has also determined that each member of the Compensation Committee and Nominating and

Governance Committee is independent as defined under the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC listing standards and

that each member of the Audit Committee is independent as defined under the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

listing standards as well as the applicable SEC rules In reaching its conclusions on independence the Board of

Directors reviewed the relationships of Messrs Nelsen and Peacock with certain investors in the Company and

determined that such relationships did not affect their independence under the standards of the NASDAQ Stock

Market LLC or in the case of Mr Peacock in connection with his service on the Audit Committee applicable

SEC rules

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to the Audit Committees charter the Companys policy is for the Audit Committee to review and

approve all related party transactions for which such approval is required by applicable SEC rules or the rules of

the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC The Company has not adopted specific standards for approval of these

transactions but instead reviews each such transaction on case by case basis The December 23 2007 and

January 2008 private placement described below was approved by the members of the Audit Committee other

than Bruce Peacock and by majority of the disinterested members and independent members of the Board of

Directors at the meetings of the Board of Directors where such transaction was approved

Private Placement

On December 23 2007 the Company agreed to issue pursuant to Securities Purchase Agreement the

SPA by and among the Company and certain investors including entities affiliated with ARCH Venture

Partners beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Companys voting securities at the time of the Private

Placement 4020910 shares of its Common Stock at purchase price of $6.18 per share the last closing

price of the Companys Common Stock on the NASDAQ Global Market prior to execution of the SPA and

iiwarrants to purchase 1206273 shares of its Common Stock the Warrants with purchase price for the

Warrants equal to $0125 per share of Common Stock underlying such Warrants The Company received

aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $25 million from the sale of the Common Stock and Warrants of

which entities affiliated with ARCH Venture Partners purchased 382170 shares of Common Stock and Warrants

to purchase 114651 shares of Common Stock for approximately $2.38 million and entities affiliated with SV

Life Sciences Fund purchased 2412550 shares of Common Stock and Warrants to purchase 723765 shares of

Common Stock for approximately $15.0 million The Warrants have term of five years contain net-exercise

provision and have an exercise price of $8.034 per share The initial closing of the private placement occurred on

December 28 2007 and the subsequent and final closing occurred on January 2008 Pursuant to the

Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection with the SPA the Company agreed to file

registration statement covering the resale of the Common Stock and the shares of Common Stock underlying the

Warrants issued and issuable to the investors in the private placement no later than five days from the date that

the Company first becomes eligible to file resale registration statement on Form S-3 and to seek to have such

registration statement declared effective no later than 35 days from such date or if the Companys registration

statement is reviewed by the SEC 90 days from such date The Company filed Form S-3 on May 2008 SEC
File No 333-150614 which was declared effective by the SEC on May 13 2008 In addition the Company

amended its Third Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement to provide the investors in the private

placement with certain piggyback registration rights along with certain demand registration rights for the shares

purchased in connection with the Private Placement Robert Nelsen member of the Board of Directors is

managing director of ARCH Venture Partners and Bruce Peacock member of the Board of Directors is

venture partner of SV Life Sciences Fund
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Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and officers which

require the Company to indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law The

Board of Directors approved amendments to the form of indemnification agreement in March 2009 These

amendments relate in part to the primacy of indemnification mutual acknowledgment and the effectiveness of

the agreement

Other Matters

The information contained above under the captions Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board

of Directors and Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors shall not be deemed to be soliciting

material or to be filed with the SEC nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future

filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Exchange Act except to the extent that the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing

The Company knows of no other matters to be submitted to the meeting If
any other matters properly come

before the meeting it is the intention of the persons named in the enclosed Proxy form to vote the shares they

represent as the Board of Directors may recommend

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dated April 13 2009
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PART

This report contains forward-looking statements that are based upon current expectations within the

meaning of the Private Securities Reform Act of 1995 We intend that such statements be protected by the safe

harbor created thereby Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and our actual results and the

timing of events may differ significantly from those results discussed in the forward-looking statements

Examples of such forward-looking statements include but are not limited to statements about or relating to

the timing of the European Commissions decision on the European Medicines Agencys or EMEA
Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use or CHMP opinion which recommended approval

of our marketing authorization application or MAA for QutenzaTM formerly NGX-40 10 for the

treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults either alone or in combination with

other medicinal products for pain or the timing of obtaining government sponsored health care

reimbursement

the timing of U.S Food and Drug Administrations or FDA review of the new drug application or

NDA for Qutenza that was submitted in October 2008 and the potential receipt of correspondence

from the FDA by the assigned Prescription Drug User Fee Act or PDUFA date

the sufficiency of existing resources to fund our operations through at least December 31 2009

capital requirements and our needs for additional financing

potential partners for commercialization of Qutenza or other product candidates in the European Union

or the United States

efforts to expand the scope of indications in which our capsaicin-based product candidates are used

and the timing of potential clinical trials in connection with such expansion

plans to obtain broader market access for our capsaicin-based product candidates through expansion of

approved indications

the scope and size of research and development efforts and programs including with respect to

development of additional product candidates

the potential benefits of and markets for our product candidates

losses costs expenses expenditures and cash flows

potential competitors and competitive products

our plans for sales marketing and manufacturing

future payments under lease obligations and equipment financing lines

patents and our and others intellectual property and

expected future sources of revenue and capital

We undertake no obligation to and expressly disclaim any obligation to revise or update the

forward-looking statements made herein or the risk factors whether as result of new information future events

or otherwise Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties which are more fully discussed in the

Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this Annual Report including but not limited to those risks and

uncertainties relating to

difficulties or delays in development testing obtaining regulatory approval for and undertaking

production and marketing of our drug candidates

the CHMPs positive opinion to the European Commission for approval of Qutenza may not result in

approval by the European Commission



unexpected adverse side effects or inadequate therapeutic efficacy of our drug candidates could slow or

prevent product approval or approval for particular indications including the risk that current and past

results of clinical trials or preclinical studies are not indicative of future results of clinical trials and the

difficulties associated with clinical trials for pain indications

positive results in clinical trials may not be sufficient to obtain FDA or European regulatory approval

potential for delays in or the inability to complete commercial partnership relationships

physician or patient reluctance to use Qutenza if approved or payer coverage for Qutenza and for the

procedure to administer it which may impact physician utilization of Qutenza

our inability to obtain additional financing if necessary

changing standards of care and the introduction of products by competitors or alternative therapies for

the treatment of indications we target

the uncertainty of protection for our intellectual property through patents trade secrets or otherwise

and

potential infringement of the intellectual property rights or trade secrets of third parties

When used in this Annual Report unless otherwise indicated NeurogesX the Company we our
and us refers to NeurogesX Inc and its subsidiaries

QutenzaTM and NeurogesxTM are trademarks we have applied for in the United States and in several other

countries Other service marks trademarks and trade names referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are

the property of their respective owners

Item Business

Overview

We are biopharmaceutical company focused on developing and commercializing novel pain management

therapies We are assembling portfolio of pain management product candidates based on known chemical

entities to develop innovative new therapies which we believe may offer substantial advantages over currently

available treatment options Our initial focus is on the management of chronic peripheral neuropathic pain

conditions Our most advanced product candidate Qutenza dermal patch containing high concentration of

synthetic capsaicin is designed to manage pain associated with peripheral neuropathic pain conditions We

believe based on our successful Phase studies that single 30-or 60-minute application of Qutenza may

provide up to 12 weeks of clinically-meaningful pain relief Moreover we believe that Qutenza has demonstrated

in clinical trials positive safety and tolerability profile

We submitted to the FDA an NDA for Qutenza for the management of pain associated with postherpetic

neuralgia or PHN in October 2008 which was filed by the FDA in December 2008 Our NDA has PDUFA

date of August 16 2009 at which time we would anticipate receiving either an approval letter or complete

response letter from the FDA complete response
letter may describe any activities which may be required to

gain approval or may indicate that product candidate is not approvable

In September 2007 we submitted marketing authorization application or MAA for Qutenza with the

European Medicines Agency or EMEA under the centralized procedure seeking approval of Qutenza On

March 19 2009 the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use or CHMP issued positive opinion

recommending the approval of our MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in

non-diabetic adults either alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain In conjunction with

issuing this recommendation the CHMP requested us to perform certain clinical evaluations of Qutenza

following approval We are currently awaiting the European Commissions decision on the CHMP opinion



process which normally takes approximately 60 to 90 days If the European Commission issues marketing

authorization in most European Union member states product pricing for government sponsored health-care

reimbursement must be negotiated or for hospital-based products product pricing may be established directly

with hospitals We believe this process can take months or substantially longer to complete if at all

Our earlier stage product candidate pipeline consists of

NGX-1998 non-patch liquid formulation of capsaicin for potential use in neuropathic pain

conditions

NGX-1576 NGX-9674 and NGX-5752 prodrugs of acetaminophen for potential use in acute pain

including traumatic pain post-surgical pain and fever and

NGX-6052 an opioid prodrug for potential use in chronic pain indications

NGX- 1998 has been evaluated in three Phase studies and we are currently evaluating the timing of

entering into Phase development The other product candidates are all in the pre-clinical stage of development

In response to the generally weak economic conditions which have resulted in challenging environment

for raising capital we deferred further pre-clinical and clinical development activities for all of our product

candidates in order to focus our fiscal and human resources on the prosecution of our MAA and NDA for

Qutenza and on continuing support of our strategies for obtaining adequate reimbursement for Qutenza in the

United States We expect to re-initiate some or all of our development programs if additional funds become

available Further we are currently seeking development partners for our acetaminophen and opioid prodrug

product candidates We hold worldwide commercial rights to all of our product candidates and are actively

engaged in discussions with potential commercial partners

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become leading biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization

of novel pain management therapies Key elements of our strategy for achieving this goal include

Achieve market approval for our Lead Product Candidate Qutenza in the United States and European Union

In March 2009 in
response to our MAA the CHMP issued positive opinion recommending the approval of our

MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults We are currently awaiting

the European Commissions decision on the CHMPs opinion process which normally takes approximately 60 to

90 days In the United States we submitted an NDA for Qutenza with the FDA in October 2008 for the

management of pain due to PHN Our NDA has been given PDUFA date of August 16 2009 at which time we

would anticipate receiving either an approval letter or complete response letter from the FDA

Obtain an appropriate product reimbursement model for Qutenza Qutenza is dermal patch containing

high concentration of capsaicin Because of the potential for misapplication of the patch we believe that Qutenza

should be administered by healthcare professional Our current strategy with regard to reimbursement is to seek

Medicare Part reimbursement for Qutenza which if successful could provide for reimbursement of both

Qutenza and the time incurred by the healthcare professional for the treatment procedure under reimbursement

codes that would be issued by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services or CMS and the American

Medical Association We are also investigating alternative strategies which may enable the reimbursement of

Qutenza under Medicares prescription drug benefit Part We believe that obtaining an appropriate

reimbursement for Qutenza in combination with an appropriate sales and distribution model will be important to

the market success of Qutenza

Maximize the value of Qutenza through an effective commercial launch in the United States and European

Union We have retained exclusive worldwide commercialization rights for Qutenza In the United States we are

currently evaluating potential marketing collaborations to facilitate the launch of Qutenza pending marketing



approval Our current objective is to launch the United States commercialization efforts of Qutenza through our

own sales force and potentially supplement our own efforts through the establishment of collaboration

arrangement which could include co-promotion rights Outside of the United States we are actively evaluating

potential collaboration partners for the commercialization of Qutenza

Obtain broader market access through expansion of approved indications including painful diabetic

neuropathy or PDN We plan to develop our capsaicin-based product candidates to address indications outside of

the indications which are currently the subject of marketing applications for Qutenza PHN in the United States and

peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults in the European Union Such development may be carried out

through further development of Qutenza or through development of NGX-1998 To date we have conducted two

Phase studies of Qutenza in HIV-distal sensory polyneuropathy or HIV-DSP one of which met its primary

endpoint In addition we have conducted Phase open-label study of Qutenza in PDN In the United States we

believe that the FDA requires that we conduct two positive Phase studies for each neuropathic pain indication for

which we are seeking approval Therefore label expansion of Qutenza in the United States could require at least one

additional successful Phase study in HIV-DSP and potentially two successful Phase studies in PDN In Europe

we believe label expansion may require only one safety and efficacy study in PDN We currently plan to pursue

additional studies in Qutenza at minimum in order to address EMEA regulatory requirements NGX-1998

liquid formulation which uses the same active ingredient in Qutenza is also being developed to potentially address

indications beyond those currently the subject of the Qutenza NDA and MAA We are currently evaluating the

timing of entering NGX-1998 into Phase development

Maximize the value ofourpre-clinical development programs Our model is to develop innovative therapies

based on known chemical entities balancing market opportunity with favorable clinical and regulatory

pathway We are expanding our portfolio of pain management product candidates with the development of an

opioid prodrug platform and series of acetaminophen pro-drug product candidates We believe these

pre-clinical programs present significant opportunities and are currently seeking potential development

partnerships to enable their advancement either within NeurogesX or through outlicensing

Our Product Development Programs

Our current product development programs are focused on candidates in the field of pain with primary

focus on peripheral neuropathic pain We retain worldwide rights to these product candidates Our portfolio

consists of the following product candidates

Product Candidate Indication Phase of Development

Qutenza Peripheral European MAA submittedpositive CHMP opinion

neuropathic pain in recommending approval issued on March 19 2009 Awaiting

non-diabetic adults the European Commissions decision on such opinion

PHN NDA submitted October 2008 PDUFA date August 16 2009

HIV-DSP Two Phase trials completed one with primary endpoint met

PDN U.S open-label Phase data

NGX-1998 Peripheral IND filed in June 2008 Three Phase studies completed

neuropathic pain Currently evaluating the timing of entering Phase

development

Acetaminophen Prodrugs Traumatic pain Preclinical development

NGX- 1576 NGX-9674 post-surgical pain

NGX-5752 and fever

Opioid Prodrugs Acute pain and Preclinical development
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Neuropathic Pain Conditions

According to Jam PharmaBiotech 2008 or Jam chronic neuropathic pain is estimated to effect about 8% of

the world population Jam estimates that there are approximately 6.0 million neuropathic pain sufferers in the

United States who generated over $3.5 billion in neuropathic pain product sales in 2007 which Jam predicts will

grow to $8.5 billion in 2017 Jam also estimates that there are 3.0 million neuropathic pain sufferers in Europe

We believe that this projected growth in the market for neuropathic pain medications reflects increasing

awareness by the medical community of neuropathic pain diagnosis and treatment options as well as growth in

the elderly population an increase in the number of people suffering from diabetes and an increase in the life

expectancy of people with HIV Our lead product candidate Qutenza is designed to address peripheral

neuropathic pain conditions which affect majority of patients suffering from neuropathic pain

Pain results from sensory nerve stimulation often associated with actual or potential tissue damage Pain is

transmitted by specific nerve fibers that carry the pain signal across the nervous system to the brain where it is

recognized as pain Pain can be acute or chronic Acute pain is short in duration and tends to be reactive or

protective against actual or potential tissue injury Chronic pain lasts over an extended period of time and often

serves no useful purpose There are two broad categories of chronic pain inflammatory and neuropathic

Inflammatory pain is associated with tissue damage often occurring from injury or from inflammatory

conditions such as osteoarthritis or lower back pain This class of pain is often treated with prescription drugs

that act systemically including opioids and over-the-counter anti-inflammatory drugs

Neuropathic pain is type of chronic pain that results from injury to or dysfunction of nerves The injury

can be to the central nervous system consisting of the brain and spinal cord or to the peripheral nervous system

consisting of all other nerves Neuropathic pain can occur in any part of the body and can significantly impair the

affected individuals quality of life It can result from viruses as is the case with PHN and HIV or diseases such

as diabetes Neuropathic pain can also result from the use of drugs that treat diseases or viruses such as drugs

used to treat HIV or cancer

Existing Treatments and their Limitations

While there are number of products currently available for the management of neuropathic pain we

believe that the market is still underserved due to the limitations of current therapies The primary limitations of

current therapies relate to their unwanted systemic side effects limited efficacy cumbersome treatment

regimens potential for abuse and drug-drug interaction

Because patients react to pain and to pain therapies in many ways and because no one therapy offers

complete pain relief to all patients without significant side effects single standard of care does not exist for the

management of neuropathic pain Initial treatment typically involves one of few anti-convulsants or

anti-depressants To the extent that the initial therapy does not provide adequate pain relief the physician may try

other anti-convulsants anti-depressants or opioids alone or in combination to treat the pain These systemic

treatments are often limited by side effects including dizziness sedation confusion constipation and the

potential for drug dependence Due to these side effects patient compliance is often
poor

and physicians often

reduce dosing to less than optimal levels which limits the ability of these drugs to reduce pain For this reason

we believe there is an opportunity for localized non-systemic analgesics to be used broadly either alone or in

combination with other pain medications to reduce the patients pain

To date one topical product has been approved in the United States and certain European countries for

managing peripheral neuropathic pain specifically to treat PHN This treatment lidocaine patch should not be

worn for more than 12 hours in any 24-hour period Some patients may require up to two weeks of treatment

before experiencing peak pain relief and the patch must continue to be used daily in order to maintain relief

Because of safety issues associated with the use of lidocaine the labeling for the lidocaine patch states that no

more than three patches should be worn simultaneously



Capsaicin-Induced Effects on Peripheral Neuropathic Pain

Peripheral neuropathic pain results from injured or dysfunctional nerve endings that send aberrant pain

signals to the brain in the absence of harmful stimuli inappropriately causing the sensation of pain We believe

capsaicin can desensitize these injured or dysfunctional nerve fibers reducing their ability to initiate pain signals

for sustained period of time Capsaicin is naturally occurring substance that is responsible for making chili

peppers hot Products containing low concentrations of capsaicin including creams lotions and patches have

long been sold over-the-counter for the treatment of minor arthritis back and muscle pain as well as for other

conditions

Low-concentration capsaicin topical products have not been viable treatment for chronic peripheral

neuropathic pain conditions due in part to poor patient compliance resulting from the treatment of already painful

skin with compound that causes burning sensations as well as the inconvenience of multiple daily applications

We believe that high-concentration capsaicin cream also does not appear to constitute viable therapy because

application causes significant patient discomfort creams can allow the capsaicin to disperse beyond the treatment

area and existing creams have not been optimally formulated to allow capsaicin to penetrate the skin To address

the intrinsic limitations of existing capsaicin therapies we have developed Qutenza and are developing

NGX- 1998 both product candidates utilizing high-concentration capsaicin

Our Solution

We are developing novel pain management therapies beginning with high-concentration capsaicin

formulationsQutenza dermal patch and NGX- 1998 dermal liquid formulation for the management of

peripheral neuropathic pain conditions We believe that these dermal product candidates if approved by

regulatory authorities may become standard of care for the management of pain associated with peripheral

neuropathic disorders while offering number of significant advantages over other neuropathic pain management

therapies

Non-systemic/localized treatment Our localized peripheral pain management product candidates are

designed to address the origin of the pain signal in the injured or dysfunctional nerves Unlike most

existing pain therapies our product candidates do not act as general pain suppressants of the entire

central nervous system and do not cause general desensitization to acute pain or other sensations

Duration of effect Our dermal product candidates are designed to allow capsaicin to readily penetrate

the skin and provide rapid onset of clinically meaningful pain relief that in the case of Qutenza may last

for up to 12 weeks from single application of 60 minutes or less Our goal for NGX-1998 is to

achieve duration of effect comparable with Qutenza with shorter application time We believe these

product candidate attributes may address significant limitation of existing pain therapies many of

which require daily use and gradual increased dosages over time before reaching their peak relief

effect

Compliance We believe that our dermal product candidates may avoid problems with patient

compliance which can be significant limitation with currently available treatments because our

product candidates are designed to be administered by healthcare professional in single application

to provide pain relief for up to 12 weeks We believe this may address significant limitations of

currently available alternatives such as the Lidoderm patch which is self-administered and must be

applied daily and worn for no more than 12 hours per day and systemic drugs which also require daily

use and can produce significant side effects

Safety Our clinical trials have consistently demonstrated that Qutenza is well tolerated

Treatment-related adverse events have primarily consisted of temporary redness pain burning itching

dryness or swelling at the application site The application site reactions have generally been short term

and well managed with the application of cool compresses ice or the use of short-acting opioids To

date we have not seen evidence of increased side effects with repeated treatment including in patients-1 j-v_1 _vvJ J1 IhJJJ_/ J/Ui



Our Lead Product Candidate Qutenza

Qutenza is non-narcotic analgesic formulated in dermal patch containing an 8% concentration of

synthetic capsaicin Capsaicin is released from the patch and with the aid of penetration enhancers absorbed into

the skin during application without significant absorption of capsaicin into the bloodstream Accordingly users

of Qutenza can avoid the systemic side effects of anti-convulsants anti-depressants and opioids and the potential

for abuse and addiction associated with some of these drugs Qutenza is administered by healthcare

professional in non-invasive process that involves pre-treating the painful area with topical anesthetic for

approximately one hour followed by the application of our patch for 60 minutes in the case of PHN and

potentially less in other indications Patches are cut to conform to the area to be treated After the specified

application period the patch is removed and residual capsaicin is removed from the skin with proprietary

cleansing gel Qutenza has been shown to provide clinically meaningful reduction in peripheral neuropathic

pain for up to 12 weeks in certain of our clinical studies

In September 2007 we submitted MAA for Qutenza with the EMEA under the centralized procedure

seeking approval of Qutenza On March 19 2009 the CHMP issued positive opinion recommending the

approval of our MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults either

alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain In conjunction with issuing this recommendation

the CHMP requested us to perform certain clinical evaluations of Qutenza following approval We are currently

awaiting the European Commissions decision on the CHMP opinion process
which normally takes

approximately 60 to 90 days If the European Commission issues marketing authorization in most European

Union member states product pricing for government sponsored health-care reimbursement must be negotiated or

for hospital-based products product pricing may be established directly with hospitals We believe this process

can take months or substantially longer to complete if at all

In October 2008 we submitted an NDA for Qutenza with FDA for the management of pain due to PHN
Our NDA has been given PDUFA date of August 16 2009 at which time we would anticipate receiving either

an approval letter or complete response letter from the FDA



Clinical Trials

Qutenza

As the following table illustrates we have conducted extensive clinical trials in the management of

peripheral neuropathic pain Combined our completed studies represent over 1600 subjects treated with

Qutenza

Trial Number of

Number Participants Status

C117 416

C116 402

CilO 155

C118 106

C108 299

C108 206

C102 44

C106 24

CII evaluated the safety of applications of Qutenza over 12 month period Of the 106 patients enrolled

52 patients had HIV-DSP and 54 patients had PHN
111 evaluated the effect of topical anesthetic alternatives on tolerability of Qutenza and included 91 PDN

patients 25 PHN patients and HIV-DSP patient

General Trial Design Criteria Because all of our trials have focused on the treatment of peripheral

neuropathic pain although in different indications we have generally been able to employ similardesign in

each trial Patients in each of our trials have to be at least 18 years old and have intact unbroken skin over the

painful area to be treated Patients could be taking doses of other chronic pain medications but could not be

using any topical pain medications on the affected areas Our blinded trials involve randomly selected treated

group and control group The treated patients receive single application of our Qutenza dermal patch in its

standard formulation containing an 8% concentration of synthetic capsaicin Our control group patients receive

single application of low-dose version of our Qutenza dermal patch containing 0.04% capsaicin The control

groups
receive low-dose capsaicin to ensure that these patients can feel the heat sensation produced by the

active ingredient so that they could not tell that they are receiving the control All patients receive topical local

anesthetic for one hour prior to application of the patch The patch is then applied to all patients for prescribed

duration usually 30 or 60 minutes although in some of our studies we also tested durations of 90 minutes The

amount of active ingredient delivered to the patient is dependent on the duration of patch application since the

capsaicin is absorbed into the skin over time In our open-label extension studies the control group is eliminated

and all participants may receive additional single application treatments of Qutenza typically when pain has

returned but not more frequently than once every 12 weeks

Development Activityindication

PHN Phase

Phase

Phase

Open-label safety study

Phase 2/3

Open-label extension

Phase

Open-label extension of 102

HIV-DSP Phase

Phase

Open-label safety study

Phase

PDN PHN Open-label tolerability study

HIV-DSP

Completed primary endpoint met 0.01

Completed primary endpoint met 0.00

Completed primary endpoint not met

Completed

Completed primary endpoint not met

Terminated early

Completed

Completed

C119

107

C118

109

494

307

106

12

Clii 117

Completed primary endpoint not met

Completed primary endpoint met 0.0026

Completed

Completed

Completed



General Objectives The primary objective or endpoint of each of our Phase clinical trials has been to

assess the percent change in average pain from baseline to weeks 28 in the case of PHN or to weeks 212 in

the case of HIV-DSP If the primary endpoint is not met the trial is generally considered to have been

unsuccessful Determining if the primary endpoint has been achieved is based on statistical analysis that has been

defined in the protocol the measurement of which is known as the value successful trial is generally based

on meeting value of less than 0.05 which means that there is greater than 95% likelihood that the drug was

responsible for the difference in effect observed between the treated patients and those receiving placebo or in

our case control patch The primary method of assessing baseline pain and pain over the course of the study is

Numeric Pain Rating Scale or NPRS Eligible subjects had moderate to severe neuropathic pain with baseline

average NPRS score as measured over period of one to two weeks prior to treatment typically of to

with no pain and 10 worst possible pain Secondary efficacy measures included methods of assessing pain

other than with NPRS such as the Patient and Clinical Global Assessments of Change Gracely Pain Scale

Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire and Brief Pain Inventory as well as the proportion of responders
which are defined as patients who experience certain minimal threshold of pain relief such as the percentage of

patients who achieve at least 30% reduction in pain as measured by the NPRS Each of our studies also

assessed safety and tolerability

General Safety Findings Our clinical trials have consistently demonstrated that Qutenza is well tolerated In

our Phase trials over 98% of subjects completed the prescribed duration of patch application both during the

double-blind phase and during the open-label phase of our trials Treatment-related adverse events have primarily

consisted of application-site issues such as redness pain burning itching dryness or swelling Most of these

events have been mild to moderate however severe application site events have been observed The application

site reactions have been generally short term and managed with the application of cool compresses ice or the use

of short-acting opioids to relieve the treatment-related discomfort Transient changes in blood pressure have been

observed during the treatment procedure and appear to follow treatment-related changes in pain We have not

seen evidence of increased side effects with repeated treatment In our Phase trials there have been three

serious adverse events totaling less than related to Qutenza two related to pain and one case of

hypertension Although in our earlier PHN studies 108 and Cli more cardiac adverse events occurred in

subjects treated with Qutenza than subjects receiving the control patch in the larger subsequently completed

Phase PHN studies 116 and 117 no significant difference in the proportion of subjects with cardiac events

was observed between the active and control groups Similarly in our HIV-DSP Phase studies we have not

observed difference in the proportion of subjects with cardiac events between active and control groups

Postherpetic Neuralgia

We have conducted five controlled studies an open-label extension study and one year open-label repeat

dose safety study evaluating the effect of Qutenza in subjects with PHN Overall over 900 subjects have received

Qutenza in these studies with over 1300 Qutenza treatments being administered In October 2008 we submitted

an NDA for PHN to the FDA This submission was filed by the FDA in December 2008 and our NDA was given

PDUFA date of August 16 2009 at which time we would anticipate receiving either an approval letter or

complete response letter from the FDA

Background on PHN PHN is painful condition affecting sensory nerve fibers It is complication of

shingles second outbreak of the varicella-zoster virus which initially causes chickenpox Following an initial

infection some of the virus can remain dormant in nerve cells Years later age illness stress medications or

other factors that are not well understood can lead to reactivation of the virus The rash and blisters associated

with shingles usually heal within about six weeks but some people continue to experience pain for years

thereafter This pain is known as postherpetic neuralgia or PHN PHN may occur in almost any area but is

especially common on the torso

Potential Market According to the Centers for Disease Control or CDC there are approximately

1.0 million cases of shingles in the United States each year and approximately one in five shingles sufferers go



on to develop PHN The likelihood of developing PHN from shingles increases with age with approximately

25% of people over 55 50% of people over 60 and 75% of people over 70 estimated to eventually develop PHN

after contracting shingles Estimates as to the number of people suffering from PHN in the United States range

from under 200000 to 500000 According to Jam there were approximately 500000 people in the United States

living with PHN and according to The Mattson Jack Group in 2007 there were approximately 333000 people in

the United Kingdom France Germany Italy and Spain combined living with PHN

Clinical Trial Results

CI Phase Clinical Trial This trial was randomized double-blind controlled multicenter trial

performed at 61 sites in the United States and Canada Inclusion criteria included pain for at least six months

following resolution of shingles We enrolled 416 subjects and randomly assigned them to receive 60-minute

application of Qutenza 212 or control 204 patches according to 11 allocation scheme Based on the

results from previous PHN studies randomization was stratified by gender and by cardiovascular risk to balance

the treatment groups

The study met its primary endpoint showing reduction in average pain from baseline to weeks 28 for

the Qutenza treated group over the control group The Qutenza group
demonstrated 32.0% decrease in pain

score result that was statistically significant in comparison to the 24.4% decrease in the control group

0.0 108 The superiority of Qutenza treatment was also demonstrated for the secondary assessment period of

weeks 212 in which the group treated with Qutenza demonstrated 32.3% decrease in pain while the control

group decreased by 25.0% 0.0172 In week by week comparison Qutenza subjects achieved statistically

significant mean reductions in NPRS scores by week 0.039 and at every subsequent week through

week 12

Cl 16 Phase Clinical Trial This trial was randomized double-blind controlled multicenter trial

performed at 52 sites in the United States Inclusion criteria included pain for at least six months following

resolution of shingles We enrolled 402 subjects and randomly assigned them to receive 60-minute application

of Qutenza 206 or control 196 patches according to 11 allocation scheme Based on the results

from the previous PHN studies randomization was stratified by gender and by cardiovascular risk to ensure

balance between the treatment groups

The study met its primary endpoint of showing reduction in average pain from baseline to weeks 28 for

the Qutenza treated group over the control group The Qutenza group demonstrated 29.6% decrease in pain

score result that was statistically significant in comparison to the 19.9% decrease in the control group

0.001 The superiority of Qutenza treatment was also demonstrated for the secondary assessment period of

weeks 212 in which the group treated with Qutenza demonstrated 29.9% decrease in pain while the control

group decreased by 20.4% 0.0016 In week-by-week comparison Qutenza subjects achieved statistically

significant mean reductions in NPRS scores as early as week 0.043 and at every subsequent week

through week 12

Additional studies in PHN

C118 Phase Clinical TrialSafety This study was multicenter open-label one year safety study of

Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in patients with PHN or HIV-DSP The primary

objective of this study was to assess the safety of up to four repeated applications of Qutenza for the treatment of

PHN and HI V-DSP The study enrolled total of 106 patients 54 PHN and 52 HIV-DSP Qutenza treatments

were generally well tolerated with greater than 98% of the subjects completing the prescribed duration of

treatment We believe the study demonstrated that Qutenza was not associated with increasing toxicity following

multiple treatment cycles Further clinical assessments suggested no impairment of protective nerve function

such as the ability to feel
pressure or heat over the one year study period
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CilO Phase Clinical Trial In 2004 we completed 110 Phase trial of 155 PHN patients Unlike our

C117 and Cl 16 trials and our earlier Phase trials in PHN this study only required subjects to have had pain for

at least three months following resolution of their shingles rash rather than six months Subjects treated with

Qutenza experienced mean percent decrease in pain scores from baseline of approximately 37% compared to an

approximately 30% decrease in the control group As result of this higher than anticipated control group

response this study did not meet its primary endpoint In week-by-week comparison an improvement over

time was observed in the control group suggesting spontaneous improvement may have occurred and

contributed to the unexpectedly high control group response Spontaneous improvement of PHN during the first

three to six months has been reported in scientific literature An analysis not specified in the protocol was

performed evaluating subjects with PHN for at least six months This analysis demonstrated significantly greater

reductions in pain in Qutenza treated patients compared to control Based on the results of this study we revised

the inclusion criteria for our subsequent PHN clinical trials to include subjects with pain for at least six months

post-shingles resolution

C108 Phase 2/3 Clinical Trial In 2004 we completed 108 299 patient randomized double-blind

12-week controlled dose-finding study of Qutenza for PHN The primary objective of this study was to assess

the efficacy safety and tolerability of Qutenza administered at three different dose levels 30- 60- and

90-minutes for the treatment of PHN Pain scores during weeks 28 following 30- 60- and 90-minute Qutenza

treatments were similar with patients pain scores declining approximately 25% to 28% This study did not meet

its primary endpoint Compared with the control group pain scores only the 90-minute dose group demonstrated

mean percent pain score decrease from baseline that reached statistical significance 0.044 In study 108

gender imbalance was noted between the individual dose
groups

with more males being assigned to the

60-minute Qutenza group than in the other treatment groups To adjust for this imbalance gender-stratified

analysis not specified in the protocol was performed The results of this analysis demonstrated significant

reductions in pain in both the 90- and 60-minute Qutenza dose groups 0.05 suggesting that the primary

analysis of this study was confounded by the imbalance in gender in the 60-minute dose group Based on the

results of this study we modified our clinical trial analysis plans in subsequent PHN clinical trials to include

gender-stratification analysis that accounts for potential gender imbalances in treatment groups

The 108 studys open-label extension phase was terminated prior to completion after the data from the

double-blind portion of the study were unblinded During the open-label extension subjects could receive up to

three Qutenza treatments no more frequently than
every

12 weeks Of the 299 subjects 206 69%received one

or more open-label Qutenza treatments Treatment was generally well tolerated There were no observed safety

concerns with subjects receiving up to four Qutenza treatments

C102 Phase Clinical Trial In 102 Phase trial we demonstrated that single 60-minute treatment

with Qutenza was feasible in subjects with PHN appeared to be well tolerated and was associated with

reduction in PHN pain over 28-day period C106 an open-label extension of C102 suggested that single

60-minute Qutenza treatment is associated with reduction in PHN pain over 12-week period and that

treatment appeared to be well-tolerated when administered up to four times over the course of one year

Painful HI V-Distal Sensory Polyneuropathy

We have conducted two controlled studies an open-label extension study and an open-label long-term

safety study evaluating the effect of Qutenza in subjects with HIV-DSP Overall 632 subjects have received

Qutenza in these studies with over 1000 Qutenza treatments being administered

Background on HIV-DSP HIV-DSP is caused primarily by three factors direct activation of cells known as

sensory neurons by the HIV virus the immune systems fight against the infection and the drugs administered to

treat HIV Painful HIV-DSP is characterized by significant pain in the feet and hands
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Potential Market According to Frost Sullivan neuropathic pain is common neurological complication

of antiretroviral treatments of HIV and affects approximately 15% of the HIV infected community According to

the CDC in 2005 the estimated number of AIDS diagnosis in the United States and dependent areas was

984155 There are currently no specific treatments approved in the United States or Europe for HIV-DSP

Estimate as to the number of people with HIV-DSP in the United States vary from under 200000 to nearly

300000 According to The Mattson Jack Group 2007 there are approximately 270000 and 136000 people with

HIV-DSP in the United States and in the United Kingdom France Germany Italy and Spain combined

respectively

Clinical Trial Results

Cl 19 Phase Clinical Trial In February 2008 we completed randomized double-blind controlled trial

performed at 77 sites in the United States Canada Australia and the United Kingdom Inclusion criteria included

pain due to HIV-DSP or neurotoxic antiretroviral drug exposure for at least two months and average NPRS

scores during the screening period of three to nine inclusive The primary objective of this study was to assess

efficacy safety and tolerability of two doses of Qutenza 30- and 60-minute applications over the 12-week study

period The primary efficacy assessment was the change in average pain from baseline in weeks 212 We

enrolled 494 subjects and randomly assigned them to receive either 30minute or 60minute application of

Qutenza or control patches according to 21 allocation scheme for each dose

Study C119 did not meet its primary endpoint Overall there was 29.5% reduction in pain in the Qutenza

treatment group result that was consistent with what we have observed in other Qutenza studies The control

group reported 24.6% reduction in pain from baseline control group response greater than we observed in our

prior HIV-DSP Phase study The p-value for this comparison wasp 0.1 For the individual dose groups the

30-minute Qutenza group achieved 26.1% reduction in pain from baseline compared to the 30-minute control

group which reported 19.1% reduction in pain The p-value for this comparison was 0.1 The 60-minute

dose group reported 32.8% reduction in pain from baseline however the 60-minute control group reported

30.1% reduction in pain 0.5

C107 Phase Clinical Trial In 2005 we completed randomized double-blind controlled dose finding

study of Qutenza for the treatment of HIV-DSP performed at 32 sites in the United States The primary objective

of this study was to assess efficacy safety and tolerability of Qutenza Efficacy was measured in terms of

change in average pain from baseline to weeks 212 The study consisted of 12-week randomized

double-blind controlled phase and 40-week open-label extension Three different dose levels 30- 60- and

90-minute applications were evaluated together and then each dose level was evaluated individually The study

also provided information about the efficacy safety and tolerability of repeated treatment with Qutenza over one

year total of 307 subjects were enrolled at 32 clinical sites in the United States divided approximately equally

among the 30- 60- and 90-minute dose levels with three patients treated with Qutenza for every one subject

treated with the control

The results of the study demonstrated that in the aggregate across all active treatment groups Qutenza

significantly reduced pain in subjects with HIV-DSP compared to the control group Subjects treated with

Qutenza demonstrated mean reduction in pain score from baseline of 22.8% that was statistically greater than

the 10.7% decrease in the control group 0.0026

Among the individual dose groups the 90-minute Qutenza group
demonstrated mean reduction in pain of

24.7% that was significantly greater than the decrease of 10.7% reported by the control group 0.005 The

60-minute Qutenza group also demonstrated greater reduction in pain scores of 15.8% but the difference from

control was not statisticaHy significant The 30-minute Qutenza group
had mean percent decrease from baseline

of 27.7% which was similar to the pain reduction reported for the 90-minute Qutenza group 0.0007 The

effect of treatment was maintained for up to 12 weeks with the Qutenza group demonstrating significantly

greater pain reduction compared to the control group during the second week and at each subsequent week
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through week 12 Among several secondary measures of pain relief all three doses showed meaningful

improvement compared to control This study demonstrated that treatment with Qutenza was generally well

tolerated single Qutenza treatment provided stable reduction in pain over 12-week period Although the

pre-specified statistical testing of the primary analysis stopped after the 60-minute dose was found not to have

reached statistical significance the data from all the active dosing groups combined from this study including

evaluation of secondary endpoints support the conclusion that all the Qutenza doses tested 30- 60- and

90-minute provided pain relief in subjects with HIV-DSP Repeated treatments for up to one year in an open-

label efficacy study appeared to have been equally efficacious generally well tolerated and without cumulative

toxicity

C18 Phase Clinical TrialSafety This study was multicenter open-label trial of Qutenza for the

treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in patients with HIV-DSP or PHN The primary objective of this study

was to assess the safety of up to four repeated applications of Qutenza for the treatment of HIV-DSP and PHN
The study enrolled total of 106 patients 54 HIV-DSP and 54 PHN Qutenza treatments were generally well

tolerated with greater than 98% of subjects completing the prescribed duration of treatment We believe the study

demonstrated that Qutenza was not associated with increasing toxicity following multiple treatment cycles

Further clinical assessments suggested no impairment of protective nerve function such as the ability to feel

pressure or heat over the one year study period

Prior Clinical Experience In 2003 we completed 109 an open-label pilot study of high-concentration

capsaicin patches in the treatment of HIV-DSP The primary objective of this study was to obtain preliminary

information on the efficacy safety and tolerability of Qutenza in subjects with HIV-DSP This Phase

multicenter open-label trial enrolled 12 subjects at three clinical sites in the United States Subjects received

single 60-minute treatment with Qutenza and were followed for 12 weeks This study demonstrated that

treatment with Qutenza was feasible and was generally well-tolerated The study also provided preliminary

evidence of efficacy indicating that Qutenza could reduce pain associated with HIV-DSP for 12 weeks after

treatment

Painful Diabetic Neuropathy

Background on PDN PDN is caused by injury to the sensory nerves which arises from the toxic effects of

some glucose metabolites and damage to blood vessels associated with nerves The condition causes progressive

pain or loss of feeling in the toes feet legs hands and arms Like HIV-DSP PDN is typically first felt as pain in

the feet and hands

Potential Market The CDC estimates that 20.8 million people in the United States suffered from diabetes

of which it is estimated by Jam that 6.0 million suffered from some form of neuropathy The number of PDN
sufferers in the United States is currently estimated by Jam to be 3.0 million According to The Mattson Jack

Group there are approximately 2.85 million people with PDN in the United Kingdom France Germany Italy

and Spain combined

Clinical Trial Results

Phase 2a Clinical Trial Description In 2004 we completed Cl 11 randomized open-label multicenter

evaluation of the tolerability of treatment with Qutenza in conjunction with pre-patch topical application of one

of three lidocaine 4%-based local anesthetic products The study enrolled 25 subjects with PHN 91 subjects with

PDN and subject with HIV-DSP Tolerability of the procedure was similar among all topical anesthetics tested

Preliminary efficacy data were obtained for the PHN group and the PDN group PHN subjects experienced

27.7% reduction in pain over weeks through 12 pain was reduced by 31.4% in PDN subjects Our experience

in Clii suggests that neuropathies of the feet such as PDN and HIV-DSP regardless of the underlying disease

may respond similarly to treatment with Qutenza
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NGX-1998Liquid High Concentration Topical Capsaicin

We are developing liquid formulation of the same active ingredient in Qutenza for the treatment of

peripheral neuropathic pain as well as potentially for other chronic pain syndromes NGX-1998 is intended to

provide

Rapid Delivery Deliver capsaicin more rapidly into the skin than Qutenza without allowing significant

amounts to enter the bloodstream thereby potentially shortening the treatment procedure without

impacting the safety or efficacy profile By reducing treatment time larger base of physicians may be

willing to administer NGX-1998

Improved Comfort Reduce treatment-related discomfort We believe that the rapid delivery of

capsaicin may reduce the need for pre-treatment with local anesthetic as the extremely rapid skin

delivery of capsaicin could quickly inhibit the activity of nerve fibers

Expanded Indications The liquid formulation can be applied to many places on the body that pose

challenge for patch formulation expanding the potential indications to include such pain syndromes

as arthritis vulvodynia and oral mucositis

An IND was filed for NGX- 1998 in June 2008 under which we have conducted one Phase study to

evaluate potential control formulations for future controlled clinical studies In addition NGX-1998 has been

evaluated in two Phase clinical studies under an exploratory IND In one study we tested multiple liquid

capsaicin formulations in order to identify those with the highest surrogate efficacy and tolerability

characteristics second study involving 30 healthy volunteers evaluated the effect of NGX-1998 on epidermal

nerve fiber density which we believe may be surrogate measure of efficacy Each volunteer was treated with

NGX-l998 for 15 and 25 minutes as well as 60-minute application of Qutenza Epidermal nerve fiber density

was measured by punch biopsy seven days after treatment for the treated areas and for one placebo treated area

from each volunteer that was taken as control In addition the study evaluated treatment related discomfort at

each of the treatment times Results of the study indicate that each of the three NGX-1998 treatment times

produced comparable nerve fiber density reduction as that observed following 60-minute application of

Qutenza and all groups
showed statistically significant reduction in nerve fiber density compared to control

The study also indicated significant reduction in treatment related discomfort between all of the NGX-1998

treatment groups and Qutenza

We are currently evaluating the timing of entering this product candidate into Phase development

Acetaminophen Prodrug CandidatesPreclinical Program

Acetaminophen first approved by the FDA for marketing in the United States in 1955 is the most widely used

drug for pain relief and the reduction of fever in the United States and is currently available in numerous

pharmaceutical products Acetaminophen is often perceived to be safer than other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory

drugs or NSAIDs Although acetaminophen is used widely in over the counter and some oral prescription products

two major limitations exist regarding its use First due to the intrinsic low solubility of acetaminophen its ability to

be used in injected or infused formulations is significantly impacted limiting non-orally administered
usage

of

acetaminophen e.g for post-operative pain Second is acetaminophen-induced liver toxicity which is the most

common cause of acute liver failure in the United States prompting label requirements which were enacted by the

FDA in 2006 regarding the potential for liver damage We believe that we have addressed these two limitations

through the discovery of novel prodrugs of acetaminophen

Acetaminophen in injectable or intravenous formulations are available in the European Union and are

marketed by Bristol-Myers Squib under the tradename Perfalgan Such acetaminophen formulations require

15-minute 100 mL infusion as these formulations provide only 10 mg of acetaminophen per mL due to

acetaminophen intrinsic low solubility Despite this inconvenient dosing requirement Perfalgan has become the

market-leading injectable analgesic in the European Union In the United States this same formulation has been

licensed by and is under development by Cadence Pharmaceuticals under the trade name Acetavance
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To address the low water solubility of acetaminophen we have designed NGX-9674 and NGX-5752 which

are novel prodrugs of acetaminophen Preliminary data from our pre-clinical studies indicates that these prodrugs

are approximately 10 times more soluble in water than acetaminophen

To address safety concerns regarding acetaminophen use specifically the potential for liver damage we
have developed NGX- 1576 novel prodrug which couples acetaminophen to molecule known to prevent

acetaminophen induced-liver toxicity We have evaluated NGX-1576 in preclinical studies including in animal

models One such study in mice indicated that certain dose levels of NGX- 1576 produce less liver-toxicity than

equivalent doses of acetaminophen with pharmacokinetic data also showing equivalent blood levels between

NGX- 1576 and acetaminophen treated mice

NGX-6052 Opioid Analgesic Prodrug Preclinical Program

Opioid analgesics mainstay of pain management are used to manage pain associated with wide variety

of acute and chronic conditions However despite their effectiveness and widespread use pain management with

opioids presents many well-recognized challenges Acute adverse effects associated with opioid administration

include nausea vomiting itching and the potential for respiratory depression In addition constipation and bowel

dysfunction are commonly experienced Actions in the central nervous system induce sedation dizziness and

cognitive impairment Finally another highly visible issue is the potential for opioid abuse Many companies

have developed or are developing formulations in an attempt to alleviate the adverse side effects or the abuse

potential of commonly used opioid analgesics

NeurogesX has designed and synthesized prodrugs of number of commonly prescribed opioid analgesics

We believe that our novel compounds which are prodrugs of existing well known and widely used opioids may
have inherent abuse resistance the potential for decreased gastro-intestinal side effects for oral dosage forms and

facilitate bolus dosing while potentially limiting peak systemic exposure from these injected or infused

compounds Our most advanced compound NGX-6052 has been evaluated in vitro and in vivo proof-of-concept

studies

Manufacturing

We do not own facilities for the manufacture of any products or product candidates We utilize contract

manufacturers to produce clinical supplies of the active ingredient in Qutenza synthetic capsaicin as well as the

Qutenza dermal patch the associated cleansing gel and the fully assembled Qutenza treatment kit Although we
intend to continue to rely on contract manufacturers to produce our products for both clinical and commercial

supplies we oversee the production of the Qutenza treatment kit and each of its components

There are multiple primary raw material components of our synthetic capsaicin all but one is generally

available from more than one supplier We currently obtain our supplies of synthetic capsaicin from Formosa

Laboratories in Taiwan who obtains the raw materials from qualified suppliers While Formosa is our sole

supplier currently other potential suppliers exist and we may qualify second source of supply after initial

market approval

We have only one supplier for our clinical and commercial supply of Qutenza We have engaged LTS
Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG or LTS in Germany as the exclusive manufacturer to formulate the active

ingredient from powder into dermal patch Under the terms of our clinical supply development and license

agreement and our commercial supply and license agreement with LTS we are obligated to purchase all of our

Qutenza clinical and commercial supply requirements from LTS The terms of our clinical supply development

and license agreement with LTS will remain in effect subject to bi-annual renewals at our election the current

renewal period expires in June 2010 until we obtain regulatory approval for and begin to commercialize

Qutenza in particular territory at which time we will obtain our supply of Qutenza for that territory under the

commercial supply and license agreement The commercial supply and license agreement establishes standard

commercial terms on which product will be supplied as well as continuing the licenses initially granted in the
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clinical supply agreement The term of the commercial supply and license agreement expires 10 years from the

delivery of product first ordered under the agreement and automatically renews for additional two year terms

unless terminated by either party with two years prior written notice

For our clinical and commercial supply of our cleansing gel we have engaged Contract Pharmaceuticals

Limited as the manufacturer While we currently have only one supplier for the cleansing gel we believe there

are number of potential suppliers and intend to evaluate the need for qualifying second source of supply if we

commercialize Qutenza

In Europe we have engaged Grenzach Produktions GmbH or Grenzach to prepare
the commercial product

package containing the Qutenza patch and cleansing gel Grenzach will also assemble the Qutenza treatment kit

containing components such as nitrile gloves gauze package insert including sourcing all component parts

packaging and preparation for distribution In the United States we intend to engage at least one company to

carry out the treatment kit assembly process and we believe there are numerous potential candidates to fill this

role

If we obtain FDA approval or approval outside the United States for our product candidates including

Qutenza we plan to rely on contract manufacturers to produce sufficient quantities for large scale

commercialization These contract manufacturers will be subject to extensive governmental regulation including

initial site inspections to gain market approval and periodic ongoing inspections Regulatory authorities in the

markets that we intend to serve require that drugs be manufactured packaged and labeled in conformity with

current Good Manufacturing Practices or cGMPs In this regard we plan to engage only contract manufacturers

who have the capability to manufacture drug products in compliance with cGMPs in bulk quantities for

commercialization

Sales Marketing and Distribution

If Qutenza receives marketing approval from the FDA we currently plan to build our own U.S sales force

to market Qutenza directly to approximately 5000 pain centers and 10000 physicians in the United States who

prescribe majority of neuropathic pain medications We anticipate that we would initially launch Qutenza on

limited basis targeting major population centers in the United States with high incidence rates of PHN We plan

to fund expansion of our sales efforts for Qutenza outside of the initially targeted markets if additional financial

resources become available We are also evaluating the potential to launch Qutenza in the United States under

marketing or commercial partnerships with other companies which may enable us to launch Qutenza more

broadly in the United States

For the European Union we are currently in discussions for potential commercial partnership Outside of

the United States and the European Union and subject to marketing approval in the relevant countries we intend

to engage sales marketing and distribution partners

Competition

If Qutenza receives marketing approval it will compete against and may be used in combination with

well-established products currently used both on and off-label in our target indications The most directly

competitive currently marketed products in the United States are Lidoderm an FDA-approved 5% lidocaine

topical patch for the treatment of PHN marketed by Endo Pharmaceuticals and Lyrica an oral anti-convulsant

marketed by Pfizer for use in the treatment of PHN In addition to these branded drugs the FDA has approved

gabapentin Neurontin for use in the treatment of PHN Pfizer has also received FDA approval of Lyrica for the

treatment of PDN fibromyalgia and epilepsy indications The FDA has approved Cymbalta from Eli Lilly for use

in the treatment of PDN general anxiety disorder and depression

By the time we are able to commercialize product candidate the competition and potential competition

may be greaterand more direct There are many other companies working to develop new drugs and other
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therapies to treat pain in general and neuropathic pain in particular including GlaxoSmithKline Abbott

Laboratories Depomed Inc Newron Pharmaceuticals S.p.A Novartis AG UCB S.A and Eli Lilly Some of

the compounds in development by such companies are already marketed for other indications such as depression

and epilepsy Other companies are focusing on new compounds or reformulations of existing compounds such as

sustained release gabapentin

We expect to compete on among other things the safety and efficacy of our products Competing

successfully will depend on our continued ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel to

identify secure the rights to and develop pharmaceutical products and compounds and to exploit these products

and compounds commercially before others are able to develop competitive products In addition our ability to

compete may be affected because insurers and other third-party payors
in some cases seek to encourage the use

of generic products making branded products less attractive from cost perspective to buyers

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success will depend in part on our ability to protect Qutenza and future products and product candidates

by obtaining and maintaining strong proprietary position both in the United States and in other countries To

develop and maintain our proprietary position we will rely on patent protection regulatory protection trade

secrets know-how continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities

The commercial success if any of Qutenza depends in part on device patent granted in the United States

certain European Union countries and Hong Kong The device patent covers the use of high-concentration

capsaicin dermal patch for the treatment of neuropathic pain We exclusively license these patents as well as

related patent granted in Canada from the University of California We do not currently own and do not have

rights under this license
agreement to any issued patents that cover Qutenza outside of the United States Canada

certain European Union countries and Hong Kong

We license method patent granted in the United States from the University of California concerning the

use of high-concentration capsaicin delivery for the treatment of neuropathic pain Two of the three inventors

named in the method patent did not assign their patent rights to the University of California As result our

rights under this patent are non-exclusive Anesiva company also focused on the development and

commercialization of treatments for pain has licensed the right to use the technology under the method patent

from one of the non-assigning inventors There can be no assurances that other entities will not similarly obtain

rights to use the technology under the method patent If other entities license the right to use this patent we may
face more products competitive with Qutenza and our business will suffer

Under the terms of our license agreement with the University of California we will be required to pay

royalties on net sales of the licensed product up to maximum of $1.0 million per annum as well as percentage

of upfront and milestone payments resulting from the sublicense of our rights under the agreement We are also

required to make three annual cash payments commencing in 2008 with an aggregate amount of approximately

$12000

We currently license the rights from LTS to three pending U.S patent applications patents granted in

certain countries of Europe and pending patent applications in Europe Canada and other foreign countries each

filed and prosecuted by LTS These patent applications seek to cover microreservoir patch which includes the

type of patch used in Qutenza We license the rights to these patents and patent applications under January

2007 exclusive commercial supply and license agreement with LTS which is subject to certain purchase and

other obligations We will be required to pay LTS royalties on net sales of the licensed product in addition to

one-time payment of 100000 if Qutenza is approved for marketing in certain territories

We have also filed several patent applications in the United States and certain other countries including the

European Union relating to kits methods and formulations to remove residual capsaicin left on the skin after
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topical application of capsaicin as well as number of patent applications which deal with differing formulations

and delivery models of capsaicin at varying concentrations including an application that supports our NGX- 1998

program We have also filed patent applications related to our acetaminophen prodrugs and opioid prodrug

platform which contain both composition and method claims We have also licensed an issued patent which we

believe to be relevant to our opioid prodrug platform

The patent positions of pharmaceutical companies like us are generally uncertain and involve complex legal

scientific and factual questions In addition the coverage claimed in patent application can be significantly

reduced before the patent is issued Consequently we do not know whether any of the products or product

candidates we acquire or license will result in the issuance of patents or if any patents are issued whether they

will provide significant proprietary protection or will be circumvented or challenged and found to be

unenforceable or invalid For example one or more of the inventors named in the method patent which we have

licensed from the University of California may assert claim of inventorship rights to the device patent also

licensed from the University of California which could result in our loss of exclusive use of this patent

Although we do not believe these individuals are co-inventors there can be no assurance that we would prevail if

such claim were asserted The absence of exclusive rights to utilize such patent exposes us to greater risk of

direct competition and could materially harm our business In addition other parties may own patent rights that

might be infringed by our products or other activities For example in 2005 and again in 2007 Winston

Laboratories informed us of their U.S patent related to ciscapsaicin and suggested that our synthetic capsaicin

formulation could infringe this patent We responded by denying any infringement We believe that our products

if commercialized will not infringe the Winston patent
which is due to expire in 2009 but may be extended

under certain circumstances In limited instances patent applications in the United States and certain other

jurisdictions are maintained in secrecy until patents issue and since publication of discoveries in the scientific or

patent literature often lags behind actual discoveries we cannot be certain of the priority of inventions covered

by pending patent applications Moreover we may have to participate in interference proceedings
declared by the

U.S Patent and Trademark Office to determine priority of invention or in opposition proceedings in foreign

patent office any of which could result in substantial cost to us even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us

There can be no assurance that court of competent jurisdiction would hold the patents if issued valid An

adverse outcome could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties require disputed rights to be licensed

from third parties or require us to cease using such technology To the extent prudent we intend to bring

litigation against third parties that we believe are infringing our patents We also rely on trade secret protection

for our confidential and proprietary information No assurance can be given that others will not independently

develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade

secrets or disclose such technology or that we can meaningfully protect our trade secrets However we believe

that the substantial costs and resources required to develop technological innovations will help us protect our

products

It is our policy to require our employees consultants contractors or scientific and other advisors to execute

confidentiality agreements upon the commencement of employment or consulting relationships with us These

agreements provide that all confidential information developed or made known to the individual during the

course of the individuals relationship with us is to be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties except

in specific circumstances These agreements provide that all inventions related to our business that are conceived

by the individual during the course of our relationship shall be our exclusive property There can be no

assurance however that these agreements will provide meaningful protection or adequate remedies for our trade

secrets in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of such information

Government Regulation

United States

Regulation by governmental
authorities in the United States and other countries is significant factor in the

development manufacture and marketing of pharmaceuticals All of our product candidates require regulatory

approval by governmental agencies prior to commercialization In particular our products candidates are subject
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to rigorous preclinical testing and clinical trials and other premarketing approval requirements by the FDA and

regulatory authorities in other countries Various federal state and foreign statutes and regulations govern or

affect the manufacturing safety labeling storage record-keeping and marketing of pharmaceutical products

The lengthy process of seeking required approvals and the continuing need for compliance with applicable

statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial resources When and if regulatory approval is

obtained for any of our product candidates the approval may be limited in scope which may significantly limit

the indicated uses for which our product candidates may be marketed promoted and advertised Additionally

approval may be conditioned upon our agreement to conduct further studies which could either delay our

planned product launch and/or significantly increase our costs in order to comply with these commitments

Further approved pharmaceuticals and manufacturers are subject to ongoing review and discovery of previously

unknown problems that may result in restrictions on the manufacture sale or use of approved pharmaceuticals or

in their withdrawal from the market

Preclinical Studies

Before testing any compounds with potential therapeutic value in human subjects in the United States

stringent governmental requirements for preclinical data must be satisfied Preclinical testing includes both in

vitro and in vivo laboratory evaluation and characterization of the safety and efficacy of drug and its

formulation Preclinical testing results obtained from these studies including tests in several animal species are

submitted to the FDA as part of an investigational new drug application or IND and are reviewed by the FDA
prior to the commencement of human clinical trials These preclinical data must provide an adequate basis for

evaluating both the safety and the scientific rationale for the initial trials in human volunteers

Clinical Trials

If company wants to conduct clinical trials in the United States to test new drug in humans an IND must be

prepared and submitted with the FDA The IND becomes effective if not rejected or put on clinical hold by the

FDA within 30 days of filing the application In addition an Institutional Review Board must review and
approve

the trial protocol and monitor the trial on an ongoing basis The FDA may at any time during the 30-day review

period or at any
time thereafter impose clinical hold on proposed or ongoing clinical trials If the FDA imposes

clinical hold clinical trials cannot commence or recommence without FDA authorization and then only under terms

authorized by the FDA The IND application process can result in substantial delay and expense

Clinical Trial Phases

Clinical trials typically are conducted in three sequential phases Phases and with Phase trials

potentially conducted after marketing approval These phases may be compressed may overlap or may be

omitted in some circumstances

Phase clinical trials After an IND becomes effective Phase human clinical trials can begin These

trials evaluate drugs safety profile and the range of safe dosages that can be administered to healthy

volunteers or patients including the maximum tolerated dose that can be given to trial subject

Phase trials also determine how drug is absorbed distributed metabolized and excreted by the

body and duration of its action

Phase clinical trials Phase clinical trials are generally designed to establish the optimal dose to

evaluate the potential effectiveness of the drug in patients who have the target disease or condition and

to further ascertain the safety of the drug at the dosage given in larger patient population

Phase clinical trials In Phase clinical trials the drug is usually tested in controlled randomized

trial comparing the investigational new drug to control which may be an approved form of therapy
in an expanded and well-defined patient population and at multiple clinical sites The goal of these

trials is to obtain definitive statistical evidence of safety and effectiveness of the investigational new

drug regime as compared to control in defined patient populations with given disease and stage of

illness
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Additionally the Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007 or FDAAA requires that all

controlled clinical trials conducted for our drug candidates be included in clinical trials registry database that is

available and accessible to the public through the internet If we fail to properly participate in the clinical trial

database registry we would be subject to significant civil monetary penalties

Manufacturing Process Development

In order to gain marketing approval product candidates manufacturing process must be evaluated through

lengthy and detailed review process to ensure that it can be consistently manufactured to meet predetermined

specifications robust manufacturing process must be developed and validated for both the active ingredient

and the formulated product candidate which ensures that the product can be reproducibly manufactured at the

intended commercial scale Appropriate specifications must be developed and approved to ensure that the quality

and safety of the product can be assured Analytical methods used for quality control testing must be developed

and validated to ensure each lot of product meets the approved specifications Stability testing of active

ingredient and drug product must be performed to provide evidence that the product remains stable over time and

that shelf life for the product can be established The FDA reviews the adequacy of the manufacturing process

specifications quality control testing and stability during the NDA application process In addition an inspection

of the manufacturing site is performed to ensure the adequacy of the manufacturing facility to meet both the

technical manufacturing requirements and compliance to current good manufacturing practices or cGMP

regulations

New Drug Application

After completion of clinical trials if there is substantial evidence that the drug is both safe and effective an

NDA is prepared and submitted for the FDA to review The NDA must contain all of the essential information on

the drug gathered to that date including data from preclinical studies and clinical trials and the content and

format of an NDA must conform with all FDA regulations and guidelines In addition the FDA generally

requires successful completion of at least two adequate and well-controlled Phase clinical trials to gain

marketing approval for an indication Accordingly the preparation and submission of an NDA is an expensive

and major undertaking

The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted before it accepts them for filing and may request additional

information from the sponsor rather than accepting an NDA for filing In such an event the NDA must be

submitted with the additional information and again is subject to review before filing Once the submission is

accepted for filing the FDA begins an in-depth review of the NDA By law the FDA has 180 days in which to

review the NDA and respond to the applicant Under the goals and policies agreed to by the FDA under PDUFA

IV the FDA has 10 months from the submission date in which to complete its initial review of standard NDA

and respond to the applicant and six months from the submission date for priority NDA The FDA may meet its

PDUFA requirements by completing its initial review within the specified time-frames 90% of the time

Additionally the FDA does not always meet the PDUFA goal dates for standard or priority NDAs The review

process is often significantly extended as result of FDA requests for additional information and clarification

The FDA may refer the application to an appropriate advisory committee typically panel of clinicians for

review evaluation and recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and the scope of any

approval The FDA is not bound by the recommendation but gives great weight to it Upon completion of the

FDA review of the NDA it issues either an approval letter or complete response letter complete response

letter may describe any activities which may be required to gain approval or may indicate that product

candidate is not approvable

The Hatch- Waxman Act

Under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 known as the Hatch-Waxman

Act newly approved drugs may benefit from statutory period of non-patent data exclusivity in the United
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States The Hatch-Waxman Act provides years of data exclusivity to the first applicant to gain approval of an

NDA under Section 505b of the Food Drug and Cosmetic Act for new chemical entity drug qualifies as

new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved any other drug containing the same active

ingredient Hatch-Waxman provides data exclusivity by prohibiting abbreviated new drug applications or

ANDAs and 505b2 applications which are marketing applications where the applicant does not own or have

legal right of reference to all the data required for approval to be submitted by another company for another

version of such drug during the exclusivity period Protection under Hatch-Waxman will not prevent the filing or

approval of full NDA under Section 505b1 for the same active ingredient although the applicant would be

required to conduct its own adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate safety and effectiveness

Our NDA for Qutenza was filed as 505b2 application as our application referenced certain publicly

available pre-clinical data regarding capsaicin Therefore if another product containing the same active

ingredient as Qutenza is approved before Qutenza then our potential approval could be delayed by years

However in such event we believe we can petition the FDA to modify our application to be under 505bl
While such petition would require the approval and there can be no assurance that such petition would be

granted by the FDA we believe that reference to third party information may be removed from our application

and that our proprietary pre-clinical data would be sufficient to support an NDA

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides three years of data exclusivity for the approval of supplemental

NDAs for new indications dosages or strengths of an existing drug if new clinical investigations are essential to

the approval This three-year exclusivity covers only the changes associated with the supplemental NDA and

does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs for drugs containing the original active ingredient

The Hatch-Waxman Act also permits patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for patent

term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review process However patent extension cannot

extend the remaining term of patent beyond total of 14 years The patent term restoration period is generally

one-half the time between the effective date of an IND and the submission date of an NDA plus the time

between the submission date of an NDA and the approval of that application Only one patent applicable to an

approved drug is eligible for the extension and it must be applied for prior to expiration of the patent The U.S
Patent and Trademark Office in consultation with the FDA reviews and

approves the application for patent term

extension We are considering applying for patent term extension for one of our current patents associated with

Qutenza

Orphan Drug Designation

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat rare disease or condition that affects

fewer than 200000 individuals in the United States Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting

an NDA If the FDA grants orphan drug designation the generic identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential

orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in or

shorten the duration of the regulatory review and approval process If product that has orphan drug designation

subsequently receives FDA approval for the indication for which it has such designation the product is entitled to

orphan exclusivity which means the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the

same indication except in very limited circumstances for up to seven years after receiving FDA approval

We were granted orphan status for the use of capsaicin to treat painful HIV-associated neuropathy in May
2003 When appropriate we intend to seek orphan status for additional indications and products We cannot

predict the ultimate impact if any of orphan status on the timing or likelihood of FDA approval on any of our

potential products

Fast Track Designation and Priority Review

The FDAs fast track program is intended to facilitate the development and expedite the review of drugs that

are intended for the treatment of serious or life-threatening condition for which there is no effective treatment
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and which demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for their condition We were granted fast

track designation of Qutenza for treatment of HIV-DSP in July 2004 When appropriate we intend to seek

additional fast track designations for our products although we did not seek such designation for our NDA for

Qutenza in PHN We cannot predict the ultimate impact if any of the fast track process on the timing or

likelihood of FDA approval on any of our potential products

In some cases after an NDA has been accepted for review by the FDA the FDA may designate product

for priority review product is eligible for priority review or review within targeted six-month time frame

from the time an NDA is accepted for filing if the product provides significant improvement compared to

marketed products in the treatment diagnosis or prevention of disease fast-track designated product

generally meets the FDA criteria for priority review We cannot guarantee any of our products will receive

priority review designation or if priority designation is received that review or approval will be faster than

conventional FDA procedures

if we seek approval for HIV-DSP from the FDA we intend to seek and we believe that we may be granted

priority review for Qutenza in the treatment of HIV-DSP as there are currently no approved drugs for the

treatment of this disease However there can be no assurance that we will be granted priority review

Other Regulatory Requirements

Any products we manufacture or distribute under FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing

regulation by the FDA including record-keeping requirements and reporting of adverse experiences with the

products Drug manufacturers and their subcontractors are required to register with the FDA and where

appropriate state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and state agencies

for compliance with cGMP regulations which impose procedural and documentation requirements upon us and

each third party manufacturer we utilize

The FDA closely regulates the marketing and promotion of drugs company can make only those claims

relating to safety and efficacy that are approved by the FDA Failure to comply with these requirements can

result in adverse publicity warning letters corrective advertising and potential civil and criminal penalties

Physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for uses that are not described in the products labeling and that

differ from those tested by us and approved by the FDA Such off-label uses are common across medical

specialties Physicians may believe that such off-label uses are the best treatment for many patients in varied

circumstances The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments The FDA

does however restrict manufacturers from communicating on the subject of off-label use

The FDAs policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted which could prevent

or delay regulatory approval of Qutenza and our future product candidates or approval of new indications for our

future products We cannot predict the likelihood nature or extent of adverse governmental regulations that

might arise from future legislative or administrative action either in the United States or abroad

European Union

Clinical Trials

In common with the United States the various phases of preclinical and clinical research in the European

Union are subject to significant regulatory controls The regulatory controls on clinical research in the European

Union are now largely harmonized following the implementation of the Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC or

CTD Compliance with the national implementations of the CTD has been mandatory from May 2004

However variations in the member state regimes continue to exist particularly in the small number of member

states that have yet to implement the CTD fully Clinical trials must be separately authorized in each European
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All member states currently require regulatory and independent ethics committee approval of interventional

clinical trials as well as informed consent and other measures to protect the interest of human subjects European

regulators and ethics committees also require the submission of adverse event reports during study and copy
of the final study report Procedures exist to suspend studies if necessary to protect the safety of subjects

Marketing Authorization

In the European Union approval of new medicinal products can be obtained through the mutual recognition

procedure or the centralized procedure The mutual recognition procedure entails initial assessment by the

national authorities of single member state and subsequent review by national authorities in other member
states based on the initial assessment The centralized procedure entails submission of single MAA to the

EMEA leading to an approval that is valid in all European Union member states Our MAA has been accepted

for review under the centralized procedure

Under the centralized procedure an MAA is submitted to the EMEA Two European Union member states

are appointed to conduct an initial evaluation of each MAA In the case of our MAA for Qutenza Portugal and

Hungary were appointed for the initial evaluation These countries each
prepare an assessment report which are

then used as the basis of scientific opinion of the CHMP Before the opinion is issued there is an opportunity

for the applicant to respond to questions and in most cases to make presentation to the CHMP If this opinion

is favorable it is sent to the European Commission which drafts decision After consulting with the member

states the European Commission adopts decision and grants marketing authorization which is valid

throughout the European Union and confers the same rights and obligations in each of the member states as

marketing authorization granted by that member state

In September 2007 we submitted MAA for Qutenza with the EMEA under the centralized procedure

seeking approval of Qutenza On March 19 2009 the CHMP issued positive opinion recommending the

approval of our MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults either

alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain In conjunction with issuing this recommendation

the CHMP requested us to perform certain clinical evaluations of Qutenza following approval We are currently

awaiting the European Commissions decision on the CHMP opinion process which normally takes

approximately 60 to 90 days If the European Commission issues marketing authorization in most European

Union member states product pricing for government sponsored health-care reimbursement must be negotiated or

for hospital-based products product pricing may be established directly with hospitals We believe this process

can take months or substantially longer to complete if at all

Data Exclusivity

For complete and independent applications for new active substances submitted after November 20 2005

European Union law provides data exclusivity period of eight years from initial authorization of the reference

product during which generic drug manufacturers cannot file abridged applications This is followed by an

additional two years data exclusivity during which generic applications may be submitted reviewed and

approved but during which generic drug manufacturers cannot place their product on the market The ten year

marketing protection may be extended by one year if new therapeutic indication is granted during the first eight

years since the initial marketing authorization and if it represents significant clinical benefit in comparison to

existing therapies These periods of exclusivity do not preclude court challenge by competitor attempting to

abridge the data and place generic product on the market at an earlier time

Other Regulatory Requirements

The holder of marketing authorization is subject to ongoing regulatory obligations including record

keeping requirements and adverse event reporting manufacturing compliance with cGMP and compliance with

rules and regulations governing advertising and promotion While the legal responsibility and liability of

marketing authorization holder or MAH cannot be delegated the MAH can delegate the performance of related

tasks to third parties provided that this delegation is appropriately documented
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We may hold marketing authorizations for our products in our own name or appoint an affiliate or

collaboration partner to hold the marketing authorization on our behalf Any failure by an MAH to comply with

ongoing regulatory obligations may result in regulatory action against the MAH and its approvals and ultimately

threaten our ability to commercialize our products

Approvals Outside of the United States and the European Union

We will also be subject to wide variety of foreign regulations governing the development manufacture

and marketing of our products Whether or not FDA approval or European marketing authorization has been

obtained approval of product by the comparable regulatory authorities of other foreign countries must still be

obtained prior to manufacturing or marketing the product in those countries The approval process
varies from

country to country and the time needed to secure approval may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA

approval or European marketing authorization We offer no assurance that clinical trials conducted in one

country will be accepted by other countries or that approval in one country will result in approval in any other

country

Third-Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls

General In the United States and elsewhere patients access to pharmaceutical products depends in

significant part on the coverage and reimbursement of product or service by third party payors such as

government programs private insurance plans and employers Third party payors increasingly are challenging

the medical necessity of and prices charged for medical products and services It will be time consuming and

expensive for us to go through the process of seeking reimbursement from Medicare Medicaid and private

payors We may be unable to achieve reimbursement from some payors
because they may not consider our

products to be reasonable and necessary or cost-effective Furthermore it is possible that even if payors are

willing to reimburse for our products the reimbursement levels may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our

products on competitive and profitable basis

In many foreign countries particularly the countries in the European Union the pricing of prescription

drugs is subject to direct governmental control and is influenced by drug reimbursement programs that employ

variety of price control mechanisms In the European Union governments influence the price of pharmaceutical

products through their pricing and reimbursement rules and control of national health care systems that fund

large part of the cost of such products to consumers The approach taken varies from country to country Some

jurisdictions operate positive and/or negative list systems under which products may only be marketed once

reimbursement price has been agreed Other member states allow companies to fix their own prices for

medicines but monitor and control company profits The downward pressure on health care costs in general

particularly prescription drugs has become very intense As result increasingly high barriers are being erected

to restrict the entry of new products as exemplified by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence in the

United Kingdom which evaluates the data supporting new medicines and passes reimbursement

recommendations to the government In addition in some countries cross-border imports from low-priced

markets parallel imports exert commercial pressure on pricing within country

In the United States there have been and we expect that there will continue to be number of federal and

state proposals to implement means by which the government can negotiate lower drug prices for Medicare and

Medicaid beneficiaries While we cannot predict whether such legislative bills will become law their enactment

could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Medicare Subject to obtaining required marketing approvals we plan to market Qutenza for use in the

treatment of PHN We expect that in the United States majority of the patients who are treated with Qutenza for

this indication will be Medicare beneficiaries CMS is the agency within the Department of Health and Human

Services that administers both the Medicare and Medicaid programs Because Qutenza is dermal patch which
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we expect will require administration by healthcare professional two elements of Medicare reimbursement

may be relevant to Qutenza the availability of reimbursement for services to administer Qutenza and the

availability of reimbursement for Qutenza itself

CMS has the authority not to cover particular products or services if it determines that they are not

reasonable and necessary for the treatment of Medicare beneficiaries CMS may make national coverage

determination or NCD for product which establishes on nationwide basis the indications that will be

covered and any restrictions or limitations However for most new drugs that are eligible for payment CMS
does not create an NCD We currently do not anticipate seeking an NCD for Qutenza However CMS or third

party may request an NCD independent of us If such request is made we can not assure you that such NCD will

contain favorable
coverage terms

If there is no NCD the local Medicare contractors that are responsible for administering the program on

state or regional basis have the discretion to deny coverage and reimbursement for the drug or issue local

coverage determination or LCD These LCDs can include both coverage criteria for the drug and frequency

limits for the administration of the drug The local contractors in different areas of the country may determine

that Qutenza should be treated like most patches and may deny coverage under Part or even if they allow

coverage may establish varying coverage criteria and frequency limits for Qutenza Furthermore overturning

restrictive LCDs in the various regions can be time-consuming and expensive process

We are currently evaluating various methods of gaining the most advantageous reimbursement scenario for

Qutenza We currently anticipate that we will seek reimbursement under Medicare Part As mentioned above

if Medicare
coverage for Qutenza is available CMS may determine to reimburse through one of two avenues

Part
coverage for physician-administered drugs or Part coverage for outpatient prescription drugs Under

Part coverage Medicare reimburses physicians for purchasing and administering drugs that meet the following

statutory requirements

The product is reasonable and necessary

The product is not usually self-administered

The product is administered in conjunction with physicians service and

The administering physician bills Medicare directly for the product

Currently topical products are considered usually self-administered therefore coverage under Part

would require specific determination that Qutenza differs from most topical products and should therefore be

covered under Part There can be no guarantee that we will obtain such determination For reasons discussed

below failure to obtain such determination could materially and adversely affect our revenue

Medicare payment for physician services related to the administration of Qutenza if any will be determined

according to prospectively set payment rate linked to procedure code established by the American Medical

Association These codes called Current Procedural Terminology or CPT describe the procedure performed
We believe that existing CPT codes are inadequate for our use and that specific code for Qutenza

administration may be required We currently plan to apply for specific CPT code At launch local Medicare

contractors will require claims to be submitted with an existing miscellaneous CPT code until such time as we
are granted specific CPT code Use of miscellaneous codes causes claims processing delays and may lead to

lower payments to physicians An alternative to seeking specific CPT code and the use of miscellaneous codes

in the interim we may pursue reimbursement of physician services associated with Qutenza treatment

procedure utilizing existing office visit codes such as evaluation and management services codes which have

established reimbursement amounts

Under Medicare Part reimbursement for Qutenza is currently limited to 106% of the manufacturers

average sales price as defined by statute and regulation CMS has been considering other changes to Medicare
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reimbursement that could result in lower payments for physician-administered drugs and Congress may also

consider legislation that would mandate lower reimbursement levels reduction in reimbursement levels could

materially and adversely affect our revenue

CMS may determine that Qutenza does not qualify for Part coverage and should instead be covered under

the Part outpatient prescription drug benefit Unlike Part Part reimburses only for the drug itself and does

not provide reimbursement for the physicians administration services Even though product is reimbursed

under Part local contractors may permit physicians to bill under Part for their administration services

Physicians may not consider Qutenza as attractive treatment option if it is reimbursed under Part instead of

Part In addition under Part there are multiple types of plans and numerous plan sponsors each with its own

formulary and product access requirements While CMS evaluates Part plans proposed formularies for

potentially discriminatory practices the plans have considerable discretion in establishing formularies

establishing tiered co-pay structures and placing prior authorization and other restrictions on the utilization of

specific products Moreover Part plan sponsors are permitted and encouraged to negotiate rebates with

manufacturers Revenue for Qutenza will be substantially affected by its formulary status on Part plans and the

rebates that Part plan sponsors are able to negotiate

Medicaid Most State Medicaid programs have established preferred drug lists or PDLs and the process

criteria and timeframe for obtaining placement on the PDL varies from State to State federal law establishes

minimum rebate currently 15.1% that manufacturer must pay for Medicaid utilization of brand-name

product and many States have established supplemental rebate programs as condition for including drug

product on PDL Submitting PDL application to each State will be time-consuming and expensive process

and it is not clear how many or which State programs will accept the applications Review times for these

applications can vary
from weeks to 14 months or more

Private Insurance Reimbursement Commercial insurers usually offer two types of benefits medical

benefits and pharmacy benefits In most private insurance plans physician-administered drugs are provided

under the medical benefit If private insurers decide to cover Qutenza they will reimburse for the drug and its

administration in variety of ways depending on the insurance plans policies employer and benefit manager

input and contracts with their physician network Like Medicare and Medicaid commercial insurers have the

authority to place coverage and utilization limits on physician-administered drugs Private insurers tend to adopt

reimbursement methodologies for product similar to those adopted by Medicare Revenue for Qutenza may be

materially and adversely affected if private payors make unfavorable reimbursement decisions or delay making

favorable reimbursement decisions

Employees

As of December 31 2008 we had 42 employees of which 26 work in research and development 14 work

in general and administrative and work in sales and marketing None of our employees are represented by

labor union or are the subject of collective bargaining agreement

Facilities

We lease approximately 26386 square feet of space
in our headquarters in San Mateo California under

lease that expires in July 2012 We have no laboratory research or manufacturing facilities

Form of Organization

We were incorporated in California as Advanced Analgesics Inc on May 28 1998 and changed our name

to NeurogesX Inc in September 2000 In February 2007 we reincorporated into Delaware
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Available Information

We file electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC our annual reports on Form

10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act The public may read or copy any materials

we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street NW Washington DC 20549 The

public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at

-800-SEC-0330 The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains
reports proxy and information statements

and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC The address of that site is

http/www.sec.gov

You may obtain free copy of our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 0-Q and current

reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports on the day of filing with the SEC on our website on the

World Wide Web at http//www.neurogesx.com or by contacting our corporate offices by calling 650-358-3300

Information contained on our website is not part of this report or any other report filed with the SEC

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our future operating results may vary substantially from anticipated results due to number offactors

many of which are beyond our control The following discussion highlights some of these factors and the possible

impact of these factors on future results of operations You should carefully consider these factors before making

an investment decision If any ofthefollowingfactors actually occur our business financial condition or results

of operations could be harmed In that case the price of our common stock could decline and you could

experience losses on your investment

Risks Related to our Business

Our success depends on our ability to obtain U.S regulatory approvalfor our lead product candidate

Qutenza

Our success depends substantially on obtaining regulatory approval for our most advanced product

candidate Qutenza dermal patch containing high concentration of synthetic capsaicin Regulatory approval

in the United States requires the completion of extensive non-clinical and clinical evaluation of product

candidate to demonstrate substantial evidence of safety and efficacy of the product candidate as well as

development of manufacturing processes which demonstrate the ability to reliably and consistently produce the

product candidate under current Good Manufacturing Practice regulations Each of these elements of our Qutenza

development program include certain judgments of applicable regulatory requirements of what will ultimately be

deemed acceptable to the regulatory authority including the FDAs evaluation of additional data such as

responder analysis and other secondary endpoints when evaluating whether our product can be approved The

FDA in reviewing our application will evaluate all components of that program including conducting audits of

clinical sites used in our clinical trials and inspecting our manufacturing sites to ensure compliance with

regulatory requirements There can be no assurance that
any or all aspects of our development program or our

manufacturing processes will satisfy the regulatory requirements for approval the failure of which to do so

would significantly delay or even prevent approval of our product candidate and seriously harm our ability to

generate revenue Qutenza has been evaluated in three completed Phase clinical trials for the management of

pain associated with PHN one of which did not meet its primary endpoint and two completed Phase clinical

trials for the management of pain associated with H1V-DSP one of which did not meet its primary endpoint The

FDA generally requires successful completion of at least two adequate and well-controlled Phase clinical trials

for each indication for which we seek marketing approval before submission of an NDA Although our analyses

of two Phase studies in PHN indicated that their primary endpoints were met the FDA may not agree with our

analyses and may require that we complete additional studies or perform other activities to support an approval

of the PHN indication We may not have adequate financial or other resources to pursue this product candidate

through regulatory approval or through commercialization If we do not receive marketing approval from the
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FDA we will not be able to commercialize Qutenza in the United States Further if the FDA delays approval as

result of requirements to conduct additional clinical studies commercialization of Qutenza could be significantly

delayed Significant delay or the inability to commercialize Qutenza in the United States would significantly

harm our business and as result we may be unable to become profitable or continue our operations or even if

we are able to commercialize in the United States there can be no assurance that we can become profitable As

consequence of any of these factors our stock price would be adversely affected We have filed an NDA with the

FDA for Qutenza for PHN We are continuing to evaluate whether to seek approval for Qutenza in HIV-DSP and

whether additional studies would be necessary to achieve such an approval If we decide to seek approval in

HIV-DSP we would do so no sooner than after the FDA has completed its review of the PHN NDA submission

which we anticipate may occur by the PDUFA date of August 16 2009 but could be significantly longer

Further we may decide not to conduct further Qutenza studies in HIV-DSP and ultimately may not seek approval

of Qutenza in the HIV-DSP indication in which case our potential revenues could be negatively impacted

We may not be successful in obtaining European regulatory approvalfor Qutenza

On March 19 2009 we received positive opinion recommending the approval of our MAA from the

CHMP for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults either alone or in

combination with other medicinal products for pain We are currently awaiting the European Commissions

decision on the CHMP opinion process which normally takes approximately 60 to 90 days Although generally

the recommendations of the CHMP are adopted by the European Union at large there can be no assurance that

that will be the case with Qutenza decision by the European Union member states to not adopt the

recommendation of the CHMP would cause us to not be able to commercialize Qutenza in Europe and

consequently our ability to generate revenue would be significantly harmed

If the European Commission issues marketing authorization in most European Union member states

product pricing for government sponsored health-care reimbursement must be negotiated or for hospital-based

products product pricing may be established directly with hospitals We believe this process can take months or

substantially longer to complete if at all

We will require substantial additionalfunding and may be unable to raise capital when needed

We had cash cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $24.5 million at December 31 2008 and

for the year
then ended we used cash of $27.3 million in operating activities Although we have deferred clinical

programs and reduced our planned spending for 2009 until such time as additional resources are attained we

expect our negative cash flows from operations to continue beyond potential regulatory approval and product

launch of Qutenza and there can be no assurance that we will ever achieve positive cash flows from operations

We believe based on our current operating plan that our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments will

be sufficient to fund our operations through at least December 31 2009 However our planned activities beyond

2009 including the establishment of sales and marketing organization to launch Qutenza if approved in the

United States along with continuing our development programs for Qutenza NGX- 1998 and our other

development programs will require substantial additional funding There can be no assurance that additional

funding will be available on terms that are acceptable or at all

We have no manufacturing capabilities and depend on other parties for our manufacturing operations

If these manufacturers fail to meet our requirements
and strict regulatory requirements our product

development efforts may be negatively affected we may not be able to obtain regulatory approvalfor our

product candidates and our commercialization efforts may be materially harmed

We currently depend on three contract manufacturers as single source suppliers for the components of our

Qutenza product candidate synthetic capsaicin the dermal patch and the associated cleansing gel We have

entered into long term commercial supply agreements for these components In addition we anticipate entering

into long-term agreements
for the assembly of the Qutenza treatment kits in the United States and the European
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Union If our relationship with any of these manufacturers is terminated or if any manufacturer is unable to

produce required quantities on timely basis or at all our operations would be delayed and our business harmed

Our reliance on contract manufacturers
exposes us to additional risks including

failure of our current and future manufacturers to comply with strictly-enforced regulatory

requirements

failure of our current and future manufacturers to complete the development and scale-up of the

manufacturing process including adequately analyzing and documenting the source and chemical

make-up of ingredients that make up our product candidate and the ability to reliably and consistently

produce the product candidate under current Good Manufacturing Practice regulations

failure to manufacture to our specifications or to deliver sufficient quantities in timely manner

the possibility that we may terminate contract manufacturer and need to engage replacement

the possibility that our current and future manufacturers may not be able to manufacture our product

candidates and products without infringing the intellectual
property rights of others

the possibility that our current and future manufacturers may not have adequate intellectual
property

rights to provide for exclusivity and prevent competition and

insufficiency of intellectual
property rights to any improvements in the manufacturing processes or

new manufacturing processes for our products

Any of these factors could result in significant delay or suspension of our clinical trials regulatory
submissions receipt of required approvals or commercialization of our products and harm our business

Before new drug can be marketed in the United States three consecutive manufacturing runs have to be

completed and those manufacturing runs need to be validated to ensure that manufacturing processes are reliable

Required validation of the manufacturing processes of our third party suppliers to secure FDA approval for

Qutenza has not yet been completed While our plans contemplate having these process validations complete in

2009 if validation of our third
party supplier manufacturing processes is delayed or if our suppliers fail to

complete the requisite validation batches even if all other aspects of our NDA are approvable by the FDA
commercial sales in the United States may need to be delayed until validation can be successfully completed if

at all

In addition because our third party manufacturers operate outside of the United States and many of the raw
materials and the labor that are used to manufacture our product candidates are based in foreign countries we
may experience currency exchange rate risks even though in some instances our contracts are denominated in

U.S dollars We do not currently engage in forward contracts to hedge this currency risk and as result may
suffer adverse financial

consequences as result of this currency risk

Further materials used by these entities to manufacture our product candidates originate outside the United

States including certain materials which may be sourced from China and India The FDA has increased its

diligence with regard to foreign sourced materials and manufacturing processes which may result in increased

costs of maintaining foreign manufacturing and could lengthen or delay the regulatory review
process required to

gain approval for our product candidates and could potentially prevent approval of our product candidates

Our product candidates may never achieve market acceptance even if we obtain regulatory approvals

Even if we receive regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of our product candidates the commercial

success of these product candidates will depend on among other things acceptance by physicians and patients
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Market acceptance of and demand for any product that we develop and commercialize will depend on many

factors including

our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy

our ability to obtain adequate pricing and sufficient insurance coverage and reimbursement

availability relative cost and relative efficacy and safety of alternative and competing treatments

the effectiveness of our or our collaborators sales marketing and distribution strategy

publicity concerning our products or competing products and treatments and

our ability to produce product in commercial quantities sufficient to meet demand

if our product candidates fail to gain market acceptance we may be unable to earn sufficient revenue to

continue our business

If physicians are not adequately reimbursed for their time and services in administering Qutenza it is

likely that they will not prescribe Qutenza

Because many people suffering from PHN are elderly in order for Qutenza to be economically viable for

this indication in the United States we will need Medicare coverage for Qutenza if Qutenza is approved by the

FDA for marketing Medicare policymakers or local contractors that process claims for Medicare may determine

that Qutenza is not reasonable and necessary for Medicare beneficiaries or is reasonable and necessary only

under limited circumstances If Medicare policymakers or significant portion of contractors determine that

Qutenza is not reasonable and necessary for and deny or significantly limit reimbursement for Qutenza our

business would be harmed not only because Medicare beneficiaries represent substantial portion of our target

market but also because Medicares coverage decisions would likely affect the determination of many state

Medicaid programs and private payors

Even if Qutenza is covered by Medicare we cannot determine whether that coverage will be primarily under

Medicare Part or Medicare Part Although products administered by physician as we expect Qutenza will

be are ordinarily covered by Medicare Part which also reimburses the physician for services in administering

the product Medicare Part does not currently provide reimbursement for the use of topical patches in the

treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain Obtaining coverage for Qutenza and its related administration under

Part is important to our future success and there is possibility that our efforts to achieve such change in

policy will not be successful or if successful will likely take one or more years to achieve Any delay in

achieving reimbursement under Part will have negative impact on our ability to generate revenues

Part may provide reimbursement for Qutenza but we do not view Part coverage as being as favorable

as Part coverage because each Part plan establishes its own formulary and may or may not decide to include

Qutenza or if it does may seek to negotiate significantly lower prices in order to include the product in their

formularies Additionally Part does not include reimbursement for the physicians administration of the

product although such services may be covered under existing evaluation and management codes available for

reimbursement of office visits Patient preparation and Qutenza application time is significant and may take two

hours or longer which significantly impacts physicians ability to see other patients and consequently the

physicians revenue if physicians are not adequately reimbursed for their time and services in administering

Qutenza it is likely that they will not prescribe Qutenza which would significantly impair our ability to obtain

revenues

We also will need to obtain favorable coverage and reimbursement decisions for Qutenza from private

insurers including managed care organizations We expect that private insurers will consider the efficacy cost

effectiveness and safety of Qutenza in determining whether to provide reimbursement for Qutenza and at what

level Obtaining these coverage and reimbursement decisions will be time consuming process requiring

substantial resources and we may not receive adequate reimbursement of Qutenza from private insurers
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We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of Qutenza if approved and our

potential future products due to the trend toward programs and legislation aimed at reducing healthcare costs as

well as the increasing influence of managed care organizations In many foreign countries particularly the

countries of the European Union the pricing of prescription drugs is subject to direct governmental control and is

influenced by drug reimbursement programs that employ variety of price control mechanisms In these

countries pricing negotiations with governmental authorities or reimbursement programs can take to 12

months or longer after the receipt of regulatory marketing approval for product To obtain reimbursement or

pricing approval in some countries we may be required to conduct additional studies such as study to evaluate

the cost-effectiveness of Qutenza compared to other currently available therapies If reimbursement for Qutenza

is unavailable delayed or limited in scope or amount or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels our business

would be materially harmed

We must enter into an agreement with and depend upon one or more partners to assist us in

commercializing our lead product candidate Qutenza in Europe

Because of our limited financial and other resources we must actively seek and enter into collaboration

with one or more European partners to assist us in our planned European Qutenza launch if marketing approval

is granted Any collaboration agreement we enter into may contain unfavorable terms for example with respect

to product candidates covered control over decisions and responsibilities termination rights payment and other

significant terms Our ability to receive any significant revenue from our product candidates covered by the

collaboration agreement will be dependent on the efforts of our collaboration partner and may result in lower

levels of income to us than if we marketed our product candidates entirely on our own The collaboration partner

may not fulfill its obligations or commercialize our product candidates as quickly as we would like We could

also become involved in disputes with our partner which could lead to delays in or termination of our

commercialization programs and time-consuming and expensive litigation or arbitration If collaboration

partner terminates or breaches its agreement with us or otherwise fails to complete its obligations in timely

manner the chances of successfully developing or commercializing our product candidates would be materially

and adversely affected

Additionally depending upon the collaboration partner that we choose other companies that might

otherwise be interested in developing products with us could be less inclined to do so because of our relationship

with the collaboration partner If our ability to work with present or future strategic partners or collaborators is

adversely affected as result of our collaboration agreement our business prospects may be limited and our

financial condition may be adversely affected There can be no assurance that we will be able to enter into

collaboration for commercialization in Europe or that if we do it is on time frame and on economic terms that

are favorable to us Further although the CHMP has issued positive opinion recommending the approval of our

MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults there can be no

assurance that the European Commission will support the recommendation and accordingly our efforts to

complete European commercial partnership may be delayed or we may be unable to complete European

commercial partnership

If we are unable to establish sales marketing and distribution infrastructure or enter into

collaborations with partners to perform these functions we will not be successful in commercializing our

product candidates

In order to commercialize any of our product candidates successfully we must either acquire or internally

develop capable sales marketing and distribution infrastructure or enter into collaborations with partners to

perform these services for us The acquisition or development of capable sales marketing and distribution

infrastructure will require substantial resources which may divert the attention of our management and key

personnel and negatively impact our product development efforts We intend to enter into partnering or other

distribution arrangements for commercialization outside the United States While we currently intend to develop

direct sales and marketing organization in the United States for Qutenza because we believe that we can best
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serve our target customers with focused specialty sales force we are currently evaluating the potential for

commercializing Qutenza in the United States with collaboration partner If we enter into an agreement with

collaboration partner in the United States such collaboration may negatively impact our ability to seek

additional strategic relationships and/or may negatively impact the value of your investment in us Factors that

may inhibit our efforts to develop an internal sales marketing and distribution infrastructure include

lack of available financial resources

our inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel

the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to or convince adequate numbers of physicians to

prescribe our products

the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel which may put us at

competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines and

unforeseen costs and
expenses

associated with creating sales and marketing organization

We also may not be able to enter into collaborations on acceptable terms if at all and we may face

competition in our search for partners with whom we may collaborate If we are not able to build sales

marketing and distribution infrastructure or collaborate with partner to perform these functions we may be

unable to commercialize our product candidates successfully which would adversely affect our business and

financial condition

Even if ourproduct candidates receive regulatory approval they will be subject to ongoing regulatory

requirements including possible commitments by us to perform post market authorization activities and may

face regulatory or enforcement action

Any product candidate for which we receive regulatory approval together with our third-party

manufacturing facilities and processes post-approval clinical data and advertising and promotional activities for

the product will be subject to significant review and ongoing and changing regulation by the FDA the EMEA
and other regulatory agencies Failure to comply with regulatory requirements may subject us to administrative

and judicially-imposed sanctions These may include warning letters adverse publicity civil and criminal

penalties injunctions product seizures or detention product recalls total or partial suspension of production and

refusal to approve pending product marketing applications

Even if we receive regulatory approval to market particular product candidate the approval could be

_______
conditioned on us conducting additional costly post-approval studies or could limit the indicated uses included in

our labeling For example the positive opinion of the CHMP recommending approval of Qutenza in the

European Union if adopted by the European Union requires us to conduct certain post authorization

commitments including ongoing evaluations of safety of Qutenzas use in the labeled indications as well as

clinical evaluation in patients with PDN although the necessary timing of clinical evaluations in PDN has not yet

been determined These studies may prove to be expensive and difficult to complete and the results of these

studies may identify safety efficacy or other issues related to Qutenza use that could be harmful to us Moreover

the product may later be found to cause adverse effects that limit or prevent its widespread use force us to

withdraw it from the market or impede or delay our ability to obtain regulatory approvals in additional countries

We face potential product liability exposure and if successful claims are brought against us we may
incur substantial liability for product candidate and may have to limit its commercialization

The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any products for which we obtain

marketing approval expose us to the risk of product liability claims Product liability claims might be brought

against us by consumers health care providers pharmaceutical companies or others selling our products If we
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cannot successfully defend ourselves against these claims we will incur substantial liabilities Regardless of

merit or eventual outcome liability claims may result in

decreased demand for our product candidates

impairment of our business reputation

withdrawal of clinical trial participants

costs of related litigation

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants

loss of revenues and

the inability to commercialize our product candidates

Although we currently have product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials with limits that we
believe are customary and adequate to provide us with coverage for foreseeable risks associated with our product

candidate development efforts our insurance coverage may not reimburse us or may be insufficient to reimburse

us for the actual expenses or losses we may suffer Moreover insurance coverage is becoming increasingly

expensive and in the future we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at reasonable cost or in

sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability We intend to expand our insurance coverage to

include the sale of commercial products if we obtain marketing approval for our product candidates in

development but we may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product liability insurance for any

products approved for marketing

We face substantial competition which may result in others discovering developing or commercializing

products before or more successfully than us

If Qutenza receives marketing approval it will compete against more established products marketed by

large pharmaceutical companies with far greater name recognition and resources than we have Qutenza will also

compete with medications that are potentially prescribed for off-label use The most directly-competitive

currently-marketed products in the United States are Lidoderm an FDA-approved 5% lidocaine topical patch for

the treatment of PHN marketed by Endo Pharmaceuticals and Lyrica an oral anti-convulsant marketed by

Pfizer for use in the treatment of PHN In addition to these branded drugs the FDA has approved gabapentin

Neurontin for use in the treatment of PHN Gabapentin is marketed by Pfizer and multiple generic

manufacturers and is the most widely-prescribed drug in the United States for treatment of neuropathic pain

Pfizer has also received FDA approval of Lyrica for the treatment of PDN fibromyalgia epilepsy and general

anxiety disorder The FDA has approved Cymbalta from Eli Lilly for use in the treatment of PDN general

anxiety disorder depression and fibromyalgia

Prior to any
market launch competition may become stronger and more direct and products in development

including products that we are unaware of may compete with Qutenza There are many other companies working

to develop new drugs and other therapies to treat pain in general and neuropathic pain in particular including

GlaxoSmithKline Newron Pharmaceuticals S.p.A Depomed Inc Novartis AG UCB S.A Pfizer and Eli Lilly

Many of the compounds in development by such companies are already marketed for other indications such as

anti-depressants or anti-seizure drugs In addition physicians employ other interventional procedures such as

nerve stimulation or nerve blocks to treat patients with difficult to treat neuropathic pain conditions

Furthermore new developments including the development of other drug technologies and methods of

preventing the incidence of disease such as vaccines occur in the biopharmaceutical industry at rapid pace

Any of these developments may render our product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive

Many of our potential competitors either alone or together with their partners have substantially greater

financial resources research and development programs clinical trial and regulatory experience expertise in
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prosecution of intellectual property rights and manufacturing distribution and sales and marketing capabilities

than we do As result of these factors our competitors may

develop product candidates and market products that are less expensive safer more effective or

involve more convenient treatment procedures than our future products

commercialize competing products before we can launch any of our product candidates

initiate or withstand substantial price competition more successfully than we can

have greater success in recruiting skilled scientific workers from the limited pool of available talent

more effectively negotiate third-party licenses and strategic alliances and

take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities more readily than we can

The life sciences industry is characterized by rapid technological change If we fail to stay at the forefront of

technological change we may be unable to compete effectively

We may not be able to obtain Hatch- Waxman Act data exclusivity or equivalent regulatory data

exclusivity protection in other jurisdictions for Qutenza

We intend to rely in part on Hatch-Waxman exclusivity for the commercialization of Qutenza in the United

States The Hatch-Waxman Act provides years of data exclusivity to the first applicant to gain approval of an

NDA under Section 505b of the Food Drug and Cosmetic Act for new chemical entity drug qualifies as

new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved any other drug containing the same active

ingredient Hatch-Waxman provides data exclusivity by prohibiting abbreviated new drug applications or

ANDAs and 505b2 applications which are marketing applications where the applicant does not own or have

legal right of reference to all the data required for approval to be submitted by another company for another

version of such drug during the exclusivity period Protection under Hatch-Waxman will not prevent the filing or

approval of full NDA under Section 505b1 for the same active ingredient although the applicant would be

required to conduct its own adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate safety and effectiveness

Our NDA for Qutenza was filed as 505b2 application as our application referenced certain publicly

available preclinical data regarding capsaicin Therefore if another product containing the same active ingredient

as Qutenza is approved before Qutenza then our potential approval could be delayed by years However in

such event we believe we can petition the FDA to modify our application to be under Section 505b1 Such

petition would require the FDAs approval and there can be no assurance that such petition would be granted by

the FDA While we believe that the FDA has not approved another product containing the active ingredient of

Qutenza highly pure synthetic capsaicin there can be no assurance that competing product containing

synthetic capsaicin will not achieve approval before Qutenza or that Qutenza will be able to qualify for the five-

year Hatch-Waxman exclusivity

We are aware of company that may file an NDA for product candidate that contains low concentration

of closely related compound to capsaicin While we believe that this product should it be approved by the

FDA may not preclude the granting of data exclusivity under Hatch-Waxman to Qutenza we can make no

assurance to such belief If we are unable to achieve data exclusivity our revenues could be significantly harmed

There can be no assurance that European authorities will grant data exclusivity to Qutenza Even if

European data exclusivity is granted for Qutenza that may not protect us from direct competition Given the

well-established use of capsaicin as pain reliever competitor with generic version of Qutenza may be able

to obtain approval of their product during Qutenzas period of data exclusivity by submitting an MAA with
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Our fast track designation for development of Qutenza for treatment of painful HI V-associated

neuropathy may not actually lead to afaster development or regulatory review or approval process

product intended for the treatment of serious or life-threatening condition that demonstrates the

potential to address unmet medical needs for such condition may be submitted to the FDA for fast track

designation Although we received fast track designation from the FDA for Qutenza for the treatment of

HIV-DSP there is no assurance that if we decide to file an NDA for Qutenza in HIV-DSP that we will

experience faster development process review or approval compared to conventional FDA standards or that

the product will be approved at all Further we anticipate the FDA will as is the case with other indications

require two successful Phase studies in HIV-DSP to support an approval for that indication and therefore we

may never seek approval for HIV-DSP or we will likely need to conduct one or more additional Phase studies

prior to submission of an NDA for HIV-DSP The FDA may also withdraw our fast track designation if it

believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program

We may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drug exclusivity for Qutenza

The FDA granted us orphan drug status with regard to Qutenza for the treatment of HIV-DSP In addition

we may obtain orphan drug status for other indications including PHN If product that has orphan drug

designation subsequently receives FDA approval for the indication for which it has such designation the product

is entitled to orphan exclusivitythat is for seven years the FDA may not approve any other applications to

market the same drug for the same indication except in very limited circumstances We may be unable to obtain

orphan drug designations for any additional product candidates or exclusivity for any of our product candidates

or our potential competitors may obtain orphan drug exclusivity for capsaicin-based products competitive with

our product candidates before we do in which case we may be excluded from that market for the exclusivity

period In addition orphan drug designation previously granted may be withdrawn under certain circumstances

Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for any of our product candidates we may not be able to maintain it if

competitive product based on the same active compound is shown to be clinically superior to our product

Although obtaining FDA approval to market product with orphan exclusivity can be advantageous there can be

no assurance that it would provide us with significant commercial advantage

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical testing could result in increased costs to us and

delay our ability to generate revenues

We do not know whether future clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule if at all The

commencement and completion of clinical trials can be disrupted for variety of reasons including difficulties in

availability of financial resources

addressing issues raised by the FDA or European health authorities regarding safety design scope and

objectives of future clinical studies

recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in clinical trial

obtaining regulatory approval to commence clinical trial

reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective clinical research organizations and trial sites

manufacturing sufficient quantities of product candidate and

obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct clinical trial at prospective site

clinical trial may also be suspended or terminated by us the FDA or other regulatory authorities due to

number of factors including

failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or in accordance with

our clinical protocols
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inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities

resulting in the imposition of clinical hold

unforeseen safety issues or

inadequate patient enrollment or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial

In addition changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may occur and we may need to amend clinical

trial protocols to reflect these changes which could impact the cost timing or successful completion of clinical

trial If we experience delays in the commencement or completion of our clinical trials the commercial prospects

for our product candidates and our ability to generate product revenues will be harmed Many of the factors that

cause or lead to delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also lead to the denial of

regulatory approval of product candidate

Our clinical trials may fail to demonstrate adequately the safety and efficacy of our product candidates

which could prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of Qutenza or any other product candidates

we must demonstrate through lengthy complex and expensive preclinical testing and clinical trials that the

product is both safe and effective for use in each target indication Clinical trial results from the study of

neuropathic pain are inherently difficult to predict The primary measure of pain is subjective patient feedback

which can be influenced by factors outside of our control and can vary widely from day to day for particular

patient and from patient to patient and site to site within clinical study The results we have obtained in

completed clinical trials may not be predictive of results from our ongoing or future trials Additionally we may

suffer significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials even after promising results in earlier studies

Some of our trial results have been negatively affected by factors that had not been fully anticipated prior to

our examination of the trial results For example as is the case in our most recent Phase study in HIV-DSP we

have from time to time observed significant placebo effect within our control groupsa phenomenon in

which sham treatment or in the case of our studies low-dose capsaicin treatment that we believed would not

be effective results in beneficial effect Although we design our clinical study protocols to address known

factors that may negatively affect our study results there can be no assurance that our protocol designs will be

adequate or that factors that we may or may not be aware of or anticipate will not have negative effect on the

results of our clinical trials which could significantly disrupt our efforts to obtain regulatory approvals and

commercialize our product candidates Furthermore once study has commenced we may voluntarily suspend

or terminate our clinical trials if at any time we believe that they present an unacceptable safety risk to patients

In our completed Phase trials there have been three serious adverse events totaling less than related to

Qutenza two related to pain and one case of hypertension In our PHN studies C108 and Cl 10 more cardiac

adverse events occurred in subjects treated with Qutenza than subjects receiving the control patch Evaluation of

these adverse events did not indicate that they were treatment related In our most recent PHN studies Cli and

Cl 17 similar number of subjects in the Qutenza and control groups had cardiac events However future late

stage clinical trials in other indications or in larger patient population could reveal more frequent more severe

or additional side effects that were not seen or deemed unrelated in earlier studies any of which could interrupt

delay or halt clinical trials of our product candidates and could result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities

stopping further development of or denying approval of our product candidates Based on results at any stage of

clinical trials we may decide to repeat or redesign trial modify our regulatory strategy or even discontinue

development of one or more of our product candidates

number of companies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries have suffered significant

setbacks in advanced clinical trials even after obtaining promising results in earlier trials If our product

candidates are jiot shown to be both safe and effective in clinical trials the resulting delays in developing other

compounds and conducting associated preclinical testing and clinical trials as well as the potential need for

additional financing would have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of

upc1aLtuI1
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We rely on thi rd parties to conduct our non-clinical studies and clinical trials If these third parties do not

perform as contractually required or otherwise expected we may not be able to obtain regulatory approvalfor

our product candidates

We do not currently conduct non-clinical studies and clinical trials on our own and instead rely on third

parties such as contract research organizations medical institutions clinical investigators and contract

laboratories to assist us with our non-clinical and clinical trials We are also required to comply with regulations

and standards commonly referred to as good clinical practices for conducting recording and reporting the

results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the trial

participants are adequately protected If these third parties do not successfully carry out their duties to us or

regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines if the third parties need to be replaced or if the quality or

accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or

regulatory requirements or for other reasons our non-clinical development activities or clinical trials may be

extended delayed suspended or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for our

product candidates

Even though certain of our clinical trials for Qutenza in treatment of PHN and HI V-DSP have met their

primary endpoints certain other studies in these indications have not met their primary endpoints and our

clinical trials for other indications if we decide to conduct them may not succeed which would adversely

impact our long term success

We have not prepared for or conducted any Qutenza clinical trials for indications other than PHN HIV-DSP

and PDN We have conducted one Phase clinical trial for the use of Qutenza for the management of PDN PDN

represents much larger market opportunity than either PHN or HIV-DSP and unless we successfully complete

required clinical trials and obtain regulatory approvals for the use of Qutenza for PDN patients we will be unable

to market Qutenza for this indication in the United States and the European Union and possibly in other

countries If this occurs our long term ability to succeed will be significantly and negatively impacted We
believe that to market Qutenza in the United States for future indications including PDN we will have to

conduct two successful Phase trials for those indications and that for PDN in particular we may be required to

perform additional safety studies We are evaluating our development programs related to PDN in Qutenza and

may decide not to conduct studies in PDN beyond those required by the post-marketing requirements associated

with our MAA If we decide not to conduct the required number of Phase studies in PDN that meet their

primary endpoint we will not gain approval for Qutenza in this indication which will significantly harm our

ability to potentially generate revenue

Results of clinical trials of Qutenza for patients with PHN or HIV-DSP do not necessarily predict the results

of clinical trials involving other indications If we decide to conduct additional clinical studies with Qutenza in

PDN or other indications those studies may fail to show desired safety and efficacy for management of pain

associated with PDN and other indications despite results from earlier clinical trials involving PDN PHN and/or

HIV-DSP Any failure or significant delay in completing clinical trials for Qutenza with PDN and other

indications or in receiving regulatory approval involving such indications may significantly harm our business

We have limited experience in regulatory affairs

We have limited experience in preparing submitting and prosecuting regulatory filings including NDAs
MAAs and other applications necessary to gain regulatory approvals Moreover some of our product candidates

are based on novel applications of therapies that have not been extensively tested in humans and the regulatory

requirements governing these types of products may be less well defined or more rigorous than for conventional

products As result of these factors in comparison to our competitors we may require more time and incur

greater costs to obtain regulatory approvals of products that we develop license or acquire
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We depend on our key personnel If we are not able to retain them our business will suffer

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management and scientific staff The competition

for skilled personnel among biopharmaceutical companies in the San Francisco Bay Area is intense and the

employment services of our scientific management and other executive officers are terminable at-will If we lose

one or more of these key employees our ability to implement and execute our business strategy successfully

could be seriously harmed Replacing key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time

because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to

develop gain regulatory approval of and commercialize products successfully We do not carry key man life

insurance on any of our key personnel

Risks Related to Our Finances and Capital Requirements

We have incurred operating losses in each year since inception and expect to continue to incur

substantial and increasing losses for theforeseeablefuture

We have not generated any revenue to date and we have incurred operating and net losses each year since

our inception in 1998 Our net loss for the year ended December 31 2008 was approximately $26.0 million As

of December 31 2008 we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $190.1 million We had cash cash

equivalents and short-term investments totaling $24.5 million at December 31 2008 and for the year ended

December 31 2008 we used cash of $27.3 million in operating activities We expect to continue to incur losses

for several years as we seek regulatory approvals for and commercialize Qutenza and continue other research

and development activities If Qutenza does not gain regulatory approval or does not achieve market acceptance

we will not generate any revenue We cannot assure you that we will be profitable even if we commercialize

Qutenza If we fail to achieve and maintain profitability or if we are unable to fund our continuing losses you

could lose all or part of your
investment

If we do not raise additional capita4 we may be forced to further delay reduce or eliminate our

development programs or commercialization efforts

We have deferred further clinical development of Qutenza NGX-1998 and our other development programs

until such time as additional capital is available Our future capital requirements will depend on and could

_______
increase significantly as result of many factors including

______ the costs and timing of regulatory approval

_______ the costs of establishing or contracting for sales and marketing capabilities

the need to conduct additional clinical trials

the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other development activities

the effect of competing technological and market developments

_______ the costs of filing prosecuting defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual

______
property rights and

the extent to which we acquire or in-license new products technologies or businesses

We intend to seek additional funding through strategic alliances debt facilities or other financing vehicles

which may include the public or private sales of our equity securities There can be no assurance however that

additional funding will be available on reasonable terms if at all If adequate funds are not available we may be

required to further delay reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our planned development

commercialization or expansion activities
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Raising additionalfunds by issuing securities or through licensing arrangements may cause dilution to

existing stockholders restrict our operations or require us to relinquish proprietary rights

To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities our existing stockholders

ownership will be diluted Any debt financing we enter into may involve covenants that restrict our operations

These restrictive covenants may include limitations on additional borrowing and specific restrictions on the use

of our assets as well as prohibitions on our ability to create liens pay dividends redeem our stock or make

investments In addition if we raise additional funds through licensing arrangements it may be necessary to

relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies or grant licenses on

terms that are not favorable to us

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

The commercial success if any of Qutenza depends in part on the rights we have under certain patents

The commercial success if any of Qutenza depends in part on device patent granted in the United States and

device patents granted in Canada Hong Kong and certain countries of Europe concerning the use of dermal patch for

high-concentration capsaicin delivery for the treatment of neuropathic pain We exclusively license these patents from

the University of California We do not currently own and do not have rights under this license to any
issued

patents

that cover Qutenza outside Europe Hong Kong Canada and the United States One or more of the inventors named in

the method patent described below may assert claim of inventorship rights to such patent which may result in our

loss of exclusive use of this patent Although we do not believe these individuals are co-inventors there can be no

assurance that we would prevail if such claim were asserted The absence of exclusive rights to utilize such patent

exposes us to greater risk of direct competition and could materially harm our business

In addition to other patents and patent applications which have been licensed under our agreements with

third party manufacturers including the issued patents and pending applications licensed under our commercial

supply agreement for Qutenza we also license method patent granted in the United States from the University

of California concerning the delivery of high-concentration capsaicin for the treatment of neuropathic pain Two
of the three inventors named in the method patent did not assign their patent rights to the University of

California As result our rights under this patent are non-exclusive Anesiva company focused on the

development and commercialization of treatments for pain including injection or infiltration of capsaicin for

post-surgical pain osteoarthritis or interdigital neuroma has licensed from one of the non-assigning inventors the

right to use the technology under the method patent There can be no assurances that other entities will not

similarly obtain rights to use the technology under the method patent If other entities license the right to use this

patent we may face more products competitive with Qutenza and our business will suffer

If we are unable to maintain and enforce our proprietary rights we may not be able to compete effectively

or operate profitably

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection trade secret

protection and regulatory protection such as Hatch-Waxman protection or orphan drug designation of our

proprietary technology and information as well as successfully defending against third-party challenges to our

proprietary technology and information We will be able to protect our proprietary technology and information

from use by third parties only to the extent that valid and enforceable patents trade secrets or regulatory

protection cover them and we have exclusive rights to utilize them

Our commercial success will continue to depend in part on the patent rights we own the patent rights we
have licensed the patent rights of our collaborators and suppliers and the patent rights we may obtain related to

future products we may market Our success also depends on our and our licensors collaborators and suppliers

ability to maintain these patent rights against third-party challenges to their validity scope or enforceability

Further we do not fully control the patent prosecution of our licensed patent applications There is risk that our

licensors will not devote the same resources or attention to the prosecution of the licensed patent applications as
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we would if we controlled the prosecution of the patent applications and the resulting patent protection if any

may not be as strong or comprehensive as if we had prosecuted the applications ourselves

The patent positions of biopharmaceutical companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and

factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved No consistent policy regarding the

breadth of claims allowed in such companies patents has emerged to date in the United States The patent

situation outside the United States is even more uncertain Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations

of patent laws in the United States or other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property

Accordingly we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-

party patents For example

we or our licensors might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our

pending patent applications and issued patents

we or our licensors might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our

technologies

it is possible that none of our pending patent applications or the pending patent applications of our

licensors will result in issued patents

our issued patents and the issued patents of our licensors may not provide basis for commercially

viable products or may not provide us with any competitive advantages or may be challenged and

invalidated by third parties

we may not develop additional proprietary technologies or product candidates that are patentable or

the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business

We also rely on trade secrets to protect our technology especially where we do not believe patent protection

is appropriate or obtainable However trade secrets are difficult to protect While we seek to protect confidential

information in part by confidentiality agreements with our employees consultants contractors or scientific and

other advisors they may unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to competitors If we were to

enforce claim that third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade secrets it would be expensive

and time consuming and the outcome would be unpredictable In addition courts outside the United States are

sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets

If we are not able to defend the patent or trade secret protection position of our technologies and product

candidates then we will not be able to exclude competitors from developing or marketing competing products

and we may not generate enough revenue from product sales to justify the cost of development of our product

candidates and to achieve or maintain profitability

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of other parties such litigation will be costly and

time consuming and an unfavorable outcome would have significant adverse effect on our business

Although we believe that we would have valid defenses to allegations that our cunent product candidates

production methods and other activities infringe the valid and enforceable intellectual property rights of any third

parties of which we are aware we cannot be certain that third party will not challenge our position in the future

Other parties may own patent rights that might be infringed by our products or other activities For example in

June 2005 Winston Laboratories sent us letter informing us of their U.S patent related to cis-capsaicin and

suggested that our synthetic capsaicin formulation could infringe this patent We responded in August 2005 by

denying any infringement In 2007 Winston reiterated its claim and offered to discuss license to its patent We

responded by denying infringement We believe that our products if commercialized will not infringe the

Winston patent which is due to expire in 2009 but may be extended under certain circumstances There has
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been and we believe that there will continue to be significant litigation and demands for licenses in our industry

regarding patent and other intellectual property rights Our competitors or other patent holders may assert that

our products and the methods we employ are covered by their patents These parties could bring claims against us

that would cause us to incur substantial expenses and if successful against us could cause us to pay substantial

damages or possibly prevent us from commercializing our product candidates Further if patent infringement

suit were brought against us we could be forced to stop or delay research development manufacturing or sales

of the product or product candidate that is the subject of the suit

As result of patent infringement claims or in order to avoid potential claims we may choose to seek or be

required to seek license from the third party and would most likely be required to pay license fees or royalties

or both These licenses may not be available on acceptable terms or at all Even if we were able to obtain

license the rights may be non-exclusive which would give our competitors access to the same intellectual

property Ultimately we could be prevented from commercializing product or be forced to cease some aspect

of our business operations if as result of actual or threatened patent infringement claims we or our

collaborators are unable to enter into licenses on acceptable terms This could harm our business significantly

We may incur substantial costs as result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patent and other

intellectual property rights

The cost to us of any litigation or other proceedings relating to intellectual property rights even if resolved

in our favor could be substantial Some of our potential competitors may be better able to sustain the costs of

complex patent litigation because they have substantially greater resources Uncertainties resulting from the

initiation and continuation of any litigation could have material adverse effect on our ability to continue our

operations Should third parties file patent applications or be issued patents claiming technology also claimed by

us in pending applications we may be required to participate in interference proceedings in the U.S Patent and

Trademark Office to determine priority of invention which could result in substantial costs to us or an adverse

decision as to the priority of our inventions An unfavorable outcome in an interference proceeding could require

us to cease using the technology or to license rights from prevailing third parties There is no guarantee that any

prevailing party would offer us license or that we could acquire any license made available to us on

commercially acceptable terms

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license development or

commercialization rights to products or technology from third parties we could lose license rights that are

important to our business

We are party to number of technology licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into

additional licenses in the future For example we hold licenses from The University of California and LTS

Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG under patents and patent applications relating to Qutenza our lead product

candidate These licenses impose various commercialization milestone payment royalty insurance and other

obligations on us If we fail to comply with these obligations the licensor may have the right to terminate the

license in which event we would not be able to market products covered by the license including Qutenza

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that our employees or we have wrongfully used or

disclosed alleged trade secrets of theirformer employers

Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical

companies including our competitors or potential competitors Although no claims against us are currently

pending we may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or

disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers Litigation may be necessary to

defend against these claims If we fail in defending such claims in addition to paying monetary damages we

may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel loss of key research personnel or their work

product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize certain potential products which could severely
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harm our business Even if we are successful in defending against these claims litigation could result in

substantial costs and be distraction to management

Risks Related to an Investment in our Common Stock

We expect that our stock price will fluctuate significantly and you may not be able to resell your shares

at or above your investment price

The stock market has experienced significant volatility particularly with respect to pharmaceutical

biotechnology and other life sciences company stocks The volatility of pharmaceutical biotechnology and other

life sciences company stocks often does not relate to the operating performance of the companies represented by the

stock Factors that could cause volatility in the market price of our common stock include but are not limited to

potential inability to preserve or raise sufficient capital to maintain our operations

delays in the process of seeking or our ability to obtain regulatory approvals

delay in entering or termination of strategic partnership relationships

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our expected markets

third-party healthcare reimbursement policies or determinations

failure or delays in entering additional product candidates into clinical trials or in commencing

additional clinical trials for current product candidates

results from and
any delays related to the clinical trials for our product candidates

our ability to develop and market new and enhanced product candidates on timely basis

announcements by us or our collaborators or competitors of new commercial products clinical

progress or the lack thereof significant contracts commercial relationships or capital commitments

issuance of new or changed securities analysts reports or recommendations for our stock or the

discontinuation of one or more securities analysts research coverage for our stock

actual or anticipated quarterly variations in our results of operations or those of our collaborators or

competitors

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights

commencement of or our involvement in litigation

changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals

market conditions in the life sciences sector and

any major change in our board or management

If we fail to meet the requirements for continued listing on the NASDAQ Global Market and do not meet

ILII1IY initial listing requirements to transfer to the NASDAQ Capital Market our common stock could be delisted

from trading which would adversely affect the liquidity of our common stock and our ability to raise

additional capitaL

Our common stock is currently listed on the NASDAQ Global Market and to maintain our listing we must

meet certain financial requirements in accordance with the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC or Nasdaq

including but not limited to the requirement to maintain minimum closing bid price of at least $1.00 per share

for our common stock and certain other quantitative standards Although we have maintained our listing status on

the NASDAQ Global Market since our initial listing on May 2007 and despite Nasdaq suspending minimum

bid price and certain other requirements until July 20 2009 there can be no assurance that we will maintain our
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listing on this market in the future if our bid price deteriorates or if we fail to meet other requirements If we are

delisted from the NASDAQ Global Market we can apply to be listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market or other

exchanges which generally have lower standards for listing Any potential delisting of our common stock would

adversely affect the liquidity of our common stock and our ability to raise additional capital

We will continue to incur increased costs and demands upon management as result of complying with

the laws and regulations affecting public companies which could affect our operating results

As public company we will continue to incur significant legal accounting and other expenses that we did

not incur as private company including costs associated with public company reporting requirements We also

have incurred and will incur costs associated with corporate governance requirements including requirements

under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as well as new rules implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission

and the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC We expect these rules and regulations to increase our legal and financial

compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly

If the ownership of our common stock continues to be highly concentrated it may prevent you and other

stockholders from influencing significant corporate decisions and may result in conflicts of interest that could

cause our stock price to decline

Our executive officers directors and their affiliates and significant stockholders beneficially own or control

approximately 63% of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of December 31 2008 after giving effect

to the exercise of all of their outstanding vested options and warrants exercisable within 60 days of such date

Accordingly these executive officers directors and their affiliates and significant stockholders acting as group

will have substantial influence over the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval including

the election of directors any merger consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets or any other

significant corporate transactions These stockholders may also delay or prevent change of control of us even if

such change of control would benefit our other stockholders The significant concentration of stock ownership

may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock due to investors perception that conflicts of interest

may exist or arise

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline

The market price of our common stock could decline as result of sales by our existing stockholders

including sales by our executive officers of shares of common stock in the market or the perception that these

sales could occur These sales might also make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities at time and price

that we deem appropriate

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of

us which may be beneficial to our stockholders more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders

to replace or remove our current management

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or

change in our management These provisions include classified board of directors prohibition on actions by
written consent of our stockholders and the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without

stockholder approval In addition because we are incorporated in Delaware we are governed by the provisions

of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which prohibits stockholders owning in excess of 15%
of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us Although we believe these provisions

collectively provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with

our board of directors they would apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders In

addition these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our

current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors

which is responsible for appointing the members of our management

43



Recent events in the credit markets have and will continue to impact our investment returns

Recent events in the credit markets have caused liquidity crisis in most credit facilities including

mortgage-backed securities and auction-rate securities In response to these events we have undertaken

continual evaluation of our investment portfolio to protect principal balances and maintain liquidity of our

investments This evaluation resulted in our initially converting over time all of our investment holdings into

U.S Treasury securities Subsequently as the government has issued guarantees of certain corporate debt we

have broadened our investment holdings to include only those corporate securities that are fully backed by the

United States Government As result of the credit crisis and our shift in investments to U.S Treasury securities

we anticipate that our investment returns will be below historical levels These lower returns will likely continue

for some time and we cannot predict when market conditions will improve and when higher yielding investment

options may be available to us

We have never paid dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in

the foreseeable future

We have paid no cash dividends on any of our classes of capital stock to date have contractual restrictions

against paying cash dividends and currently intend to retain our future earnings to fund the development and

growth of our business As result capital appreciation if any of our common stock will be an investors sole

source of gain for the foreseeable future

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

There are no unresolved staff comments regarding any of our periodic or current reports

Item Properties

We lease approximately 26386 square feet of office space
located at 2215 Bridgepointe Parkway

Suite 200 San Mateo California until 2012 We believe that these facilities are suitable and adequate for our

current needs

Item Legal Proceedings

We are not party to any material legal proceedings

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to vote of the security holders during the fourth quarter of 2008
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol NGSX and has been

quoted on such market since our initial public offering on May 2007 Prior to such date there was no public

market for our common stock The following table sets forth the high and low sales price per share of our

common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market for the periods indicated

Sale Price

High Low

Fiscal 2007

Second Quarter $10.99 $7.20

Third Quarter 9.86 $6.06

Fourth Quarter 9.04 $5.75

Fiscal 2008

First Quarter 6.96 $2.18

Second Quarter 4.00 $2.52

Third Quarter 3.63 $1.85

Fourth Quarter 2.70 $0.81

On February 27 2009 the last reported sale price for our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market

was $1.21 per share We currently expect to retain future earnings if any for use in the operation and expansion

of our business and have not paid and do not in the foreseeable future anticipate paying any cash dividends As of

February 27 2009 there were 61 holders of record of our common stock one of which is Cede Co nominee

for Depository Trust Company or DTC All of the shares of our common stock held by brokerage firms banks

and other financial institutions as nominees for beneficial owners are deposited into participant accounts at DTC
and are therefore considered to be held of record by Cede Co as one stockholder

During the quarter and year ended December 31 2008 there was no employee stock repurchase activity

As of December 31 2008 approximately 785 shares of common stock held by employees and service

providers remain subject to repurchase by us

The information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is

incorporated by reference from Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Comparison of Historical Cumulative Total Return Among NeurogesX Inc the NASDAQ Composite

Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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0-Nasdaq Biotechnology
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NeurogesX Inc

NASDAQ Composite Index
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The above graph shows the cumulative total stockholder return of an investment of $100 in cash on May

2007 the date the Companys Stock began to trade on the NASDAQ Global Market through December 31

2008 for the Companys Common Stock ii the NASDAQ Composite Index and iiithe NASDAQ

Biotechnology Index All values assume reinvestment of the full amount of all dividends Stockholder

returns over the indicated period should not be considered indicative of future stockholder returns

The information contained under this caption Comparison of Historical Cumulative Total Return

Among NeurogesX Inc the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index shall not be

deemed to be soliciting material or to be filed with the SEC nor shall such information be incorporated by

reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing

5/07 12/08

Cumulative Total

Return as of

5/2/07 12/31/07 12/31/08

$100.00 62.05 $11.41

$100.00 $103.69 $61.65

$100.00 97.52 $85.21
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Item Financial Statements and

Supplemental Data of this Form 10-K

Period from

May 28 1998

inception to

Years Ended December 31
_________________________________________________________________ December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2008

in thousands except share and per share data

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Data

Operating expenses

Research and development 16104 25321 20919 11847 16492 $111492

General and administrative 10182 7455 6110 1715 5113 39055

Total operating expenses 26286 32776 27029 13562 21605 150547

Loss from operations 26286 32776 27029 13562 21605 150547

Interest income expense net 265 454 156 393 262 2254

Other income expense net 14 366 3272 58 2947

Net loss before cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle 26035 31956 30145 13111 21343 151240

Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle 32 32

Net loss 26035 31956 30145 13143 21343 151272

Accretion of redeemable convertible

preferred stock 4626 11293 8269 6782 38872

Net loss attributable to common

stockholders 26035 36582 $41438 $21412 $28125 $190144

Basic and diluted net loss
per

share

attributable to common

stockholders1 1.49 4.06 116.20 70.56 97.76

Weighted average
number of shares

used to compute basic and diluted

net loss per share attributable to

common stockholders1 17519415 9017627 356600 303476 287702

As of December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments 24506 52851 13902 12050 19205

Working capital 19109 44139 578 8840 17356

Restricted cash 200 240 500

Total assets 25590 54185 14818 12722 20629

Preferred stock warrant liability 7549 736

Notes payablenon-current portion 191 3024 6737

Redeemable convertible preferred stock 116164 93690 80766

Deficit accumulated during the development stage 190144 164109 127527 86089 64677

Total stockholders equity deficit 19274 41361 122066 84580 62897

See Note of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the method used to

calculate the net loss per share attributable to common stockholders and the number of shares used in the

computation of the per share amounts
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and accompanying

notes included elsewhere in this report Operating results are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur

in future periods

Overview

We are biopharmaceutical company focused on developing and commercializing novel pain management

therapies We are assembling portfolio of pain management product candidates based on known chemical

entities to develop innovative new therapies which we believe may offer substantial advantages over currently

available treatment options Our initial focus is on the management of chronic peripheral neuropathic pain

conditions Our most advanced product candidate Qutenza dermal patch containing high concentration of

synthetic capsaicin is designed to manage pain associated with peripheral neuropathic pain conditions We
believe based on our successful Phase studies that single 30- or 60-minute application of Qutenza may
provide up to 12 weeks of clinically-meaningful pain relief Moreover we believe that Qutenza has demonstrated

in clinical trials positive safety and tolerability profile

We submitted to the FDA an NDA for Qutenza for the management of pain associated with PHN in October

2008 which was filed by the FDA in December 2008 Our NDA has PDUFA date of August 16 2009 at which

time we would anticipate receiving either an approval letter or complete response letter from the FDA
complete response letter may describe any activities which may be required to gain approval or may indicate that

product candidate is not approvable

In September 2007 we submitted MAA for Qutenza with the EMEA under the centralized procedure

seeking approval of Qutenza On March 19 2009 the CHMP issued positive opinion recommending the

approval of our MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic adults either

alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain In conjunction with issuing this recommendation

the CHMP requested us to perform certain clinical evaluations of Qutenza following approval We are currently

awaiting the European Commissions decision on the CHMP opinion process which normally takes

approximately 60 to 90 days If the European Commission issues marketing authorization in most European

Union member states product pricing for government sponsored health-care reimbursement must be negotiated or

for hospital-based products product pricing may be established directly with hospitals We believe this process

can take months or substantially longer to complete if at all

Our earlier stage product candidate pipeline consists of

NGX-1998 non-patch liquid formulation of capsaicin for potential use in neuropathic pain

conditions

NGX-1576 NGX-9674 and NGX-5752 prodrugs of acetaminophen for potential use in acute pain

including traumatic pain post-surgical pain and fever and

NGX-6052 an opioid prodrug for potential use in chronic pain indications

NGX-l998 has been evaluated in three Phase studies and is currently being considered for entry into

Phase evaluation The other product candidates are all in the pre-clinical stage of development

In response to the generally weak economic conditions which have resulted in challenging environment

for raising capital we deferred further pre-clinical and clinical development activities for all of our product

candidates in order to focus our fiscal and human resources on the prosecution of our MAA and NDA for

Qutenza and on continuing support of our strategies for obtaining adequate reimbursement for Qutenza in the

United States We expect to re-initiate some or all of our development programs if additional funds become

available including the studies associated with MAA approval and the continuation of the NGX- 1998 clinical
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program into Phase Further we are currently seeking development partners for our acetaminophen and opioid

prodrug product candidates We hold worldwide commercial rights to all of our product candidates and are

actively engaged in discussions with potential commercial partners

We were incorporated in 1998 as Advanced Analgesics Inc and commenced operations in 2000 as

NeurogesX Inc From inception through 2001 our primary activities were related to formulation development

and preclinical studies of our lead product candidate Qutenza Since 2002 our focus has expanded to include

clinical development of Qutenza establishing sources of supply and manufacturing processes for Qutenza and

more recently regulatory activities including those related to our MAA which was submitted in September 2007

and for which recommendation for approval by the CHMP was issued on March 19 2009 and our NDA which

was submitted to the FDA in October 2008 and filed by the FDA in December 2008 Our focus has also

expanded to include preparation for potential commercialization of Qutenza should marketing approval be

attained and seeking commercial partners for Qutenza Additionally we have begun development programs for

NGX- 1998 liquid formulation of the same active ingredient used in Qutenza as well as limited preclinical

development of certain prodrug product candidates

We are development stage company To date we have not generated any revenues and have funded our

operations primarily by selling equity securities and establishing debt facilities We have incurred significant

losses since our inception As of December 31 2008 we had deficit accumulated during the development stage

of approximately $190.1 million of which approximately $38.9 million represents non-cash charges for the

accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock We had cash cash equivalents and short-term investments

totaling $24.5 million at December 31 2008 and for the
year

then ended we used cash of $27.3 million in

operating activities We expect to continue to incur annual operating losses over the next several years and those

losses may increase as we continue our efforts to gain marketing approval for Qutenza in the United States and

the European Union prepare for potential commercialization if Qutenza is approved for marketing and resume

development of our product candidates

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our managements discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our

financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities expenses and related disclosures Actual results could differ from those estimates

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note of Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report we believe the following accounting policies to be critical

to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements

Research and Development

We expense research and development costs as incurred Research and development expenses
include

personnel and personnel related costs

costs associated with pre-clinical and clinical development activities such as clinical trials including

amounts paid to clinical research organizations and clinical investigators

product and manufacturing costs such as process development clinical product supply costs and the

cost of commercially saleable product that is manufactured prior to market approval for that product

candidate

internal and external costs associated with our regulatory compliance and quality assurance functions

including the costs of outside consultants and contractors that assist in the process of submitting and

maintaining regulatory filings and

overhead costs including allocated facility and related expenses

49



Clinical Trials

We accrue and expense costs for clinical trial activities performed by third parties including clinical research

organizations and clinical investigators based upon estimates made as of the reporting date of the work completed

through the reporting date as percentage of the total work contracted for under our agreements with such third parties

We make our estimates at the end of each reporting period after discussion with internal personnel and outside service

providers and thorough evaluation as to progress or stage of completion of trials or services as of the end of each

reporting period On periodic basis we adjust our estimated clinical trial costs to reflect actual expenses incurred to

date Due to the nature of the estimation of clinical trial costs we can not assure you that we will not make changes to

our estimates in the future as we become aware of additional information about the status or conduct of clinical trials

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 we adopted the provisions of SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payments In March

2005 the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin or SAB No 107

relating to SFAS No l23R We have applied the provisions of SAB No 107 for which the simplified method of

determining the expected term of an option has been extended by SAB No 110 in our adoption of SFAS

No 23R Under SPAS No 23R stock-based awards including stock options are recorded at fair value as of

the grant date and recognized to expense over the employees requisite service period generally the vesting

period which we have elected to amortize on straight-line basis Because non-cash stock compensation

expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest it has been reduced by an estimate for future forfeitures

SFAS No 23R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent

periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates We adopted the provisions of SFAS No 123R using the

prospective transition method Under the prospective transition method beginning January 2006

compensation cost recognized includes compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to but not

yet vested as of December 31 2005 based on the intrinsic value in accordance with the provisions of APB

No 25 and compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to December 31 2005 based on

the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No 123R All awards granted

modified or settled after the date of adoption are accounted for using the measurement recognition and

attribution provisions of SFAS No 123R We have elected to use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to

estimate the fair value of stock options and significant judgment is required on the part of management in

determining the
proper assumptions used in this model The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option

valuation model include the risk free interest rate expected term expected volatility and dividend yield We base

our assumptions on historical data where available However these assumptions consist of estimates of future

market conditions which are inherently uncertain and therefore subject to managements judgment See Note

of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report for further detail

Estimation of Fair Value of Warrants to Purchase Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

We accounted for warrants to purchase redeemable convertible preferred stock pursuant to the FASB Staff

Position No 150-5 Issuers Accounting under Statement No 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar

Instruments on Shares that are Redeemable or FSP No 150-5 which required us to classify these warrants as

current liabilities and to adjust the value of these warrants to their fair value at the end of each reporting period

We estimated the fair value of these warrants at the respective balance sheet dates using the Black-Scholes option

valuation model based on the estimated market value of the underlying redeemable convertible preferred stock at

the valuation measurement date the remaining contractual term of the warrant risk-free interest rates and

expected dividends on and expected volatility of the price of the underlying redeemable convertible preferred

stock These estimates especially the market value of the underlying redeemable convertible preferred stock and

the expected volatility are highly judgmental At the time of adoption of FSP No 150-5 in 2005 we recorded.i i-PJVUU iUl L1 LU11IUId1IV 111 UI L11I L11cu1g Ill dLt..UU111II1 JJl111L1pI LU 1I1LL iiic LU111U1dLIV ill

estimated fair value of these warrants as of that date We recorded $58000 of other income for the decrease in

fair value for the remainder of 2005 and $3.3 million of other expense for the year ended December 31 2006 to
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50



Upon the closing of our initial public offering or IPO on May 2007 all outstanding warrants to purchase

shares of preferred stock were converted to warrants to purchase shares of our common stock and as result are

no longer subject to FSP No 150-5 The then-current aggregate fair value of these warrants of approximately

$426000 was reclassified from liabilities to additional paid-in capital component of stockholders equity

deficit in the second quarter of 2007 and we have ceased to record any further periodic fair value adjustments

We recorded $360000 of other income for the year ended December 31 2007 to reflect decreases in the

estimated fair value of all preferred stock warrants

Results of Operations

Our research and development expenses consist of internal and external costs Our internal costs are

primarily employee salaries and benefits contract employee expense non-cash stock compensation expense

allocated facility and other overhead costs Our external costs are primarily expenses related to the development

of product candidates including formulation development manufacturing process development non-clinical

studies clinical trial costs such as the cost of clinical research organizations and clinical investigators and costs

associated with preparation and filing of regulatory submissions

Since our inception Qutenza has accounted for in excess of 90% of our external research and development

expenses although Qutenza has been declining as percentage of our external research and development

expenses in recent years due to the completion of clinical studies in Qutenza and the relative increase in spending

related primarily to our NGX-1998 development program Specifically in the years ended December 31 2008

2007 and 2006 our external research and development costs totaled $6.9 million $16.7 million and

$14.6 million respectively and of these amounts 84% 92% and 94% respectively were incurred in programs

related to Qutenza We commence tracking the separate external costs of project when we determine that

project has reasonable chance of entering clinical development We use our internal research and development

resources across several projects and many resources are not attributable to specific projects Accordingly we do

not account for our internal research and development costs on project basis However over time we believe

that our internal costs are expended on our development projects generally in proportion to our external

development costs for such project relative to total external development costs

The process of conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials necessary to obtain FDA approvals is costly

and time consuming The probability of success for each product candidate and clinical trial may be affected by

variety of factors including among others patient enrollment manufacturing capabilities successful clinical

results our funding and competitive and commercial viability As result of these and other factors we are unable

to determine the duration and completion costs of current or future clinical stages of our product candidates or when

or to what extent we will generate revenues from commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates

Currently we are primarily focused on completing the development through regulatory approval of our lead

product candidate Qutenza for patients with PHN in the United States and for patients with peripheral neuropathic

pain conditions in the European Union Our MAA which was filed with the EMEA received in March 2009

positive opinion recommending the approval for the use of Qutenza for peripheral neuropathic pain in non-diabetic

adults either alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain We are currently awaiting the

European Commissions decision on the CHMP opinion process which normally takes approximately 60 to 90

days We also submitted an NDA in the United States for Qutenza for the management of pain associated with PHN

in 2008 Our NDA has been given PDUFA date of August 16 2009 at which time we would anticipate receiving

either an approval letter or complete response letter from the FDA We anticipate that our overall research and

development expenses excluding non-cash stock-based compensation expense will be consistent or possibly less

than that experienced in recent quarters and will remain at those levels until we attain additional funding to support

further development activities in Qutenza NGX- 1998 and our other development programs

Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits professional fees related

to our administrative finance human resource legal and information technology functions marketing expenses

costs associated with our status as public company and patent costs In addition general and administrative

expenses include allocated facility basic operational and support costs and insurance costs We anticipate that
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our general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars and also as percentage of total

expenses over the next several years if we obtain additional capital These increases are likely to be attributable

to increasing marketing activities in anticipation of and upon receipt of required regulatory approvals the costs

of hiring and deploying sales force in the United States to support commercial launch of our product should

we achieve FDA approval and the costs of being public company as well as the need to add additional

personnel in all of the key functional areas that support growth of our general operations including accounting

and finance legal and human resources

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2008 and 2007

Year Ended December 31
Increase Incase

2008 2007 Decrease Decrease

in thousands except percentages

Research and development expenses $16104 $25321 $9217 36%
General and administrative

expenses 10182 7455 2727 37%

Interest income 1057 1673 616 37%
Interest

expense 792 1219 427 35%
Other income expense net 14 366 380 104%

Research and Development expenses Research and development expenses decreased approximately $9.2

million or 36% to $16.1 million in the year ended December 31 2008 from $25.3 million for the same period in

2007 The year over year change was attributable to in part decision to reduce our non-clinical and clinical

development expenses
related both to potential label expansion of Qutenza as well as our other product candidate

programs This was due to our desire to preserve
cash resources to support our regulatory submissions

processes

in both the United States and the European Union and to devote resources to certain pre-commercialization

activities Specifically our research and development expenses
declined as result of $7.8 million decrease in

clinical study related costs associated with Qutenza During 2007 we were conducting two Phase clinical trials

whereas we completed our most recent Phase clinical trial in the first half of 2008 Also contributing to the year

over year change was $0.9 million decrease related to manufacturing costs in support of Qutenza In 2007 our

manufacturing costs were primarily attributed to manufacturing development activities including validation of

our active pharmaceutical ingredient or API manufacturing processes to support our MAA submission in the

third quarter of 2007 and manufacturing costs associated with support of our two Phase clinical trials whereas

in 2008 there was lower level of activity in these areas Additionally there was $0.3 million decrease in

external regulatory expenses resulting from the recognition of our MAA filing fees in the third quarter of 2007

Additional decreases included $0.3 million reduction in spending related to NGX-1998 which was primarily

driven by the completion of IND-enabling non-clinical toxicology studies in 2007 $0.2 reduction in external

quality assurance costs as result of lower level of clinical trial activity in 2008 and $0.1 million reduction in

non-cash stock based compensation expense These decreases were partially offset by $0.7 million increase in

spending related to our manufacturing support infrastructure and increased staffing within the regulatory and

quality assurance functions to support our regulatory submissions and prepare for potential commercial launch of

our lead product candidate if marketing approval is attained

General and Administrative expenses General and administrative
expenses

increased approximately $2.7

million or 37% to $10.2 million in the year ended December 31 2008 from $7.5 million for the same period in

2007 The year over year change was due to $1.2 million increase in spending for pre-commercialization

activities such as medical education marketing materials development and work in support of our pricing and

reimbursement strategies Also contributing to the year over year change was $0.8 million increase in general

..1 .1- -.f .._ -.--..-uu au111I1I11aL1y cu iiia u11a iiipiuyc iciatu cpcic iU1L ii au 1u1Iau iii iaiiiuia 111 uppu11 UI

being public company and in support of pre-commercialization activities and $0.4 million increase in

allocated overhead costs related to the move of our corporate headquarters to San Mateo California in October
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directors and officers insurance expense professional fees and other public company costs These increases

were partially offset by $0.1 million decrease in non-cash stock based compensation expense

Interest income Interest income decreased approximately $0.6 million or 37% to $1.1 million in 2008

from $1.7 million in 2007 This decrease was primarily attributable to decrease in the rate of return on our

invested assets as rates declined in the market in general and as we moved our invested assets to investments of

lower relative risk in light of events in the credit markets The decrease in our interest income was somewhat

limited due to the fact that we had higher average investment balance during 2008 as compared to 2007

Interest expense Interest expense decreased approximately $0.4 million or 35% to $0.8 million in 2008

from $1.2 million in 2007 This decrease was related to the reduction in the outstanding principal balance of

notes payable as result of the scheduled repayment of principal on those notes payable

Other income expense net Other income expense net decreased approximately $0.4 million to less than

$0.1 million in expense in 2008 from $0.4 million in income in 2007 The other income amount of $0.4 million

in the 2007 period was attributable to decline in the fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability Due to

the conversion of all outstanding shares of preferred stock into common stock in connection with our IPO in the

second quarter of 2007 these warrants became exercisable for common stock were reclassified to stockholders

equity and are no longer required to be recorded at fair value at each reporting date We performed final

remeasurement in the period ended June 30 2007 and have ceased to record any further periodic fair value

adjustments

Comparison of Years Ended December 31 2007 and 2006

Year Ended December31
___________________________ Increase Increase

2007 2006 Decrease Decrease

in thousands except percentages

Research and development expenses $25321 $20919 $4402 21%

General and administrative expenses 7455 6110 1345 22%

Interest income 1673 719 954 133%

Interest expense 1219 563 656 117%

Other income expense net 366 3272 3638 111%

Research and Development expenses Research and development expenses increased approximately $4.4

million or 21% to $25.3 million in the year ended December 31 2007 from $20.9 million for the same period in

2006 The year over year change was primarily attributable to $1.8 million increase in clinical and

manufacturing related costs associated with Qutenza The increase in clinical costs was due to the size and
scope

of our Phase studies conducted in 2007 compared to those conducted in 2006 The increase in manufacturing

costs was primarily related to the development activities that were performed in support of our MAA filing in the

third quarter of 2007 and preparation for an NDA filing in 2008 Also contributing to the year over year change

was $1.8 million increase in regulatory and quality assurance expenses related to an increase in staffing and

consulting in support of the MAA filing filing fees payable to the EMEA and preparation for an NDA filing in

2008 $0.8 million increase in development work related to new product areas including conducting toxicology

work in support of our planned IND filing for NGX- 1998 as well as research in support of our new product

initiatives and $0.3 million increase related to allocated facilities charges in connection with the move of our

corporate headquarters to San Mateo California in 2007 Non-cash stock based compensation expense

contributed $0.2 million to the increase in research and development expenses These increases were partially

offset by $0.6 million decrease in nonclinical costs associated with Qutenza as the majority of our nonclinical

activities for our lead product candidate were completed in 2006

General and Administrative expenses General and administrative
expenses

increased approximately $1.3

million or 22% to $7.5 million in the year ended December 31 2007 from $6.1 million for the same period in

2006 The
year over year change was due to $1.1 million increase in marketing expenses related to consulting
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and analysis in support of our pricing and reimbursement strategies and other pre-commercialization market

research and other pre-launch activities as well as costs associated with our efforts to build out our commercial

infrastructure Additional increases included $1.0 million increase in general and administrative employee

related expenses and board compensation expense resulting from infrastructure development and the initiation of

our board compensation program upon completion of our IPO respectively In addition as result of our IPO

and costs attendant to being public company there was $1.6 million increase in professional and corporate

fees including legal and accounting fees public company directors and officers insurance consulting fees and

costs associated with the move of our corporate headquarters to San Mateo California in 2007 These increases

were partially offset by $2.3 million decrease in non-cash stock based compensation expense primarily due to

the cessation of variable accounting for stock-based awards upon the forgiveness of certain notes payable in

January 2007

Interest income Interest income increased approximately $1.0 million or 133% to $1.7 million in the year

ended December 31 2007 from $0.7 million for the same period in 2006 The
year over year change was

primarily attributable to an increase in invested assets due to both the completion of our IPO on May 2007 as

well as the exercise of preferred stock warrants in the first quarter of 2007 Also contributing to the
year over

year change in interest income although to lesser extent was an increase in the rate of return on invested

assets

Interest expense Interest expense increased approximately $0.7 million or 117% to $1.2 million in the
year

ended December 31 2007 The increase was related to our borrowing total of approximately $10.0 million

under certain notes payable in July and September 2006 The notes were outstanding for the entire year ended

December 31 2007 which resulted in higher interest expense in 2007 compared to 2006

Other income expense net Other income expense net increased approximately $3.6 million or 111%

to $0.4 million in income in the year ended December 31 2007 from $3.3 million in expense in the same period

in 2006 The other expense of $3.3 million in 2006 was primarily attributable to the increase in fair value of our

preferred stock warrant liability The other income of $0.4 million in 2007 was primarily attributable to

subsequent decline in the fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability in 2007 Due to the conversion of all

outstanding shares of preferred stock into common stock in connection with our IPO in the second quarter of

2007 these warrants became exercisable for common stock and are no longer required to be recorded at fair

value at each reporting date We performed final remeasurement in the period ended June 30 2007 and have

ceased to record any further periodic fair value adjustments

Accretion of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Our redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding prior to our initial public offering was redeemable

________ at the request of the holders on or after June 30 2008 We accreted the carrying value of the preferred stock

issuances to the redemption amount using the effective interest method through periodic charges to additional

paid-in capital Upon completion of our initial public offering on May 2007 our preferred stock converted to

common stock and the carrying value of our preferred stock was reclassified to common stock and additional

paid-in capital

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception through December 31 2008 we have financed our operations primarily through private

placements and public offering of our equity securities and to lesser extent through debt facilities Through

Lecember ii zUUo we nave receiveu approximately 1D5 million rrom tne saie or our equity securities net or

issuance costs On May 2007 we completed an initial public offering of our common stock which resulted in

net cash proceeds after deducting total expenses including underwriting discounts and commissions and other-

offering related expenses of approximately $38.1 million On December 28 2007 we completed the first closing
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of private placement of our common stock and warrants resulting in net cash proceeds of $21.5 million and on

January 2008 we completed the second and final closing of this private placement of our common stock and

warrants resulting in net cash proceeds of $2.3 million

As of December 31 2008 we had approximately $24.5 million in cash cash equivalents and short-term

investments and working capital of $19.1 million Our cash and investment balances are typically held in

variety of interest bearing instruments including corporate bonds commercial paper money market funds and

obligations of U.S government agencies Cash in excess of immediate operational requirements is invested in

accordance with our investment policy primarily with view to liquidity and capital preservation Further to

reduce portfolio risk our investment policy specifies concentration limit of 10% in any one issuer or group of

issuers of corporate bonds or commercial paper at the time of purchase Recent events in the credit markets have

caused liquidity crisis in most credit facilities including mortgage-backed securities and auction-rate securities

We do not hold any auction rate securities or mortgage-backed securities In response to broad based tightening

of credit and worsening economic environment in the fourth quarter and to protect the principal balances and

maintain liquidity of our investments we have over time converted all of our investment holdings into U.S

Treasury or money market funds consisting of only U.S Treasury securities as of December 31 2008 Our sales

of investments in other than U.S Treasury securities were generally conducted at or near cost however certain

individual investments were sold at either gain or loss that were not material individually or in the aggregate

While we have resumed investing in commercial paper in 2009 these investments have been limited to securities

that are guaranteed in full by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation through the Temporary Liquidity

Guarantee Program

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $27.2 million $28.7 million and $22.3 million in

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Net cash used in each of these periods was primarily result of external

research and development expenses internal personnel costs associated with our research and development

programs and infrastructure costs supporting our research and development activities Included in net cash used

in operating activities are net changes in assets and liabilities affecting cash including significant reductions in

accounts payable and accrued expenses in 2008 due to generally lower level of research and development

activity in 2008 the timing of research and development activities and the timing of our payments to our

suppliers vendors and employees

Net cash provided by investing activities was approximately $7.8 million in 2008 and net cash used in

________
investing activities was approximately $19.2 million and $0.1 million in 2007 and 2006 respectively Investing

________
activities consisted primarily of the purchase sale and maturity of marketable securities and to lesser extent the

purchase of capital equipment The net cash provided by investing activities in 2008 reflected maturities and ________
sales of marketable securities in excess of the amount purchased during this period as we continued our efforts to

reduce the relative risk of our investment portfolio Changes in restricted cash resulted from the establishment in
______

2007 and subsequent reduction in 2008 related to required collateral on our line of credit in connection with our ______

operating lease in San Mateo California Net cash used in investing activities was significantly higher in 2007
______

compared to 2006 due to the investment of net proceeds from financing activities Purchases of property and

equipment increased in 2007 due to our relocating our corporate headquarters in September 2007 We expect that

property and equipment expenditures may increase if our NDA for Qutenza is approved by the FDA Such
________

increase is expected to relate to the capital needs for infrastructure to support commercial operations ________

Net cash used in financing activities was approximately $1.6 million in 2008 and net cash provided by

financing activities was approximately $67.4 million and $24.3 million in 2007 and 2006 respectively Financing

activities consisted primarily of the sales of our common stock and warrants and the exercise of stock options in

2008 offset by principal repayments on our venture loan financing arrangements In 2007 financing activities

consisted primarily of our IPO private placement of our common stock and warrants and the exercise of

warrants underlying our preferred stock partially offset by principal repayments on our venture loan financing

arrangements In 2006 financing activities consisted of the sale of equity securities including common and

preferred stock and the exercise of options and warrants underlying these securities as well as proceeds received

from our venture loan financing arrangements partially offset by principal repayments on such loans
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Future minimum payments under all noncancelable lease obligations and payments under our venture loan

agreement are as follows as of December 31 2008 in thousands

Operating Notes

Year Ended December 31 Leases Payable

2009 457 $3095

2010 581 193

2011 634

2012 391

2013 15
______

$2078 3288

Less amounts representing interest 183

$3105

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with clinical research organizations and clinical

investigators for third party manufacturing and formulation development and increasingly with organizations

that are supporting our pre-commercialization activities among others These contracts generally provide for

termination with notice and therefore we believe that our noncancelable obligations under these agreements are

not material

In October 2000 and as amended we licensed certain patents from the University of California for high-

concentration capsaicin for neuropathic pain Under the terms of this license agreement we are required to pay

royalties on net sales of the licensed product up to maximum of $1000000 per annum as well as percentage

of upfront and milestone payments resulting from sublicense of our rights under the agreement

In January 2007 we entered into Commercial Supply and License Agreement with LTS Lohman

Therapie-Systeme AG or LTS to manufacture commercial and clinical supply of Qutenza which is currently

being evaluated for marketing approval in both the United States and European Union Under the terms of the

agreement we are required to pay transfer price for product purchased under the agreement as well as royalty

on net sales of product purchased under such agreement Additionally upon first market approval of Qutenza we

are required to make one time milestone payment of 100000

Our future capital uses and requirements depend on numerous forward-looking factors These factors

include but are not limited to the following

________ the costs and timing of seeking regulatory approvals

the conduct of manufacturing activities including process development and manufacture of clinical

product supply and potentially commercial product supply

_________ the scope and cost of pre-commercial activities

our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations including licensing and other

arrangements that we have or may establish

the costs of establishing sales and marketing infrastructure distribution capabilities and potentially

sales force

the costs and timing of any post-approval regulatory commitments

the progress of our development programs including the number size and scope of clinical trials and

non-clinical development

the success of the commercialization of our products

the costs involved in enforcing or defending patent claims or other intellectual property rights and

the extent to which we acquire or invest in other products technologies and businesses
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At December 31 2008 we had approximately $24.5 million in cash cash equivalents and short-term

investments and the balance of our notes payable totaled approximately $3.1 million During the three months

ended December 31 2008 we used total of approximately $5.3 million in operating activities and

approximately $1.0 million in the repayment of notes payable We currently anticipate that our cash uses will

generally remain at these levels or less until such time as we are able to secure additional funding to increase our

investment in pre-commercialization activities and advance our development programs As result we anticipate

that our existing cash and investments will be sufficient to meet our projected operating requirements through at

least December 31 2009 Additionally should we achieve market approval in the United States and additional

resources become available we expect that our cash uses will increase to support additional pre-launch activities

as well as launch related activities

To date we have incurred recurring net losses and negative cash flows from operations Until we can

generate significant cash from our operations if ever we expect to continue to fund our operations with existing

cash resources generated from the proceeds of offerings of our equity securities as well as potentially through

strategic collaboration agreements debt financing or the sale of other equity securities However we may not be

successful in obtaining collaboration agreements or in receiving milestone or royalty payments under those

agreements In addition we cannot be sure that our existing cash and investment resources will be adequate or

that additional financing will be available when needed or that if available financing will be obtained on terms

favorable to us or our stockholders Having insufficient funds may require us to further delay scale back or

eliminate some or all of our development programs relinquish some or even all rights to product candidates at an

earlier stage of development or negotiate less favorable terms than we would otherwise choose Failure to obtain

adequate financing also may adversely affect the launch of our product candidates if approved for marketing or

our ability to continue in business If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities substantial dilution to

existing stockholders would likely result If we raise additional funds by incurring debt financing the terms of

the debt may involve significant cash payment obligations as well as covenants and specific financial ratios that

may restrict our ability to operate our business

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

Since inception we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements including the use of structured

finance special purpose entities or variable interest entities

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Not Yet Adopted

In December 2007 the Emerging Issues Task Force or EITF issued Issue 07-1 Accounting for

Collaborative Arrangements or EITF 07-1 which applies to collaborative
arrangements where no separate legal

entity exists and in which the parties are active participants and are exposed to significant risks and rewards that

depend on the success of the activity This issue among other things requires certain income statement

presentation of transactions with third parties and of payments between parties to the collaborative arrangement

along with disclosure about the nature and
purpose

of the arrangement The provisions of EITF 07-1 are effective

for fiscal
years beginning on or after December 15 2008 We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption

of EITF 07-1 on our consolidated financial statements

Adopted in 2008

In June 2007 the EITF issued Issue No 07-3 Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods

or Services To Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities or EITF 07-3 which concluded that

nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and

development activities should be deferred and capitalized The capitalized amounts should be expensed as the

related goods are delivered or services are performed Such capitalized amounts should be charged to expense if

57



expectations change such that the goods or services will not be delivered The provisions of EITF 07-3 are

effective for new contracts entered into during fiscal years beginning after December 15 2007 The consensus

may not be applied to earlier periods and early adoption is not permitted We adopted EITF 07-3 on January

2008 The adoption of EITF 07-3 did not have material impact on our financial position and results of

operations

We adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards or SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements or SFAS No 157 effective January

2008 SFAS No 157 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value under generally

accepted accounting principles and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements Fair value is defined

under SFAS No 157 as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability

an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction

between market participants on the measurement date The standard describes fair value hierarchy based on

three levels of inputs of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable that may be

used to measure fair value which are the following

Level IQuoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level that are observable either directly or

indirectly such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices in markets that are not active or

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term

of the assets or liabilities

Level 3-Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to

the fair value of the assets or liabilities

The adoption of this statement did not have material impact on our consolidated results of operations and

financial condition

Effective January 2008 we adopted SPAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities or SFAS No 159 SFAS No 159 allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect fair value

for the initial and subsequent measurement for specified financial assets and financial liabilities We did not elect

the fair value option under this Statement

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

Interest Rate and Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk is confined to our cash cash equivalents and short term investments which have

maturities of less than one year The goal of our investment policy is primarily liquidity and capital preservation

while attempting to maximize the income we receive without assuming significant risk To achieve these

objectives our investment policy allows us to maintain portfolio of cash equivalents and short term investments

in variety of securities including U.S government agencies corporate bonds commercial paper and money

market funds Further to reduce portfolio risk through diversification our investment policy specifies

JjJJ7 concentration limit of 10% in any one issuer or group of issuers of corporate bonds or commercial paper at the

time of purchase Our cash and investments as of December 31 2008 consisted of U.S Treasury securities and

money market funds

At December 31 2008 we did not hold any auction rate securities which have experienced liquidity

problems due to failed auctions The fair value and liquidity of our investments has not been materially impacted

by the general events in the credit market We believe that none of our investments have been impaired during

the recent sub-prime mortgage market crisis although there can be no assurance that there wont be any future

impairment of our investments if the sub-prime market crisis spreads to other sectors of the economy or if credit

markets deteriorate further
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If interest rates rise the market value of our investments may decline which could result in realized loss if

we are forced to sell an investment before its scheduled maturity hypothetical increase in interest rates by 25

basis points would not result in material decrease in the fair value of our net investment position Additionally

as our debt facilities bear interest at fixed rates we are not subject to market risk with respect to this debt

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We have recorded liability related to filing fees associated with our MAA filing which occurred in the

three months ended September 30 2007 that will be payable upon either our withdrawal of the MAA or upon the

European Commissions final decision regarding our MAA This obligation which is payable in Euros creates

exposure to changes in that exchange rate However the risks related to foreign currency exchange rates are not

expected to be material to our consolidated financial position or results of operations

Our third party manufacturers including the manufacturer of our active ingredient trans-capsaicin the

manufacturer of Qutenza and the manufacturer of our cleansing gel are foreign manufacturers As result we

may experience changes in product supply costs as result of changes in exchange rates between the U.S dollar

and the local currency where the manufacturing activities occur
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

NeurogesX Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NeurogesX Inc development stage

company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations

stockholders equity deficit and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31 2008

and for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008 These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement We were not engaged to perform an

audit of the Companys internal control over financial reporting Our audits included consideration of internal

control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on

test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material
respects the

consolidated financial position of NeurogesX Inc development stage company at December 31 2008 and

2007 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31 2008 and for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto California

March 20 2009
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share and per share data

December 31

2008 2007

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
10435 31478

Short-term investments 14071 21373

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 412 585

Restricted cash 40

Total current assets 24958 53436

Property and equipment net 468 453

Restricted cash 160 240

Other assets
56

Total assets 25590 54185

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
370 1712

Accrued compensation 1039 680

Accrued research and development 1067 1198

Other accrued expenses
540 1848

Notes payablecurrent portion 2833 3859

Total current liabilities 5849 9297

Non-current liabilities

Notes payablenon-current portion
191 3024

Deferred rent
276 156

Accrued research and developmentnon-current
347

Total non-current liabilities 467 3527

Commitments and contingencies Note

Stockholders equity

Common stock $0.00 par value

100000000 shares authorized at December 31 2008 and 2007 17568402 and

_______ 17096806 shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively
18 17

Additional paid-in capital
209370 205417

Deferred stock-based compensation 15
Accumulated other comprehensive income 32 51

Deficit accumulated during the development stage 190144 164109

Total stockholders equity 19274 41361

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 25590 54185

See accompanying notes
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except share and per share data

Period from

May 28 1998

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2008

Operating expenses

Research and development1 16104 25321 20919 111492

General and administrative2 10182 7455 6110 39055

Total operating expenses 26286 32776 27029 150547

Loss from operations 26286 32776 27029 150547

Interest income 1057 1673 719 4972

Interest
expense 792 1219 563 2718

Other income expense net 14 366 3272 2947

Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle 26035 31956 30145 151240

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 32

Net loss 26035 31956 30145 151272

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
__________

4626 11293 38872

Net loss attributable to common stockholders 26035 36582 41438 $190 144

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to

common stockholders 1.49 4.06 $116.20

Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss
per

share attributable to common stockholders 17519415 9017627 356600

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense

included in operating expenses

Research and development 745 893 644

General and administrative 755 869 3199

1500 1762 3843

See accompanying notes
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT
in thousands except share and per share data

Deficit

Accumulated Accumulated Total

Common Stock
Additional Deferred Other During the Stockholders

Paid-in Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Equity

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Income Loss Stage Deficit

Issuance of common stock to founders for

cash at $0015 per share in July 1998 199994
Issuance of common stock for cash and

services at $0.90 per share in June 2000 20000
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock

Net loss from May 28 1998 inception to

December 31 2000

Balances at December 31 2000 219994
Issuance of common stock for cash at $0.90

per share in April 2001 3833
Issuance of warrants in connection with loan

in June 2001

Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock

Net loss

Balances at December31 2001 223827

Issuance of common stock to employees upon
exercise of stock options at $0.90-s 1.20 per

share for cash 4213

Issuance of common stock upon payment of

note receivable at $0.90 per share 6666
Issuance of warrants in connection with loan

in May 2002

Deferred stock-based compensation relating to

variable accounting of stock options and

restricted common stock

Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants and variable

accounting of stock options and restricted

common stock

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock

Net loss

Balances at December 31 2002 234706
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of

stock options for cash at $0.90-$1.20 per

$3

19

22

14

41

12

75

142

19

378 378

1115 1115

1493 1471

14

793 793
6225 6225

8511 8470

12

75

3234 3234
7908 7908

19653 19515

25

188

3498 3498
13400 13400

536551 536196

25

29 29

188

share 3679
Reclassification of unvested common stock at

$1.20 per share 379
Issuance of common stock upon payment of

note receivable 19998
Deferred stock-based compensation relating to

variable accounting of stock options and

restricted common stock

Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants and variable

accounting of stock options and restricted

common stock

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock

Netloss

Balances at December 31 2003 carried

forward 258004 $388
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICITContinued
in thousands except share and per share data

Balances at December 31 2003 brought

forward 258004
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of

stock options for cash at $0.90-$6.00 per

share 8217
Issuance of common stock at $1.20 per share

upon vesting of
early

exercised options 245

Issuance of common stock upon payment of

notes receivable at $0.90-$1 .20 per share 37333
Shares repurchased upon rescission of stock

option exercise at $2.25 per share 3333
Deferred stock-based compensation related to

variable accounting of stock options and

restricted common stock

Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants and variable

accounting of stock options and restricted

common stock

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock

Comprehensive loss

Unrealized gain/loss on investments

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balances at December 31 2004

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of

stock options for cash at $1.95-$2.55 per

share

Issuance of common stock at $0.90 per share

upon vesting of early exercised stock

options

Reclassification of unvested common stock at

$2.25 per share

Registration cost of additional option pool

shares

Issuance of common stock upon payment of

note receivable at $0.90 per share

Deferred stock-based compensation related to

variable accounting of stock options and

restricted common stock

Deferred stock-based compensation related to

stock options granted below re-assessed fair

value of common stock

Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensation in connection with employee

terminations

Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock

Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants and variable

accounting of stock options and restricted

common stock

Comprehensive loss

Unrealized gain/loss on investments

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balances at December 31 2005 carried

forward 319065

Deficit

Accumulated Accumulated Total

Additional Deferred Other During the Stockholders
Common Stock

Paid-in Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Equity

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Income Loss Stage Deficit

388 33

14

37

100 100

1401

1932 133

$36551 $36196

14

37

1401

6782 6782

19 19
21343 21343

_______
21362

19 64677 62897

19

8269 8269

326

18 18

13143 13143

________
13125

$86089 $84580

20

300466

8533 19

66

3333

13333 20

107 107

67 67

326

$1589 79
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICITContinued
in thousands except share and per share data

Deficit

Accumulated Accumulated Total

Common Stock
Additional Deferred Other During the Stockholders

_______________ Paid-in Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Equity

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Income Loss Stage Deficit

Balances at December31 2005 brought

forward 319065 $1589 $79 86089 84580
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of

stock options for cash at $1.95-$4.05 per

share 25483 57 57

Registration cost of additional option pooi

shares

Issuance of common stock at $l.20-$3.00 per

share upon vesting of early
exercised stock

options 1942

Reclassification of unvested common stock at

$3.00 per share 3512 11 11
Issuance of common stock upon payment of

notes receivable at $0.90-$ 1.20 per share 43331 58 59

Deferred stock-based compensation related to

variable accounting of stock options and

restricted comnson stock 14 14

Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensation in connection with employee
terminations

Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation 12 12

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

stock 11293 11293
Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants and variable

accounting of stock options and restricted

common stock 3516 3516

Stock-based compensation expense under

SFAS No 123R 315 315

Comprehensive loss

Unrealized gain/loss on investments

Net loss 30145 30145

Total comprehensive loss

_________
30144

Balances at December 31 2006 carried

forward 386309 $5505 $45 $127527 $l22066
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICITContinued
in thousands except share and per share data

Deficit

Accumulated Accumulated Total

Common Stock
Additional Deferred Other During the Stockholders

________________ Paid-in Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Equity

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Income Loss Stage Deficit

Balances at December 31 2006 brought

forward 386309 5505 $45 $127527 $122066
Issuance of common stock upon exercise

of stock options for cash at $0.90
$3.75 per share 27476 65 65

Issuance of common stock at $1.20-$3.75

per share upon vesting of
early exercised

stock options 9834 18 18

Issuance of common stock under the

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 15367 90 90

Issuance of common stock in an initial

public offering for cash at $11.00 per

share net of $5914 issuance costs 4000000 38081 38085
Issuance of common stock for cash at

$6.18 per share net of $1100 issuance

costs 3638741 17973 17976
Issuance of warrants to purchase common

stock to investors at $0.1 25 per share

including fair value 3547 3547
Conversion of preferred stock to common

stock in connection with initial public

offeringinMay2007 8722013 138115 138124
Issuance of common stock upon

forgiveness of notes receivable at

$0.90$2.25 per share 263733 379 379

Issuance of common stock to consultant for

service 33333 291 291

Deferred stock-based compensation related

to variable accounting of stock options

and restricted common stock 12 12

Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensation in connection with

employee terminations

Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation

Accretion of redeemable convertible

preferred stock 4626 4626
Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants and

variable accounting of stock options and

restricted common stock 88 88
Stock-based compensation expense under

SFAS No.123R 1462 1462

Comprehensive loss

Unrealized gainlloss on

investments 51 51

Net loss 31956 31956

Total comprehensive loss 31905

Balances at December 31 2007 carried

forward 17096806 17 $205417 $l5 51 $164109 41361
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICITContinued
in thousands except share and per share data

Balances at December 31 2007 brought

forward 17096806
Issuance of common stock upon exercise

of stock options for cash at $0.90

$3.75 per share 36706

Issuance of common stock at $2.25$3.75

per share upon vesting of
early

exercised

stock options 1503

Issuance of common stock under the

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 51217

Issuance of common stock for cash at

$6.18 per share net of $100 issuance

costs

Issuance of warrants to purchase common

stock to investors at $0 125 per share

including fair value

Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensation in connection with

employee terminations

Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation

Compensation expense relating to stock

options granted to consultants

Stock-based compensation expense under

SFAS No 123R
Comprehensive loss

Unrealized gain/loss on

investments

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Balances at December31 2008 17568402
________ ________

LL CLLAAJIIIJJU11J1115
11e0

Deficit

Accumulated Accumulated Total

Additional Deferred Other During the Stockholders
Common Stock

__________________ Paid-in Stock-Based Comprehensive Development Equity

Shares Amount Capital Compensation Income Loss Stage Deficit

17 $205417 $15 51 $164109 41361

86 86

94 94

382170 1847 1848

434 434

1490 1490

19 19
26035 26035

26054

$18 $209370 $2 $32 $190144 19274
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Period from

May 28 1998

inception to
Year Ended December 31

December 31
2008 2007 2006 2008

in thousands
Operating activities

Net loss $26035 31956 $30145 $1 51272
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 181 89 260 1546
Amortization of debt issuance costs 198 198 78 492
Amortization/accretion of investment premiums/discounts net 651 778 47 1088
Stock-based compensation 1500 1762 3843 8455
Loss on sales of short-term investments

Gain/loss on disposal of fixed assets 87

Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liability 360 3274 2888
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 173 74 257 412
Other assets 10 106 106
Accounts payable 1342 37 370
Accrued compensation 359 481 1039
Accrued research and development 478 412 424 1067
Deferred rent 144 156 300
Other accrued expenses 1326 1237 358 528

Net cash used in operating activities 27254 28654 22321 136098

Investing activities

Purchases of short-term investments 64363 53050 4949 187243
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 39360 34500 5023 141354
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 32929 32929
Change in restricted cash 40 240 200
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

Purchases of property and equipment 203 383 141 2109
Net cash provided by/used in investing activities 7765 19167 67 15261

Financing activities

Proceeds from notes payable 10000 11092
Repayment of notes payable 4015 2446 434 7988
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock net of issuance

costs 10083 14585 96187
Proceeds from issuance of warrants 14 136 150

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 2447 59618 114 62353

Net cash provided by/used in financing activities 1554 67391 24265 161794

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 21043 19570 1877 10435
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 31478 11908 10031

Cash and cash equivalents end of period $10435 31478 11908 10435

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 634 950 467 2157

Noncash investing and financilig activities

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock 4626 $11293 38872

Warrants issued in connection with preferred stock or debt financings 3539 4301

Issuance of common stock to consultant for services rendered in connection with

preferred stock financing 69 334 291

Deferred stock compensation related to variable accounting of stock options and

restricted common stock 21 14 275

Conversion of preferred stock into common stock upon IPO $138124 $138124

See accompanying notes
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company

Nature of Operation and Basis of Preparation

NeurogesX Inc the Company is biopharmaceutical company focused on developing and

commercializing novel pain management therapies The Company is assembling portfolio of pain management

product candidates based on known chemical entities to develop innovative new therapies which the Company

believes may offer substantial advantages over currently available treatment options The Companys initial

focus is on the management of chronic peripheral neuropathic pain conditions The Companys most advanced

product candidate Qutenza formerly NGX-4010 dermal patch containing high concentration of synthetic

capsaicin is designed to manage pain associated with peripheral neuropathic pain conditions

The Company submitted to the Food and Drug Administration FDA new drug application NDA
for Qutenza for the management of pain associated with postherpetic neuralgia PHN in October 2008 which

was accepted for filing by the FDA in December 2008 The Companys NDA has Prescription Drug User Fee

Act PDUFA date of August 16 2009 at which time the Company anticipates receiving either an approval

letter or complete response
letter from the FDA complete response letter may describe any activities which

may be required to gain approval or may indicate that product candidate is not approvable

In September 2007 the Company submitted marketing authorization application MAA for Qutenza

with the European Medicines Agency EMEA under the centralized procedure seeking approval of Qutenza

On March 19 2009 the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use CHMP issued positive opinion

recommending the approval of the Companys MAA for Qutenza for the treatment of peripheral neuropathic in

non-diabetic adults either alone or in combination with other medicinal products for pain The Company is

currently awaiting the European Commissions decision on the CHMP opinion process which normally takes

approximately 60 to 90 days If the European Commission issues marketing authorization in most European

Union member states product pricing for government sponsored health-care reimbursement must be negotiated or

for hospital-based products product pricing may be established directly with hospitals We believe this process

can take months or substantially longer to complete if at all

The Company was incorporated in California as Advanced Analgesics Inc on May 28 1998 and changed

its name to NeurogesX Inc in September 2000 In February 2007 the Company reincorporated into Delaware

The Company is located in San Mateo California Since its inception the Company has devoted substantially all

of its efforts to the development of Qutenza and other potential products establishing its offices recruiting

personnel performing business and financial planning and raising capital Accordingly the Company is

considered to be in the development stage The Company has not generated any revenue to date and has incurred

operating and net losses each
year

since inception in 1998

In 2008 in response to the generally weak economic conditions which the Company believes has resulted in

challenging environment for raising capital the Company has deferred further pre-clinical and clinical

development activities for all of its product candidates in order to focus its fiscal and human resources on the

prosecution of its MAA and NDA for Qutenza and on continuing support of its strategies for obtaining adequate

reimbursement for Qutenza in the United States The Company expects to re-initiate some or all of its

development programs if additional funds become available Further the Company is currently seeking

development partners for its acetaminophen and opioid prodrug product candidates The Company holds

worldwide commercial rights to all of its product candidates and is actively engaged in discussions with potential

commercial partners
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NEUROGESX INC
Development Stage Company

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT5Continued

The Company had cash cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $24.5 million at December 31
2008 which the Company believes is sufficient to fund its operations through at least December 31 2009 The

Company intends to seek additional funding through strategic alliances debt facilities or other financing vehicles

which may include the public or private sales of its equity securities

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned

subsidiary NeurogesX UK Limited which was incorporated as of June 2004 NeurogesX UK Limited was

established for the
purposes of conducting clinical trials in the UK and marketing approval submission The

subsidiary has no assets other than the initial formation capital totaling one Pound Sterling

Reverse Stock Split

On April 13 2007 the Company effected 1-for-I reverse split of its common stock All common stock

share and per share amounts have been retroactively restated to reflect the reverse stock split in the

accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes for all periods presented

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial

statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those estimates

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short Term In vestments

The Company invests its available cash balances in bank deposits money market funds U.S government
securities and other investment grade debt securities that have strong credit ratings The Company considers all

highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash

equivalents

The Company accounts for its investments in marketable securities in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 115 Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase To date

all marketable securities have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value as determined

based on quoted market prices or other observable market inputs with unrealized gains and losses reported as

component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss in stockholders equity The Company views its

available-for-sale portfolio as available for use in current operations Accordingly the Company has classified all

investments as short term

The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to

maturity Such amortization is included in interest income Realized gains and losses and declines in value

judged to be other-than-temporary for available-for-sale securities if any are included in other income
expense net and have not been significant to date Realized gains and losses are computed on specific

identification basis Interest and dividends are included in interest income
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NEUROGESX INC

Development Stage Company

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Financial Ins frunzents

The Company invests cash that is not currently being used for operational purposes in accordance with its

investment policy The policy allows for the purchase of low risk debt securities issued by U.S government

agencies and highly rated corporations subject to concentration limits of 10% of any one issuer or group of issuers

at the time of purchase with the exception of debt securities issued by U.S government agencies where the

Company is not subject to any
concentration limit The maturities of these securities on weighted-average basis

may be no longer than 12 months The Company believes that it has established guidelines for investment of its

excess cash that maintains safety and liquidity through its policies on diversification and investment maturity

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash

and cash equivalents and short term investments available for sale investment securities in high-credit quality

corporate debt and debt securities issued by the U.S government and government-sponsored enterprises The

carrying amounts of borrowings under the Companys debt facilities approximate fair value based on the current

interest rates for similarborrowing arrangements

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation is determined using

the straight-line method and recorded over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets generally three to

five years
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the lease or the useful economic life

whichever is shorter

Research and Development

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred Research and development expenses

include personnel and personnel related costs costs associated with pre-clinical and clinical development

activities such as clinical trials including amounts paid to clinical research organizations and clinical

investigators product and manufacturing costs such as process development clinical product supply costs and

the cost of commercially saleable product that is manufactured prior to market approval for that product

candidate internal and external costs associated with our regulatory compliance and quality assurance functions

including the costs of outside consultants and contractors that assist in the process
of submitting and maintaining

regulatory filings and overhead costs including allocated facility and related expenses

Clinical Trials

The Company accrues and expenses costs for clinical trial activities performed by third parties including

clinical research organizations and clinical investigators based upon estimates of the work completed over the life

of the individual study in accordance with agreements established with contract research organizations and clinical

trial sites The Company determines these estimates through discussion with internal personnel and outside service

providers as to progress or stage of completion of trials or services pursuant to contracts with numerous clinical trial

centers and clinical research organizations and the agreed upon fee to be paid for such services

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payments

In March 2005 the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB
No 107 relating to SFAS No 123R The Company has applied the provisions of SAB No 107 for which the

simplified method of determining the expected term of an option has been extended by SAB No 110 in its

adoption of SFAS No 123R Under SFAS No 123R stock-based awards including stock options are recorded
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at fair value as of the grant date and recognized to expense over the employees requisite service period

generally the vesting period which the Company has elected to amortize on straight-line basis Because

non-cash stock compensation expense
is based on awards ultimately expected to vest it has been reduced by an

estimate for future forfeitures SFAS No 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and

revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates The Company
adopted the provisions of SFAS No 123R using the prospective transition method Under the prospective

transition method beginning January 2006 compensation cost recognized includes compensation cost for

all share-based payments granted prior to but not yet vested as of December 31 2005 based on the intrinsic

value in accordance with the provisions of APB No 25 and compensation cost for all share-based payments

granted subsequent to December 31 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the

provisions of SFAS No 123R All awards granted modified or settled after the date of adoption are accounted

for using the measurement recognition and attribution provisions of SFAS No 123R The Company has elected

to use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to estimate the fair value of stock options

At December 31 2008 the Company had three share-based compensation plans which are described in

Note

Interest Expense

Interest expense is comprised of interest relating to the Companys notes payable the amortization of the

debt premium which represents the initial fair value of warrants to purchase preferred stock issued in connection

with notes payable see Note and the amortization of debt issuance costs recorded as Prepaid expenses and

other current assets and Other assets on the balance sheet

Income taxes

The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes as required by SFAS No 109

Accounting for Income Taxes SFAS No 109 and interpreted by FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxesan interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN No 48 Under this method

deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax

reporting bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be

in effect when the differences are expected to reverse Uncertain tax positions are evaluated in accordance with

FIN No 48 and if appropriate the amount of unrecognized tax benefits are recorded within deferred tax assets as

further described in Note 11 Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets

to the amounts expected to be realized Currently there is no provision for income taxes as the Company has

incurred operating losses to date

Comprehensive Loss

SFAS No 130 Reporting Comprehensive Income requires components of other comprehensive income

including gains and losses on available-for-sale investments to be included as part of total comprehensive

income loss The Company displays comprehensive loss and its components as part of the statement of

stockholders equity deficit Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and unrealized gains and losses on

available-for-sale investments for all periods presented The fluctuation in accumulated other comprehensive

income represents the net change in fair value for invested assets as result of changes in interest rates and other

factors affecting fair value and as result of sales of investments prior to their maturities The cumulative effect

of these periodic fluctuations is reflected as other comprehensive income on the Companys balance sheet
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Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period less the weighted average
unvested

common shares subject to repurchase and without consideration of common stock equivalents Diluted net loss

per
share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average

number of common share and share equivalents outstanding for the period less the weighted average
unvested

common shares subject to repurchase For purposes of this calculation warrants and options to purchase common

stock as well as preferred stock prior to the initial public offering IPO are considered to be common stock

equivalents but have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect is anti-

dilutive

Year Ended December 31

Numerator

Net loss

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Denominator

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Less Weighted-average unvested common shares subject to

repurchase __________

Denominator for basic and diluted net loss per share attributable

to common stockholders
__________ __________

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common

stockholders
___________ ___________

Historical outstanding securities not included in diluted net loss per

share attributable to common stockholders calculation

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

Options to purchase common stock

Warrants outstanding

Common stock subject to repurchase __________

Effective July 12005 the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position FSP No 150-5

issuers Accounting under Statement No 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar instruments on

Shares that are Redeemable an interpretation of SFAS No 150 Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments

with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity Pursuant to FSP No 150-5 freestanding warrants for shares

that are either puttabie or warrants for shares that are redeemable are classified as liabilities on the balance sheet

2008 2007 2006

in thousands except share and per share data

26035

26035

31956

4626

36582

30145

11293

41438

36021717520778 9020726

1363 3099 3617

17519415 9017627 356600

1.49 4.06 116.20

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Preferred Stock Warrant Liability

7825731

1392560 1132876 817234

1265846 1151195 955855

785 2289 4575

2659191 2286360 9603395
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at fair value At the end of each reporting period changes in fair value during the period are recorded as

component of other income or expense Prior to July 2005 the Company accounted for warrants for the

purchase of preferred stock under EITF Issue No 96-18 Accounting fbr Equity Instruments That Are Issued to

Other Than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services

For the year ended December 31 2006 the Company recorded approximately $3274000 of other expense for

the increase in fair value of all preferred stock warrants In January and February 2007 the Company issued total

of 13444450 shares of Series C2 preferred stock at $0.75 per share upon exercise of warrants resulting in aggregate

net cash proceeds of approximately $10083000 As result of this transaction the Company recognized

approximately $59000 as other income related to the change in fair value of the preferred stock warrant liability on

the date of the transaction and reclassified approximately $6763000 from preferred stock warrant liability to

preferred stock In May 2007 with the completion of the Companys initial public offering at which time the

preferred stock warrant liabilities were reclassified to stockholders equity deficit when the warrants were

converted to common stock warrants the Company ceased to adjust the preferred stock warrant liabilities for

changes in fair value The Company performed final remeasurement to determine the fair value of such financial

instruments immediately prior to their conversion The resulting fair value of $426000 was reclassified to

additional paid-in capital The Company recorded approximately $360000 reflected as other income for the

decrease in estimated fair value of all preferred stock warrants in the year ended December 31 2007

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Not Yet Adopted

In December 2007 the EITF issued EITF Issue 07-1 Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements EITF 07-1
which applies to collaborative arrangements where no separate legal entity exists and in which the parties are active

participants and are exposed to significant risks and rewards that depend on the success of the activity This issue

among other things requires certain income statement presentation of transactions with third parties and of payments

between parties to the collaborative arrangement along with disclosure about the nature and purpose of the

arrangement The provisions of EITF 07-1 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2008 The

Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of EITF 07-1 on its consolidated financial statements

Adopted in 2008

The Company adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement

No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 effective January 2008 SFAS No 157 defines fair

value establishes framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles and

enhances disclosures about fair value measurements Fair value is defined under SFAS No 157 as the exchange

price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most

advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the

measurement date The standard describes fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs of which the first

two are considered observable and the last unobservable that may be used to measure fair value which are the

following

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level that are observable either directly or

indirectly such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices in markets that are not active or

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term

of the assets or liabilities
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Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to

the fair value of the assets or liabilities

The adoption of this statement did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated results of

operations and financial condition

SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities SPAS No 159

became effective for the Company on January 2008 which allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect fair

value for the initial and subsequent measurement for specified financial assets and financial liabilities The

Company did not elect the fair value option under this Statement

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short Term Investments

The following are summaries of cash cash equivalents and short term investments in thousands

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

As of December 31 2008

Cash and money market funds 9933 9933

U.S Treasury securities 14541 32 14573

$24474 $32 $24506

Reported as

Cash and cash equivalents
$10435

Short-term investments 14071

$24506

As of December 31 2007

Cash and money market funds $31478 $31478

Commercial paper
10839 47 10886

Corporate debt securities 5751 5751

Asset-backed securities 4732 4736

$52800 $52 $l $52851

Reported as

Cash and cash equivalents
$31478

Short-term investments 21373

$52851

At December 31 2008 and 2007 the contractual maturities of investments held were less than one year

During the year
ended December 31 2008 the Company received approximately $32929000 in gross proceeds

from the sales of certain short-term investments in commercial paper corporate
debt and asset-backed securities

As result of these sales during the year
ended December 31 2008 the Company recognized loss consisting

of both realized gains and realized losses of approximately $8000 which was recorded in other income The

Company did not sell any of its investments prior to maturity during the year ended December 2007
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Fair Value Measurements

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 157 effective January 2008 SFAS No 157 defines

fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles and
enhances disclosures about fair value measurements Fair value is defined under SFAS No 157 as the exchange
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most

advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the

measurement date The standard describes fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs of which the first

two are considered observable and the last unobservable that may be used to measure fair value which are the

following

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level that are observable either directly or

indirectly such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices in markets that are not active or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term
of the assets or liabilities

Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to

the fair value of the assets or liabilities

In accordance with SFAS No 157 the following table
represents the Companys financial assets cash

equivalents and short-term investments measured at fair value on recurring basis and their level within the fair

value hierarchy as of December 31 2008 in thousands

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31 2008 Using

Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level Total

Components of cash equivalents and short-term investments

measured at fair value

Money market funds 9496 9496
U.S Treasury securities 14573 14573

Total financial assets measured at fair value $24069 24069

Components of cash and cash equivalents not measured at

fair value

Operating cash
437

Total cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments
$24506
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following in thousands

December 31

2008 2007

Software 103 79

Leasehold improvements
275 257

Office furniture and equipment
288 270

Research equipment

Computer equipment
499 374

1204 1019

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 736 566

Property and equipment net 468 453

Depreciation expense was $181000 $89000 and $242000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively and $1546000 for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008

Notes Payable

In July 2006 the Company entered into venture loan agreement with two venture finance institutions for

an aggregate note payable amount of $10000000 of which $5000000 was drawn in July 2006 and the

remaining $5000000 was drawn in September 2006 These notes bear interest at 12.21% and 11.75%

respectively The loan is collateralized by first priority security interest in the tangible and intangible assets of

the Company excluding intellectual property
These notes require interest only repayment for the period from

initial borrowing to October 2006 and July 2007 respectively Principal and interest repayment on the notes

commenced in November 2006 and August 2007 respectively for 30 months As of December 31 2008

outstanding principal under these notes was $3104546 debt premium related to the initial fair value of

warrants to purchase 840000 shares of Series C2 preferred stock issued in connection with the loan agreement of

$469000 was recorded Upon closing of the Companys IPO warrants to purchase 840000 shares of the

Companys preferred stock were converted into warrants to purchase 56000 shares of the Companys common

stock The initial fair value of $469000 is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the notes The

Company recognized $156000 $156000 and $78000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively as interest expense In connection with the notes payable the Company is restricted from paying

cash dividends or distributions on any equity with the exception of dividends payable solely in capital stock

Interest expense including expense associated with the valuation of warrants recognized in connection with

all loans was $792000 $1219000 and $563000 for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively and $2718000 for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008
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Principal payments due over the remaining term for notes payable are as follows in thousands

Years Ending December 31

2009 $2914

2010 191

Total principal payments due in future periods 3105

Less amounts representing unamortized debt premium associated with warrants to purchase common

stock 80

$3025

Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases its office facility and certain office equipment under operating leases The Company

relocated its corporate headquarters in September 2007 and entered into sublease agreement for its new

facility The facility consisting of approximately 26386 square feet of office space is in San Mateo California

The term of the lease commenced on September 14 2007 and expires on July 31 2012 The terms of the sublease

include base rent of approximately $2.3 million payable over the sublease term period of free rent and rent

escalation which the Company is accounting for on straight line basis over the lease term The terms of the

sublease also include tenant improvement allowance of approximately $106000 which when received will be

recorded to deferred rent and amortized over the remaining term of the lease As of December 31 2008 the

Company has recorded total of $300000 in deferred rent of which $276000 is classified as non-current

liability The Companys obligation under the sublease is secured by letter of credit in the amount of $240000

and in accordance with the provisions of the sublease agreement the Company can reduce the letter of credit if

certain conditions are met by $40000 on each of the first three anniversaries of the lease commencement date

As result of having met these conditions the Company reduced the letter of credit to $200000 at December 31

2008 of which the full amount is secured by certificate of deposit that is included in the Companys balance

sheet at December 31 2008 as restricted cash

The Company records rent expense on straight line basis over the lease term and has recorded

approximately $489000 $335000 and $210000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively and approximately $2743000 for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008

for its operating and equipment leases

Future minimum payments under all noncancelable operating lease obligations are as follows as of

December 31 2008 in thousands

Year End December 31

2009 457

2010 581

2011 634

2012 391

2013 15

Total minimum lease payments $2078
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2006 Acquisition Bonus Plan

In November 2006 and subsequently as amended the board of directors approved the 2006 Acquisition

Bonus Plan which provides for bonus payments to certain members of management in the event of change of

control The applicable provisions of the plan provide that an aggregate of the value of merger transaction

will be paid to certain members of management

Guarantees and Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain variety of

representations and warranties and generally provide for various indemnifications including indemnification

from claims resulting from clinical trial activities and intellectual property matters The Companys liability

under these agreements is unknown because it involves the potential for future claims that may be made against

the Company but have not yet been made To date the Company has not received any claims under its various

indemnification obligations However the Company may record charges in the future as result of these

indemnification obligations

The Company as permitted under Delaware law and in accordance with its bylaws indemnifies its officers

and directors for certain events or occurrences subject to certain limits while the officer or director is or was

serving at the Companys request in such capacity The Company may terminate the indemnification agreements

with its officers and directors upon 90 days written notice but termination will not affect claims for

indemnification relating to events occurring prior to the effective date of termination The maximum amount of

potential future indemnification is unlimited The Company believes the fair value of these indemnification

agreements is minimal Accordingly the Company has not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of

December 31 2008

License Agreements

In October 2000 and as amended the Company licensed certain patents from the University of California

for high-concentration capsaicin for neuropathic pain Under the terms of the agreement the Company will be

required to pay royalties on net sales of the licensed product up to maximum of $1000000 per annum as well

as percentage of upfront and milestone payments resulting from sublicense of the Companys rights under the

agreement During 2008 the Company paid $4000 to the University of California under the license agreement

In January 2007 the Company entered into Commercial Supply and License Agreement LTS
Agreement with LTS Lohman Therapie-Systeme AG LTS to manufacture commercial and clinical supply

of Qutenza the Companys lead product candidate Under the terms of the agreement the Company is required

to pay transfer price for product purchased under the agreement as well as royalty on net sales of product

purchased under the LTS Agreement Additionally upon first market approval of Qutenza the Company is

required to make one time milestone payment of 100000

Stockholders Equity

Common Stock

The Company completed its IPO and sold 4000000 shares of common stock at $11.00 per share on May
2007 Gross proceeds from the offering totaled approximately $44000000 The net offering proceeds to the

Company after deducting expenses of approximately $5914000 totaled $38086000 Upon closing of the IPO
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all of the outstanding shares of the Companys redeemable convertible preferred stock converted to 8722013

shares of the Companys common stock

On December 28 2007 the Company completed the first closing of private placement in which the

Company sold 3638741 shares of common stock at $6.18 per share and warrants at $0.125 per share to purchase

an additional 1091622 shares of its common stock The stock and warrants were offered solely to accredited

investors On January 2008 the Company completed the second closing of the private placement in which the

Company issued 382170 shares of common stock at $6.18 per share and warrants at $0125 per share to purchase

an additional 114651 shares of its common stock The warrants from both closings have term of five years

contain net-exercise provision and have an exercise price of $8.034 per share The fair value of the warrants

issued in the first closing was approximately $3411000 and the fair value of the warrants issued in the second

closing was approximately $420000 The fair value of the warrants issued in both closings was allocated from

the net proceeds of the financing and was recorded in additional paid-in capital The net cash proceeds to the

Company from both closings after deducting expenses of approximately $1195000 totaled $23805000

In connection with the Series C2 preferred stock financing and the exercise of warrants associated with the

Series C2 preferred stock offering the Company committed to issue to consultant total of 33333 shares of

common stock from November 2005 through February 2007 These shares were issued in June 2007 and the

aggregate non-cash value of approximately $291000 was recorded in additional paid-in capital

2000 Stock Incentive Plan

The Companys 2000 Stock Incentive Plan the 2000 Plan provides for the grant of incentive and

nonstatutory stock options by the board of directors to employees officers directors and consultants of the

Company Incentive stock options may be granted with exercise prices not less than estimated fair value and

nonstatutory stock options may be granted with an exercise price of not less than 85% of the estimated fair value

of the common stock on the date of grant as determined by the board of directors Options granted under the

2000 Plan expire no later than 10 years from the date of grant Options granted and shares underlying stock

purchase rights issued under the 2000 Plan vest over periods determined by the board of directors generally over

four to six years Unvested shares of common stock purchased under stock purchase rights are subject to

repurchase option by the Company upon termination of the purchasers employment or services The repurchase

right lapses over period of time as determined by the board of directors At December 31 2008 there were no

stock purchase rights outstanding subject to repurchase right by the Company For certain options vesting

accelerates upon the achievement of specified milestones The 2000 Plan terminates automatically 10 years after

its adoption by the board of directors

The 2000 Plan allows for the early exercise of stock options prior to vesting The Company has issued an

aggregate of 11945 shares of common stock pursuant to the early exercise of stock options which are not

deemed to be issued until those shares vest As of December 31 2008 there were 785 early exercised shares

unvested issued and subject to the Companys right to repurchase at the original issuance price The amounts

received in exchange for these shares have been recorded as liability for early exercise of stock options in the

accompanying balance sheets and will continue to be reclassified into equity as the shares vest

2007 Stock Plan

The Companys 2007 Stock Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options by the board of directors

to employees and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options restricted stock restricted stock units stock
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appreciation rights performance units and performance shares to its employees directors and consultants The

board of directors has the authority to determine the terms of the awards including exercise price the number of

shares subject to each such award the exercisability of the awards and consideration payable upon exercise

Incentive stock options may be granted with exercise prices at least equal to the fair market value of the

Companys common stock on the date of grant The term of an incentive stock option granted under this plan

may not exceed ten years except that with respect to any participant who owns 10% of the voting power of all

classes of the Companys outstanding stock as of the grant date the term must not exceed five years and the

exercise price must equal at least 110% of the fair market value on the date of grant

Upon adoption of the plan the Company reserved 1333333 shares of its common stock for issuance under

the 2007 Stock Plan Any shares returned to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan as result of termination of options or

the repurchase of shares issued under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan are added to the 2007 Stock Plan In

addition the 2007 Stock Plan provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance

thereunder on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the Companys 2008 fiscal year equal to the lesser

of

5% of the outstanding shares of the Companys common stock on the last day of the immediately

preceding fiscal year

1333333 shares or

such other amount as the Companys board of directors may determine

The Companys 2007 Stock Plan also provides for the automatic grant of non-statutory options to the

Companys non-employee directors Each non-employee director that is newly appointed to the board of

directors after the Companys IPO will receive an initial option to purchase 13333 shares upon such

appointment Additionally non-employee directors who have been directors for at least twelve months will

receive subsequent option to purchase 5000 shares immediately following each annual meeting of the

Companys stockholders

On January 15 2009 the board of directors approved options to purchase total of 256892 shares of the

Companys common stock to the Companys executive officers These stock options were granted to officers in

lieu of full cash payment for their performance under the Companys 2008 bonus plan and were immediately

exercisable as of the date of grant Also on January 15 2009 the board of directors approved options to purchase

220000 shares of the Companys common stock to the Companys executive officers These options are

exercisable over four years with vesting acceleration features based on attainment of certain corporate

milestones On February 13 2009 the board of directors approved options to purchase total of 170250 shares

of the Companys common stock to certain of its employees The options are also exercisable over four years

with vesting acceleration features based on attainment of certain corporate milestones

2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the Companys 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the Purchase Plan eligible employees can

participate and purchase common stock semi-annually through accumulated payroll deductions The Purchase

Plan is administered by the Companys board of directors or committee appointed by the Companys board of

directors Under the Purchase Plan eligible employees may purchase stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market

value of share of Common Stock on the offering date or the exercise date The Purchase Plan provides for

consecutive overlapping twelve-month offering periods generally starting on the first trading day on or after

May 15 and November 15 of each year There are two 6-month purchase periods in each offering period Eligible
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employees may contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation which includes participants straight time

gross earnings commissions overtime and shift premium exclusive of payments for incentive compensation

bonuses and other compensation participant may purchase maximum of 1333 shares of common stock per

purchase period If the fair market value of the Companys common stock at the end of purchase period is less

than the fair market value at the beginning of the offering period participants will be withdrawn from the then

current offering period following the purchase of shares on the purchase date and automatically will be

re-enrolled in new offering period

The Purchase Plan was effective upon the completion of the Companys IPO at which time total of

333333 shares of the Companys common stock were made available for sale Annual increases in the number of

shares available for issuance will be made on the first day of each fiscal year beginning with the Companys
2008 fiscal year The annual increases will be equal to the lesser of 2% of the outstanding shares of the

Companys common stock on the first day of the fiscal year 533333 shares or such other amount as may
be determined by the board of directors In the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 51217 and 15367

shares respectively were issued and 608731 shares were reserved for future issuance under the Purchase Plan as

of December 31 2008
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The following table summarizes stock option activity under both the 2000 Stock Incentive and 2007 Stock

plans

Options Outstanding

Shares Available Weighted-Average
for Grant Number of Shares Exercise Price

Balance at inception May 28 1998
Shares authorized 109333

Options granted 38661 38661 $0.90

Options canceled 333 333 $0.90

Balance at December 31 2000 71005 38328 $0.90

Options granted 32770 32770 $0.90

Options canceled 4998 4998 $0.90

Balance at December 31 2001 43233 66100 $0.90

Shares authorized 80000

Options granted 115392 115392 $1.20

Options exercised 4162 $1.00

Options canceled 12118 12118 $1.05

BalanceatDecember3l2002 19959 165212 $1.10

Shares authorized 133334

Options granted 114930 114930 $1.35

Options exercised 3249 $1.20

Options canceled 2199 2199 $1.20

Balance at December 31 2003 40562 274694 $1.20

Shares authorized 433333

Options granted 378812 378812 $2.85

Options exercised 5083 $1.06

Options canceled 105046 105046 $2.70

Balance at December 31 2004 200129 543377 $2.06

Shares authorized 158333

Options granted 214820 214820 $2.25

Options exercised 18599 $1.28

Options canceled 84728 84728 $2.33

Balance at December 31 2005 228370 654870 $2.11

Shares authorized 166667

Options granted 285186 285186 $3.82

Options exercised 67244 $1.45

Options canceled 55578 55578 $2.65

Balance at December 31 2006 165429 817234 $2.72

Shares authorized 1333333

Options granted 526407 526407 $9.06

Options exercised 161193 $1.73

Options canceled 47283 47283 $5.83

Balance at December 31 2007 1019638 1135165 $5.69

Additional shares authorized 854954

Options granted 486750 486750 $4.37

Options exercised 38210 $2.39

Options canceled 190360 190360 $5.79

Balance at December 31 2008 1578202 1393345 $5.31
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense under SFAS No 123R

On January 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payment SFAS
No 123R establishes accounting for stock-based awards made to employees and directors Accordingly stock-

based compensation expense is measured at grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as

expense over the remaining requisite service period Total stock-based compensation accounted for under SFAS
No 123R of $1490000 $1462000 and $315000 was recorded during the years ended December 31 2008
2007 and 2006 respectively

The fair value for the Companys employee stock options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black

Scholes valuation model with the following average assumptions

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Expected volatility 70% 72% 77%

Expected term years 6.0 6.0 6.0

Risk-free interest rate 3.0% 4.2% 4.7%

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The Companys computation of expected volatility for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006
respectively is based on an average of the historical volatility of

peer-group of similar companies The

Companys computation of expected term in the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

utilizes the simplified method in accordance with SAB No 107 as further extended by SAB No 110 The risk-

free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in

effect at the time of
grant The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for the fair values of

these awards on straight-line basis over the requisite service period of each of these awards Stock

compensation expense relating to options with acceleration of vesting dependent upon the achievement of

milestones is recognized over period which is the shorter of the Companys evaluation of the probability of

achievement of each respective milestone and the related estimated date of achievement or the otherwise

stated time-based vesting period

The following table represents stock option activity for the year ended December 31 2008

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Aggregate

Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

Shares Price Contract Life Value

Outstanding options at beginning of period 1135165 $5.69

Granted 486750 4.37

Exercised 38210 2.39

Forfeited 166557 5.80

Expired 23803 5.68

Outstanding options at end of period 1393545 $5.31 7.48

Optionsexpectedtovestatendofperiod 1335908 $5.31 7.32

Exercisable options at end of period 767048 $5.19 641
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The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 was $2.81 $6.96 and $5.02 per share respectively Less than $1000 of intrinsic value for

stock options outstanding or exercisable existed at December 31 2008 Total intrinsic value of options exercised

for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $45000 $157000 and $42000 respectively Cash

received from stock option exercises and employee stock purchases under its employee stock purchase plan for

the year ended December 31 2008 was approximately $180000 Because of the Companys net operating losses

the Company did not realize any tax benefits for the tax deductions from share-based payment arrangements

during the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 As of December 31 2008 the total compensation cost

related to stock-based awards granted under SFAS No 23R to employees and directors but not yet amortized

was approximately $2471000 million net of estimated forfeitures These costs adjusted for changes in

estimated forfeiture rates from time to time will be amortized over the next five years

The Company accounts for its Purchase Plan as compensatory plan and recorded compensation expense of

approximately $118000 and $74000 for the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively The

Company accounts for the Purchase Plan in accordance with SFAS 123R and FASB Technical Bulletin

No 97-1 Accounting under Statement 123 for Certain Employee Stock Purchase Plans with Look-Back

Option The estimated fair value of shares granted under the Purchase Plan was determined at the date of grant

using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions

Year

Ended December 31

2008 2007

Expected dividend yield
0% 0%

Expected volatility
44 83% 44 68%

Expected life in years 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0

Risk-free interest rate 0.8 5.0% 3.6 5.0%

Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In May 2007 the Company completed its IPO as result of which all of the existing shares of the

Companys preferred stock were converted to common stock At the time of the completion of the IPO the

Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 33600 shares of its Series preferred stock 20000 shares of its

Series preferred stock and 840000 shares of its Series C2 preferred stock Upon closing of the Companys

IPO warrants to purchase 893600 shares of the Companys preferred stock converted to warrants to purchase

59573 shares of the Companys common stock Of these warrants to purchase 59573 shares of the Companys

stock warrants to purchase 56000 shares of the Companys common stock automatically exercise in the event of

an acquisition of the Company The Company performed final remeasurement to determine the fair value of

such financial instruments immediately prior to the conversion The resulting fair value of $426000 was

reclassified to additional paid-in capital during the year
ended December 31 2007

In connection with the private placement of common stock in December 2007 and January 2008 the

Company issued the investors warrants to purchase 1206273 share of common stock at $8034 per share The

warrants became exercisable immediately upon issuance and expire five years from issuance The fair value of

the warrants to purchase 1091622 shares of common stock issued in conjunction with the first closing of the

private placement in December 2007 was approximately $3411000 and was determined using the Black-Scholes

method with the following assumptions expected volatility of 67% dividend yield of 0% risk-free interest

rate of 3.52% and an expected life of five years The fair value of the warrants to purchase 114651 shares of

common stock issued in conjunction with the second closing of the private placement in January 2008 was
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approximately $420000 and was determined using the Black-Scholes method with the following assumptions

expected volatility of 67% dividend yield of 0% risk-free interest rate of 3.26% and an expected life of five

years The fair value of the warrants issued was allocated from the proceeds of the financing

Restricted Stock Purchases

In 2000 prior to its adoption of the 2000 Plan the Company issued 400000 shares of its common stock to

founders and employees of the Company under restricted stock purchase agreements of which 196000 shares

were for cash and 204000 shares were in exchange for promissory notes Under the terms of the restricted stock

purchase agreements shares purchased generally vested over three-year period Upon termination of

employment or services unvested shares were subject to repurchase by the Company at the original issuance

price As of December 31 2007 all shares had vested and were no longer subject to repurchase The promissory

notes bore interest at rate of 6.1 and were repayable in four equal installments at the end of each year after the

date of notes or within 30 days following termination of employment The amount payable to the Company
relating to these notes was $126000 at December 31 2006 Due to the extension of the repayment of these notes

as authorized by the Companys Board of Directors in accordance with EITF No 00-23 Issues Related to

Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No 25 and FASB Interpretation No 44 these notes

were treated as non-recourse in nature and were subject to variable accounting The shares of common stock

relating to the note receivables amounts outstanding were not deemed to be issued until the promissory notes

were repaid and therefore are excluded from the shares of common stock outstanding at each balance sheet date

and the net loss per share computation for each respective period Stock compensation expense relating to

variable accounting for these promissory notes was $1617000 and $2217000 for the year ended December 31
2006 and for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008 respectively There was no

compensation expense recorded in the years ended December 31 2007 or 2008 relating to variable accounting

for these promissory notes In January 2007 the Companys board of directors forgave notes receivable of

$175000 including accrued interest from current and certain former officers of the Company and as result no

future stock compensation expense relating to variable accounting for these promissory notes will be recorded

Notes Receivable from Stockholders

In April 2002 February 2003 April 2003 and March 2004 96662 2000 83333 and 6666 shares of

common stock respectively were issued to employees of the Company upon exercise of stock options in

exchange for non-recourse promissory notes These notes bore interest at rate of 6.0%6 1% compounded

semi-annually were repayable in five equal installments at the end of each year after the date of notes or within

30 days following termination of employment The underlying shares generally vested over four-year period

Unvested shares which amounted to 278 at December 31 2007 were subject to repurchase by the Company at

the original issue price however there are no unvested shares at December 31 2008 and consequently no shares

subject to repurchase by the Company As the interest rate on each note is not deemed to represent market rate

at the time the option shares vest in accordance with EITF No 00-23 each award was subject to variable

accounting until the award was vested or forfeited The shares of common stock relating to the note receivables

amounts outstanding were not deemed to be issued until the promissory note was repaid and therefore are

excluded from the shares of common stock outstanding at each balance sheet date and the earnings per share

computation for each respective period Shares excluded total 130884 as of December 31 2006 No shares were

excluded as of December 31 2007 as result of the forgiveness of these promissory notes by the Companys
board of directors As result of the forgiveness of these promissory notes the Company recorded $204000 in

compensation cost in the year ended December 31 2007 Shares of common stock issued upon payment of note

receivable was 43331 shares during the year ended 2006 Stock compensation expense relating to variable
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accounting for these promissory notes which excludes the compensation cost in association with the forgiveness

of such notes was less than $1000 $6000 and $1587000 for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 respectively and $2231000 for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008

Rescission of Stock Option Exercises

During 2004 the Company allowed the rescission of two stock option exercises by an executive and

director for total of 23333 shares of common stock In accordance with EITF No 00-23 and EITF Topic D-93

the rescissions of the exercises were treated as though each award was regranted on the respective dates of the

rescissions and thus the awards were subject to variable accounting Additional stock compensation associated

with the rescission based on EITF Topic D-93 was not material Stock compensation expense relating to variable

accounting for these options was 139000 and $245000 for the years
ended December 31 2007 and 2006 and

$166000 for the period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2008 No compensation expense was

recorded in 2008 as the stock options subject to variable accounting discussed above were fully vested by

December 31 2007

10 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Preferred Stock Warrant Liability

The carrying value of the Companys Series Series Series and Series C2 preferred stock was

increased by periodic accretion using the effective interest method so that the carrying amount would equal the

redemption value at the redemption date Upon completion of the Companys IPO in May 2007 all of the

existing shares of the Companys preferred stock were converted to 8722013 shares of common stock and

therefore all periodic accretion ceased immediately prior to the IPO The Company recorded $4626000

$11293000 and $38872000 relating to accretion for the years ended December 31 2007 2006 and for the

period from May 28 1998 inception to December 31 2007 respectively

In connection with the Companys Series C2 preferred stock financing warrants to purchase 13444450

shares of Series C2 preferred stock at purchase price of $0.75 per
share were issued to investors The initial fair

value of these warrants of $3070000 was recognized as liability and allocated from the proceeds of the

preferred stock financing thus reducing the carrying value of the preferred stock In January and February 2007

these warrants were exercised resulting in aggregate net cash proceeds of approximately $10083000 As

result of this transaction the Company recognized approximately $59000 as other income related to the change

in fair value of the warrant liability on the date of the transaction and reclassified approximately $6763000 from

preferred stock warrant liability to preferred stock

The Company has valued its warrants to purchase its preferred stock using the Black-Scholes valuation

method The assumptions used in valuing these warrants are presented in the table below There were no warrants

that were subject to fair value remeasurement after of all the warrants to purchase preferred stock converted to

warrants to purchase common stock as result of the Companys IPO therefore assumptions used in valuing

these warrants are presented only for the periods in which there were periodic remeasurements

Twelve Months

Period from Ended

January 2007 December 31
to May 2007 2006

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility
59 74% 54 77%

Expectedlife
1.66.8 1.87.0

Risk-free interest rate 4.6 4.9% 4.6 5.2%
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For the year ended December 31 2007 the Company recorded approximately $360000 reflected as other

income for the decrease in fair value of all preferred stock warrants and has ceased to record any further periodic
fair value adjustments For the year ended December 31 2006 the Company recorded approximately

$3274000 reflected as other expense for the increase in fair value of all preferred stock warrants

11 Income Taxes

The reconciliation of income tax expense benefit computed at the statutory federal income tax rate of 35%
to amounts included in the statements of operations is as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Tax at federal statutory rate $9112 $l 1185 $10551
Meals entertainment

12

Stock compensation expense 357 477 851

Amortization of warrant cost associated with debt issuances 54 54 27

Warrant revaluation expenses/gain 126 1149

Change in valuation allowance 8693 10772 8512
Total

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effects of net operating loss and tax credit carryovers
and the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and

the amounts used for income tax purposes Significant components of the Companys deferred tax assets are as

follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Accrued expenses and other current assets 362 1393

Net operating loss carryforward 37621 35001

Capitalized research 8650 10504
Research and development and other credits 2002 4372
Basis difference in fixed assets 167 139

Stock options 990 797

Total deferred tax assets 49792 52206
Valuation allowance 49792 52206

Net deferred tax assets

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings if any the timing and amount of which

are uncertain Accordingly the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by valuation allowance The

valuation allowance decreased by $2414000 during 2008 and increased by $12369000 and $11079000 during
2007 and 2006 respectively Our deferred tax assets reflect an estimate of the potential limitation of our

utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards and research and development and other credits

As of December 31 2008 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax

purposes of approximately $96433000 which will begin to expire in the year 2020 and federal research and

development tax credits of approximately $613000 which will begin to expire in the year 2020
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As of December 31 2008 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes

of approximately $67348000 which will begin to expire in the year
2010 and state research and development tax

credits of approximately $3798000 which have no expiration date

Utilization of the net operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to federal and state

ownership limitations The annual limitation could result in the expiration of the net operating losses before

utilization

In June 2006 the FASB issued FIN No 48 which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes

recognized in an enterprises financial statements in accordance with SFAS No 109 This interpretation

prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and

measurement of tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return FIN No 48 also provides guidance

on de-recognition of tax benefits classification on the balance sheet interest and penalties accounting in interim

periods disclosure and transition The Company adopted FIN No 48 effective January 2007 In accordance

with FIN No 48 paragraph 19 the Company has decided to classify interest and penalties as component of tax

expense As result of the implementation of FIN No 48 the Company recorded $2087000 in unrecognized tax

benefits as reduction to deferred tax assets all of which are currently offset by full valuation allowance that

had no effect on the beginning balance of accumulated deficit

The Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $1628000 and $2832000 as of December 31 2008 and

December 31 2007 respectively all of which are offset by full valuation allowance These unrecognized tax

benefits if recognized would not affect the effective tax rate for the periods presented There was no interest or

penalties accrued at the adoption date or for any period presented

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S federal and California state tax jurisdictions
The tax

years 2002 to 2008 remain open to examination by the U.S and California state tax authorities

reconciliation of the change in the unrecognized tax benefit balance from January 2007 to

December 31 2008 is as follows

Federal and

In thousands
State Tax

Balance as of January 2007 2087

Additions for tax positions related to current year
745

Additions for tax positions related to prior years _______

Balance at December 31 2007 2832

Additions for tax positions related to current year
103

Reductions for tax positions related to prior years
1307

Balance at December 31 2008 $1628
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12 Unaudited Quarterly Information

Certain unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 is

presented below

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

In thousands except per share amounts

2008

Net Loss 7990 $6944 $6313 $4788
Net loss attributable to common stockholders 7990 $6944 $6313 $4788
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common

stockholders 0.46 0.40 0.36 0.27

2007

NetLoss 7919 $6957 $9191 $7889
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $11356 $8145 $9191 $7889
Basic and diluted net loss

per share attributable to common
stockholders 17.25 0.99 0.68 0.58
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9AT Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our management evaluated with the participation and under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer

and our Chief Financial Officer the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the

period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K Based on this evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and

our Chief Financial Officer have concluded subject to the limitations described below that our disclosure

controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file

or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded processed summarized and reported within the

time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC rules and forms and that such

information is accumulated and communicated to management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosures

Internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting We maintain system of internal controls that is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 the end of our

last fiscal year Management based its assessment on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Managements

assessment included evaluation of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial

reporting controls process documentation accounting policies and our overall control environment

Based on our assessment management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was

effective as of December 31 2008 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Companys registered public accounting firm

regarding internal control over financial reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation by our

registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only

managements report in this annual report

There have not been any changes in our internal controls over financial reporting as such item is defined in

Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act during our fiscal quarter ended December 31 2008 that

have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial

illlI1IW reporting

The information contained under this caption Internal control over financial reporting shall not be deemed

to be filed with the SEC nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended except to the extent

that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

control system no matter how well conceived and operated can provide only reasonable not absolute

assurance that the objectives of the controls are met Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues if any within company have been

detected Accordingly our controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable not absolute assurance

that the objectives of our control system are met

Item 9B Other Information

On October 2008 we executed an amended exclusive license agreement that amends an exclusive license

agreement originally entered into in November 2000 with the University of California for high-concentration

capsaicin for neuropathic pain Under the terms of the agreement we will be required to pay royalties on net

sales of the licensed product up to maximum of $1000000 per annum as well as percentage of upfront and

milestone payments resulting from sublicense of our rights under the agreement
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required to be disclosed under this Item other than as set forth below is incorporated by

reference from our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders where it appears under the

heading Directors and Executive Officers

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Exchange Act requires our officers and directors and persons who beneficially own

more than ten percent of registered class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in

ownership with the SEC Such officers directors and ten-percent stockholders are also required by SEC rules to

furnish us with copies of all forms that they file pursuant to Section 16a Based solely on our review of the

copies of such forms received by us or written representations from certain reporting persons we believe that

during fiscal 2008 our executive officers directors and ten-percent stockholders complied with all applicable

filing requirements

Code of Ethics

We have adopted Code of Ethics that applies to all directors officers and employees of the Company We

publicize the Code of Ethics through posting the policy on our website http//www.neurogesx.com We will

disclose on our website any waivers of or amendments to our Code of Ethics

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement

referred to in Item 10 above where it appears under the heading Executive Compensation and other Matters

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this Item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and

management is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above where

it appears under the heading Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table summarizes the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans

as of December 31 2008

Number of Weighted Number of

Securities to Average Securities

be Issued Upon Exercise Remaining

Exercise of Price of Available for

Outstanding Outstanding Future Issuance

Options Options Under Equity

Warrants and Warrants Compensation

Plan Category Rights and Rights Plans1

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 1393345 $5.31 2187000

Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders 1265846 $8.18

Total 2659191 $6.68 2187000

The number of authorized shares under the 2007 Stock Plan automatically increases on January of each

year by number of shares equal to the lesser of 1333333 shares ii 5.0% of the outstanding shares on

the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year or iiian amount determined by the Board of
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Directors The number of authorized shares under the 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan automatically

increases on January of each
year by number of shares equal to the lesser of 533333 shares ii 2.0%

of the outstanding shares on such date or iii an amount determined by the Board of Directors

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement

referred to in Item 10 above where it appears under the heading Certain Business
Relationships and Related

Party Transactions

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement

referred to in Item 10 above where it appears under the heading Principal Accountant Fees and Services
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K

Financial Statements included in Part II of this report

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity Deficit

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

NoneAll financial statement schedules are omitted because the information is inapplicable or presented in

the notes to the financial statements

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

3.11 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.21 Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.11 Specimen Common Stock Certificate

4.21 Third Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

certain stockholders dated as of November 14 2005

4.32 Amendment No to the Third Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement by and between

NeurogesX Inc and certain stockholders dated as of December 28 2007

4.41 Warrant to Purchase Series Preferred Stock by and between NeurogesX Inc and Silicon Valley

Bank dated as of December 14 2000

4.51 Warrant to Purchase Series Preferred Stock by and between NeurogesX Inc and Silicon Valley

Bank dated as of May 12002

4.61 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Series C2 Preferred Stock by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Horizon Technology Funding Company II LLC dated as of July 2006

4.71 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Series C2 Preferred Stock by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Horizon Technology Funding Company III LLC dated as of July 2006

4.81 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Series C2 Preferred Stock by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Oxford Finance Corporation dated as of July 2006

4.91 Form of First Warrant to Purchase Series C2 Preferred Stock

4.101 Form of Second Warrant to Purchase Series C2 Preferred Stock

4.112 Registration Rights Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and certain investors dated as of

December 23 2007
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

4.122 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock

10.11 2007 Stock Plan

10.21 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.31 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between NeurogesX Inc and each of its directors

and officers

10.4 Exclusive License Agreement between NeurogesX Inc and The Regents of the University of

California executed as of October 2008

10.51t Clinical Supply Development and License Agreement between NeurogesX Inc and LTS Lohmann

Therapie-Systeme AG dated as of January 15 2004

10.64t Manufacturing and Supply Agreement effective as of August 19 2008 between NeurogesX Inc and

Formosa Laboratories Inc

10.7t Commercial Supply and License Agreement with Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG and NeuorgesX

Inc effective as of January 2007

10.8 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Anthony DiTonno effective as of December 31 2008

10.9 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Stephen Ghiglieri effective as of December 31 2008

10.10 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Keith Bley effective as of December 31 2008

10.11 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Michael Markels effective as of December 31 2008

10.12 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Jeffrey Tobias effective as of December 31 2008

10.13 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Russell Kawahata effective as of December 31 2008

10.14 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and

Susan Rinne effective as of December 31 2008

10.153 Sublease between NeurogesX Inc and Oracle USA Inc dated September 2007

10.162 Securities Purchase Agreement by and between NeurogesX Inc and certain investors dated as of

December 23 2007

21.11 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1 Power of Attorney see page 99

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

32.1 Certifications of the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 18 U.S.C Section 1350
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Incorporated by reference from our registration statement on Form S-i registration number 333-140501

declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2007

Incorporated by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on December 28 2007

Incorporated by reference from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on November 14 2007

Incorporated by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 22 2008

Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit These portions have been omitted

from this filing and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Exhibits

The exhibits listed under Item 14a3 hereof are filed as part of this Form 10-K other than Exhibit 32.1

which shall be deemed furnished

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted because the information is inapplicable or presented in the

notes to the financial statements
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Dated March 26 2009

NEUROGESX INC

By Is ANTHONY DITONNO

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Anthony DiTonno

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each
person whose signature appears below

constitutes and appoints Anthony DiTonno and Stephen Ghiglieri and each of them his true and lawful

attorneys-in-fact each with full power of substitution for him in any and all capacities to sign any amendments

to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same with exhibits thereto and other documents in

connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifying and confirming all that

each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 this
report has been signed below

by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title

Is ANTHONY DITONNO

Anthony DiTonno

Is STEPHEN GHIGLIERI

Stephen Ghiglieri

Is JEAN-JACQUES BIENAIME

Jean-Jacques BienaimØ

Is NEIL KURTZ

Neil Kurtz

Is ROBERT NELSEN

Robert Nelsen

Is BRUCE PEACOCK

Bruce Peacock

President Chief Executive Officer

and Director Principal Executive

Officer

Chief Financial Officer Principal

Financial and Accounting

Executive

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director

March 26 2009

March 26 2009

March 26 2009

March 26 2009

March 26 2009

March 26 2009

Date
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Safe Harbor Statement

The letter to stockholders contains forward-looking statements for purposes of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 the Act NeurogesX
disclaims any intent or obligation to update these forward-looking statements and claims the protection of the Safe Harbor for forward-looking statements
contained in the Act Examples of such statements include but are not limited to the expected timing and outcome of regulatory decisions and the label

approval being sought or that may be obtained with respect to the MAA for Qutenza in the European Union and the NDA for Qutenza with the FDA
including the timing of European Commission approval of the MAA and the PDUFA date for the NDA NeurogesX plans and expected timing with regard
to seeking partnerships for its product candidates including potential commercial partners for Qutenza in the European Union and the United States the

sufficiency of cash resources to fund NeurogesX operations through at least December 31 2009 the ability to secure funding through commercial

partnerships expectations with respect to seeking funding the
potential markets for NeurogesX product candidates and the expected benefits of

NeurogesX product candidates Such statements are based on managements current expectations but actual results may differ materially due to various
risks and uncertainties including but not limited to positive results in clinical trials or the recommendation by the European regulatory authorities for MAA
approval may not be sufficient to obtain FDA or European regulatory approval any regulatory approvals which are received may offer more limited
indications than anticipated unexpected expenses inability to enter into or obtain adequate funding under commercial or other strategic partnerships
NeurogesX product candidates may have unexpected adverse side effects or inadequate therapeutic efficacy physician or patient reluctance to use Qutenza
if approved or the inability of physicians to obtain sufficient reimbursement for such procedures potential alternative therapies maintaining adequate patent
or trade secret protection without violating the intellectual property rights of others and other difficulties or delays in obtaining regulatory approval market

acceptance and commercialization of NeurogesX product candidates and the advantages of NeurogesX product candidates over other pain therapies For
further information regarding these and other risks related to NeurogesX business investors should consult NeurogesX filings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission




